Public Document Pack

Wirral Children’s Trust

Children’s Trust Board
Agenda

Friday, 18 March 2011 commencing at 9.00 am
Professional Excellence Centre, Acre Lane, Bromborough
1.

09:00 INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES

2.

09:00 DECLARATION OF INTEREST

3.

09:05 MINUTES OF LAST MEETING (Pages 1 - 10)

4.

09:15 HOUSING OPTIONS FOR YOUNG PEOPLE

5.

09:30 THE ANNOUNCED INSPECTION OF SAFEGUARDING AND
LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN

6.

09:45 THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PLAN. REVIEW OF
2010/11 AND NEW PLAN FOR 2011/12 (Pages 11 - 128)

7.

10:00 LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL
REPORT (Pages 129 - 198)
10:30 Break

8.

10:45 COMMISSIONING AND EARLY INTERVENTION GRANT

9.

11:00 BEING HEALTHY ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 199 - 208)

10.

11:00 A NEW SCHOOL SURVEY "HELP" (Pages 209 - 210)

11.

11:40 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 2010/11 QUARTER 3
(Pages 211 - 218)

12.

11:50 LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT 2010/11 QUARTER 3 (Pages
219 - 228)

13.

11:55 ANY OTHER BUSINESS (Pages 229 - 234)

Date and time of next meeting: 20 May 2001, 09:00 - 12:00

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 18TH JANUARY 2011
MINUTES

Present:

Councillor S Clarke;
Councillor C Meaden;
Councillor T Harney;
D Armstrong;
J Owens;
D Mayor;
P Brandrick;
F Johnstone;
E Dodd;
S Brown;
K Podmore;
G Billinge;
L Loughran;
J Martin;
B Morgan;
P Higgins (representing A Hughes)
S Appleton (representing G Thomas)
B Baker and I Batman (representing A Styring

In Attendance
N Clarkson;
Vicki Palmer (Councillor Clarke shadowing project)
P Wong;
A Tattersall.

(1)

Apologies
S Roohi;
R Longster;
G Thomas (Stephanie Appleton attending)
A Hughes (Pat Higgins attending);
A Styring (B Baker; I Batman);
P Sheridan.

(2)

Declarations of Interest
Councillor Meaden’s daughter works for Children’s Services.

(3)

Minutes of the Last Meeting
Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting held on 22nd November 2010 be
confirmed as a correct record.

Page 1

(4)

Children’s Trust Commissioning Annual Report
P Wong introduced the Annual report.
In March 2010 the Children’s Trust Board reflected on its commissioning role and agreed
a range of recommendations to progress joint commissioning. There have been a
number of organisational changes as a result of a change in government which has
impacted on commissioning. However some of the new initiatives such as the
commissioning Green Paper and localism complement the direction Wirral Children’s
Trust’s is taking regarding commissioning.
In 2010-11 a number of programmes were commissioned individually however inter
connectivity between different commissioning programmes does exist. The introduction
of a new Early Intervention Grant (EIG) in 2011-12 replacing a number of ring fenced
programmes should enhance the approach of the Trust.
P Wong outlined for each of the main commissioned programmes the key information
regarding each programme including the highlights and the challenges for the future.
These programmes are:
• 0-19 Parenting and Prevention
• Aiming High for Disabled Children
• Social Care/Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB)
• Sure Start
• Positive Activities for Young People
• Children and Young People’s Health Services
The challenges:
• Meeting increasing demand within the context of reduced public sector resources.
• Exploring joint commissioning.
• Providing a satisfactory mix of targeted and universal services.
• The impact of Localism and ‘Big Society’ on commissioning.
• GP commissioning.
Although these are challenges they can be used as opportunities to promote and
facilitate joint commissioning.
The areas for development in 2011-12 were outlined. This work would be developed
through a new Joint Commissioning Group (JCG) which will drive the change.
• To develop the Children and Young People’s Plan into a commissioning plan.
• To use the commissioning of the EIG to discuss and implement new commissioning
practices and disciplines as a pilot for other areas of commissioning.
• To ensure alignment with local changes in commissioning, in particular GP
commissioning and any Council commissioning developments.
• To fully explore how “in house” council services are commissioned and move towards
all activity being strategically commissioned in the same way.

Page 2

Councillor T Harney asked what the mechanism was in place for ensuring vulnerable
families did not get missed.
P Wong reported that the commissioning cycle would include a regularly updated needs
assessment. In addition reviewing what delivers the best outcomes and comparing this to
local need and ensuring the discipline of gaps analysis is would also be embedded into
the cycle.
D Mayor noted the critical importance of partnership working and sharing information
across agencies.
J Owens also noted that VCF organizations can enhance this as they understand the
nature of their community. B Morgan noted that based on a recent regional event Wirral
are well ahead with VCF sector involvement in commissioning compared to many
authorities.
DA noted that positive steps were being made by setting up the multi-agency new Joint
Commissioning Group (JCG) reporting to the Children’s Trust Executive. This group will
establish clear priorities based on need and drive the development of commissioning.

(5)

The Health White Paper
F Johnstone introduced ‘Healthy Lives, Healthy People White Paper: Our strategy for
public health in England’ released in November 2010. The consultation closes on the 31
March 2011.
The national health picture was introduced. The life expectancy gap between poorer and
richer areas is 11 years on Wirral compared to 7 years nationally.
The new approach outlined in the paper is for health to be owned by communities and
shaped by their needs. The approach was described as rigorous evidence based,
efficient and effective and will focus on improving the health of the poorest fastest.
The paper has seven key strands, six of which reflect the Marmot recommendations.
• Empowering local government and communities
• Tackling health inequalities
• Coherent approach to different stages of life
• Giving every child the best start in life
• Making it pay to work
• Designing communities for active aging and sustainability
• Working collaboratively with business and voluntary sector – the Public Health
Responsibility Deal
Public Health England will be the new national public health service which will be
returned to Local Government. There will be dedicated leadership and dedicated
resources nationally and locally. The Director of Public Health will be jointly appointed by
the Local Authority and Public Health England.

Page 3

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy will
be the responsibility of the Local Authority. Wirral Children’s Trust Board would want to
consider the new arrangements for the Health and Well Being Board and strategy.
It is proposed that Local Authorities will be responsible for commissioning a range of
services. The NHS commissioning board would be responsible for children’s public
health for the under 5’s, over time this may be delegated to local areas, the proposed
route is currently unclear.
The Local area will determine actions and a framework by which to deliver them.
• Domain 1 - Health Protection and Resilience: Protecting the population’s health from
major emergencies and remain resilient to harm
• Domain 2 - Tackling the wider determinants of health: Tackling factors which affect
health and wellbeing and health inequalities
• Domain 3 - Health Improvement: Helping people to live healthy lifestyles, make healthy
choices and reduce health inequalities
• Domain 4 - Prevention of ill health: Reducing the number of people living with
preventable ill health and reduce health inequalities
• Domain 5 - Healthy life expectancy and preventable mortality: Preventing people from
dying prematurely and reduce health inequalities
The timetable for the proposed changes was outlined.
Summary timetable
(subject to Parliamentary approval of legislation)
Consultation on:
•
specific questions set out in the White Paper;
•
the public health outcomes framework; and
•
the funding and commissioning of public health.
Set up a shadow-form Public Health England within the Department
of Health Start to set up working arrangements with local
authorities, including the matching of PCT Directors of Public
Health to local authority areas
Develop the public health professional workforce strategy
Public Health England will take on full responsibilities, including the
functions of the HPA and the NTA. Publish shadow public health
ring-fenced allocations to local authorities
Grant ring-fenced allocations to local authorities

Date
Dec 2010–
March 2011

During 2011
Autumn 2011
April 2012
April 2013

Councillor T Harney noted that the criteria to access housing in certain areas is poor
health which would impact on the Wirral life expectancy statistics.
Councillor Harney asked where controls over the manufacture and sale of high sugar
foods would reside.
F Johnstone noted that Task Forces had been set up nationally to look at food and drink,
these involved manufacturers who are being asked to assess their products.

Page 4

S Brown requested that when the Health and Well Being Board was set up youth justice
organisations would be involved. Studies indicate people in custody have lower health
and there are implications for their families. Offender health should be included in the
JSNA.
P Higgins noted that as provider the transition over the next 2 years was important to
ensure excellent provision is maintained. F Johnstone fully agreed and that services
must be maintained whilst restructuring is carried out. P Higgins noted the importance of
good service specifications.
D Armstrong noted the importance of continuity of service. He noted that as funding may
tighten the importance of the Children’s Trust Board and working together would
increase.
J Billinge noted that schools have realised more success is gained through dealing with
families often who have children at different age groups.
The board discussed producing a response to the consultation which F Johnstone agreed
to lead on. Responses from Board members can be sent to N Clarkson to co-ordinate.
Resolved: Wirral Children’s Trust Board agreed to produce a response to the
consultation.

(6)

GP Commissioned Services – Wirral developments and impact on Children and
Young People’s Services
D Mayor and F Johnstone outlined the report. Three GP Consortia have been defined for
Wirral. They are not aligned to any current geographic areas. All consortia have been
approved as pathfinders - early adoptions from April 2011.
The consortia were named as:
• Wirral GP Consortia (~130,000 people), mainly in Birkenhead.
• Wirral Health Commissioning Consortium (~130,000 people), Wallasey and Bebington
and West Wirral.
• Wirral Health Alliance (~31,000 people), GPs across the borough.
They are at various stages of initial development and are in the process of identifying
named leads for key roles within their own executives.
D Mayor and F Johnstone have asked if named leads for Children and young people
would be named but are awaiting clarification on this. They suggested that it was
important to maintain a high profile for CYP in the consortia developments
Councillor S Clarke asked if it was currently appropriate for Wirral Children’s Trust Board
to engage with consortia leads to discuss their approaches to children and young peoples
services and who their who their CYP leads are.
F Johnstone replied it was currently very early days of forming internal relationships and
that each consortia taking different approaches. The role of NHS is to advise on

Page 5

developments and NHS CYP commissioners are involved in this. The Board would be
updated when further information was available.
D Mayor commented that the PCTs will continue with statutory responsibilities until 2013
although arrangements will change, with a wider geographic area.
Councillor S Clarke thanked Debbie and Fiona for their contribution.
Resolved: The Board noted the report.
(7)

Early Intervention Grant and Commissioning
M McDaid presented the report.
Wirral is in a good position through joint working to respond to the introduction of the
Early Intervention Grant (EIG). EIG replaces a number of ring fenced grants; it covers
Children’s Centres, 2 year old free allocations, short breaks for disabled children,
targeted support for vulnerable young people, targeted mental health in schools, targeted
support for families with multiple problems. EIG provides an opportunity to reduce
duplication caused by previous ring-fencing and legislation.
Priorities have been identified based on comprehensive needs analysis from Common
Assessment Framework and Youth Offending Service information and other
consultations. Commissioning needs analysis has outlined three themes:
• Parenting and compromised parenting (Sure Start)
• Children with disabilities
• Behaviour in CYP and families
The Council agreed to a roll over of the current grants for 3 months to allow appropriate
commissioning time. Work is ongoing now to ensure the appropriate processes are in
place. A report on the proposals has been prepared to go to Council Cabinet.
There are options for the commissioning period.
1. Commission for 12 months initially. This allows ensuring services commissioned
directly on to priorities.
2. Commission for 21 months. This is a risk that such arrangements would not fully
match priorities and do not provide any flexibility to change.
Option 1 is the recommendation from the Children’s Trust Executive.
Councillor S Clarke noted the excellent needs analysis produced with the report.
B Morgan agreed with option one to ensure the right services are commissioned.
F Johnstone was impressed with the level of needs assessment, and wanted to ensure
that the impact of the intervention would be effectively measured.

Page 6

M McDaid responded saying that impact of previous commissioning has been fully
demonstrated. This will be used to articulate the outcomes required during the
commissioning process.
The EIG nationally currently proposed is £15.1 million. Some elements of this will be
required for specific programmes. Council Cabinet will define the money available in the
budget setting process.
S Brown noted that increasing competition was a good approach.
M McDaid responded that the marketing would be clearly developed to communicate with
all organisations.
Resolved:
1. The board approved the priorities as outlined in section 4.4.
2. The board approved the time line.
3. The Board agreed option 1.
4. The board agreed that the Children’s Trust Executive oversee and agree the
service specification and be accountable for the time line.

(8)

The announced inspection of safeguarding and looked after children
J Hassall introduced the presentation.
On 10th January Wirral was informed that an announced inspection would commence on
24th January for 2 weeks.
This is a very important inspection for the whole partnership. A number of activities are
underway:
• Ofsted have requested a large amount of information.
• A survey for LAC aged 8 plus is being initiated.
• 12 cases have been identified. Ofsted have requested a Wirral multi agency audit of
these cases before they audit them from Monday 24th.
• Ofsted will select another 12 cases for Children in Need on Monday for further work.
• Ofsted have identified Key Lines of Enquiry. DA noted that the whole partnership.
attended a very positive meeting yesterday where expectations of all partners were
outlined.
• The inspections will want to meet with focus groups. All Wirral Children’s Trust will be
involved.
• There will be additional meetings this week on the 12 case files which partners will be
invited to.
The inspection focuses on a number of areas:
Safeguarding
•

How well agencies and professionals work together to identify, support and promote
welfare of vulnerable children

Page 7

How well is practice supported and underpinned by effective local policy making and
implementation.
• Outcomes for children.
• How safeguarding is prioritised.
•

Looked after Children
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Outcomes achieved and impact of services.
Quality of risk management and decision making.
Quality of care planning, review and support in care and care leavers.
Placement stability.
Safeguarding of LAC.
Access to health and school, training and accommodation.
Support to families and carers.
Effectiveness of corporate parenting.
Preparation for leaving care and adult life.

The Quality of the Provision would also be investigated.
The focus for all key partners is a child centred approach to ensure that those best
outcomes for the children, young people and families are delivered.
J Owens noted that governors have an effective track record of safeguarding and this
could be evidenced to the inspectors.
The importance of the Children’s Trust and operational management to support the front
line social workers to provide effective outcomes will be demonstrated in the inspection. If
board members are asked to represent the Children’s Trust a briefing will be provided.
Councillor Sheila Clarke noted that there is a really good tale to tell of all the positive
work in Wirral.
Resolved: The Board noted the report.

(9)

Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-12 Update
N Clarkson outlined progress so far in the review of the final year of the 2008-11 plan and
the new plan for 2011-12. Consultation had been carried out and all organisations
working with children and young people were involved in the development of the new
plan through outcome area Strategy Groups. The Children’s Trust Executive was
overseeing the development of the plan.
F Johnstone commented on the importance of reference to organisational changes being
incorporated in the plan.
N Clarkson responded that these were included in the plan.
Resolved: The Board agreed the process outlined and the proposals for the CYPP
priorities.

Page 8

(10)

Annual Children’s Services Assessment 2010
N Clarkson presented the report. Wirral Children’s Services was assessed by Ofsted in
2010 and the assessment was published on the 9th of December 2010. Wirral Children’s
Services was found to ‘perform well’, rated at 3 out of a possible 4 point scale.
The key areas for further development were defined by Ofsted:
• Improve early years and childcare settings so that more are good or better.
• Improve further the achievement of 16-year-olds from low-income families.
• Improve the local arrangements for adoption.
These areas are being addressed through actions in the Children and Young People’s
Plan (CYPP) and will be embedded in the refresh of the CYPP for 2011-12. They will also
be addressed through the delivery of the Council’s Strategic Objectives. A range of
current activities and projects underway related to each area were outlined.
It was noted that the result of the announced inspection (and the unannounced
inspection) would impact on the CSA grading and the grading could be amended by
Ofsted retrospectively.
Resolved: The Board noted the report.

(11)

Any other business
The Children’s Trust Board extended congratulations to Howard Cooper on receiving a
CBE in the New Year’s Honours list.
Child Poverty
B Morgan and Cllr S Clarke are members of the LCR Poverty and Life Chances
Commission. Wirral has comprehensive representation. The commission has identified a
number of key strands; B Morgan is the lead for the Emotional and Social strand.
Schools involvement in Wirral Children’s Trust
D Armstrong reported he had written to all schools regarding their commitment to cooperate with the Trust. No school has contacted him to state they would not be involved
and 5 schools have re-stated the importance they attached to the Children’s Trust.
J Owens noted that she would produce a report on the Children’s Trust for the Wirral
governor.

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10

Agenda Item 6
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 18th MARCH 2011
THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S PLAN: REVIEW OF 2010-11 AND THE NEW
PLAN FOR 2011-2012

1.

Background

1.1

The Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) is a overarching strategic plan
developed by Wirral Children’s Trust for all organisations providing services for the
children and young people of Wirral. The CYPP is reviewed annually.

1.2

In April 2008 Wirral published its three year CYPP 2008-2011. The plan covered all
the services for children and young people in the Borough and brings together all the
strategic and operational plans to improve their lives and enable them to achieve their
potential. This plan ends on the 31st March 2011 and a review of the final year of the
plan has been carried out. In addition a new plan has been produced for 2011-12.

1.3

The CYPP annual review and production of the new plan was carried out by multiagency strategic groups linked to the five Every Child Matters Outcomes. The groups
consist of representatives from all agencies working with children and young people in
Wirral. The priorities were informed through needs analysis including consultation with
a range of children and young people.

1.4

The progress of the implementation of the new CYPP will be monitored by Wirral
Children’s Trust Executive and the activities will be actioned by the strategy groups.

2.

Background Papers
Children and Young People’s Plan 2008-2011. 2010-11 Annual Report
Wirral Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-12

3. Recommendations
1) That the Board endorse the Children and Young People’s Plan 2008-2011. 2010-11
Annual Report.
2) That the Board endorse the new Wirral Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-12.

Report Author:
Nancy Clarkson
Head of Planning and Performance
nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12

Page 13

DRAFT 3 MARCH 2011

2010 -11 annual report

wirral children and young people’s plan 2008 - 2011

Page 14

25
36
42

Enjoy and Achieving

Positive Contribution

Social and Economic Well Being
48

15

Staying Safe

Outcome Framework Performance Indicator Information

5

3

Annual review of progress against priorities 2010-11

Being Healthy

2

Introduction

contents

Page 15

We have now written a new plan for 2011-12 in which we outline our new priorities and the future work that will be carried out to deliver these. This
new plan is published alongside this review and can be accessed from Wirral Council Children’s Trust Webpage.

This is the review of the final year of our 2001-11 plan and reports what has been achieved to improve outcomes for children, young people and
families on Wirral and how we have delivered our identified priorities in 2010-11.

We have been working hard to make progress in delivering our projects and achieving the targets we set out in our plan and to deliver continuous
improvement for our children, young people and families. Each year we have reviewed our progress and produced a comprehensive annual review
whilst refreshing our priorities to ensure they remained relevant to the needs of children, young people and families in Wirral.

In 2008 Wirral Children’s Trust produced our three year 2008-11 Children and Young Peoples Plan. It covered all the services provided for children
and young people of Wirral and brought together all the plans that organisations working with children, young people and families have to improve
their lives and enable them to achieve their potential.

introduction

2

Page 16

3

Staying Safe
• In March 2011 Wirral was graded ‘good’ for both safeguarding and looked after children services by Ofsted in their announced inspection. In the
inspection Wirral’s partnership working, ambition and prioritisation, leadership and management and the contribution of health agencies to keeping
children safe was judged ‘outstanding’.
• The Ofsted unannounced inspection of front-line child protection services in July 2010 found much strong practice and no areas requiring urgent
action.
• Partnership working in safeguarding has been strengthened through investment in the Local Safeguarding Children Board.
• More children are safe through improvements in learning the lesions from Serious Case Reviews and critical incidents.
• Children’s Social Care services have been restructured improving capacity in front line social work services.
• More children are receiving effective support through the Team Around the Child approach resulting from training, new integrated working
guidance and auditing practice.
• More vulnerable families are receiving support in their communities through Children’s Centres.
• Preventative initiatives such as multi-systemic therapy have been effective in diverting young people from custody.
• More children with a disability are receiving improved short break provision.
• Thresholds and management of these at the front line (Central Advice and Duty Team, CADT) were considered by Ofsted to be highly effective in
ensuring that all children and families receive a consistent and appropriate level of service.

Being Healthy
• Health Services in Schools are now hosted in 25 secondary schools including a bespoke service in four special schools and the programme has
been extended to include targeted interventions for smoking cessation, mental health and contraception services.
• Our Family Nurse Partnership has been embedded across services for teenage parents and they have successfully recruited a cohort of 98
mothers.
• A project to place Youth Alcohol Workers within the Accident and Emergency ‘out of hours’ Department has proved successful and we have
performed beyond expectations in reducing the number of under 18’s alcohol related hospital admissions.
• The Healthy Child Programme 0 - 5 years was implemented across Wirral.
• The breastfeeding peer support programme has been supporting mothers’ since April 2010 and has exceeded the national average for
breastfeeding prevalence at 6 - 8 weeks for mothers supported through the programme.
• 60% of 5-16 year olds took part in 3 hours of high quality PE and Sport each week organised by schools.
• Through proactive engagement with families we have been successful in preventing unnecessary attendance at Accident and Emergency for
minor ailments through the ‘Choose Well’ campaign.

In the third year and final year of our 2008-11 Children and Young People’s plan (2010-11) much has been achieved to improve the outcomes for
Wirral’s children and young people, with significant improvements in key areas, including:

annual review of progress against priorities 2010-11

Page 17

Social and Economic Well Being
• The successful delivery of the ‘Wirral Apprentice’ programme which received national recognition.
• The redesign of the local offer for learners with Learning Difficulties and Disabilities (LDD) supported by the Wirral brokerage project.
• The delivery of the September Guarantee for 16 and 17 year olds in Wirral.
• Continuing year on year reductions in the number of young people not in education, employment or training despite the global recession.

4

Positive Contribution
• There has been excellent progress in reducing anti-social behaviour and first time entrants to the Youth Justice System through the use of a range
of effective preventative initiatives.
• A £373,990 investment supported extensive developments designed by young people in play provision.
• New extended youth provision is provided through re-developed youth hubs.
• The ‘Teen Wirral’ website keeps all young people up to date with activities and advice.
• There are strong successful arrangements to involve children and young people from a range of backgrounds in decision making process and
planning services.
• There is an effective network of school councils including special schools.
• Disabled young people are active in breaking down barriers to their inclusion in learning.
• Aiming High for Disabled Children and Families has been successful in helping young people to develop independent living skills.

Enjoy and Achieve
• Improvements were made in narrowing the gap in Early Years between the lowest achieving 20% of children and their peers.
• At Key Stage 2, attainment in maths showed an increase on last year and is above national average. Attainment in English is above the national
average.
• At Key Stage 4, the results for 5+ A*-C GCSE or equivalent grades including English and maths indicate that they exceeded national averages,
national gains and the targets set.
• All schools are meeting the Extended Schools Full Core Offer.
• Successful implementation of Children’s Centres OFSTED framework following statutory designation.
• The Local Authority‘s Leadership and Management programme has been used nationally as an example of best practice.
• Good performance of Looked After Children at Key Stage 2 and at Key Stage 4 (relative to expected progress based on prior attainment).

Page 18

5

We have continued the range of initiatives to promote children’s emotional well-being in schools and our Targeted Mental Health in Schools (TaMHS)
programme is active in 10 schools across Wirral. In addition, we are working with young people to ensure they have access to the kind of sexual
health and relationship advice they want and have implemented the core offer of our health services in schools programme across twenty five
secondary schools as one measure to reduce teenage conceptions across Wirral. We have also secured further investment to enhance the core offer
through targeted provision of mental health, smoking cessation and contraceptive services. Although current quarterly data reflects a slight increase
in teenage conceptions rates from 40 per 1000 young women in 2008 to 41.3 per 1000 young women in December 2009, significant progress around
teenage pregnancy has been made locally and a steady reduction in rate has been maintained since the 1998 baseline.

Our Young Peoples Substance Misuse commissioning process has put in place an integrated Young Persons Drug & Alcohol Strategy to ensure
more efficient and effective delivery of services and the combined Young Peoples Substance Misuse and Alcohol Plan works towards delivery of
agreed outcomes as part of the Integrated Youth Support Strategy. Wirral has seen a definite downward trend in the number of alcohol related
hospital admissions for under 18’s, from 144.70 (2008/09) to 128.48 (2009/10) per 100,000 admissions for under 18’s; 8.95% above target. The data
for April to September 2010 suggests this trend has been sustained with 117.12 per 100,000 against a target for the year of 124.32 per 100,000
(5.71% above target). Data is sourced from the Hospital Episode Statistics NHS Wirral.

Participation in the National Child Measurement Programme increased from 88.2% to 97% for the 2009/10 measurement programme and the data
suggests that we have maintained the level of obesity in year 6 (20.3% from 20.6%) which can be attributed in part to the success of the Healthy
Schools Programme. However, our obesity levels for reception year have risen from 9.6% to 10.6% and as such we have broadened the remit of the
Healthy Schools Team to encompass early year’s settings to achieve a future reduction or maintenance in this rate. We are committed to achieving a
healthy weight for all children and have strengthened the commitment of partners from across the Children’s Trust through the formation of a
childhood obesity steering group and agreement to a robust achievable action plan. The external evaluation of our children’s weight management
services told us that those children and families who have accessed services had reduced their BMI and increased their levels of activity and many
children reported increasing confidence as a result of the programme (Cordis Bright Ltd, (2010) Exploring the impact of NHS commissioned child
weight management services). However, the evaluation also highlighted low uptake by families to these services, and this has informed our future
commissioning and design of children and young people weight management services.

In 2010/11 100% of Wirral schools had achieved the National Healthy Schools award, 42% completed the enhanced healthy schools annual review
and 10 of those schools began work on an enhancement action plan. We have introduced a ‘Healthier Homes’ quality assurance framework for all
children’s’ residential settings to ensure the health needs of children in care are met. This is being evaluated across three participating homes during
2011.

“We want to improve all children’s health and to narrow the gap in health outcomes experienced by our most disadvantaged children.”

OUTCOME AREA - Being Healthy

Page 19
•

FNP monitored on regular basis through FNP Steering Group, Teenage
Pregnancy Steering Group and Teenage Pregnancy Better Support Group. 103

2. The impact of the action plan in 2010-11 is:

• 25 secondary schools hosting HSIS. Youth worker recruited to HSIS programme
to target young people at risk of substance misuse and performance monitored
through contract compliance.

• Increase availability and access to young people
friendly substance misuse services through Heath
Services in Schools (HSIS).

2. Implement the Teenage Pregnancy Strategic Action
Plan.
• Monitor progress and performance of ‘The Family
Nurse Partnership’ (FNP) across Wirral for

• Programme of group / one-one activities on offer from a range of partner agencies
for this specific cohort. Life Education Centres commissioned to deliver
workshops to Wirral primary school assemblies with the emphasis on targeting
parents. Strategic links to positive futures agenda formed with a range of activities
on offer to clients of young peoples substance misuse services

• Provide a range of brief interventions to divert
young people with less-severe substance misuse
problems away from developing more severe
problems and substance-related harm.

In progress
on track

Completed

In progress
on track

Completed

In progress
on track

• Pathway under review. Steering Group formed and research paper written with
key recommendations on pathway development. A youth worker was recruited
and 73 alcohol screenings and 1888 alcohol interventions were carried out
between April and December 2010.
• Since June 2010 there have been 100 requests for information and/or support
regarding families to the Advanced Social Worker from drug services. 25 families
have been referred to Substance Misuse Family Support Worker. 23 families have
actively engaged with the programme and 28 individual children have been
supported.

In progress
on track

Status

• In Partnership with CYPD training packages developed and rolled out across the
authority to appropriate staff.

1. Activities include:

What we did

• Recruit 2 posts based within the C&YPD to liaise
between adult drug treatment services and Young
Peoples Services to ensure children of drug using
parents are supported in line with key
recommendations within Think Family and “Hidden
Harms”.

• Refresh pathways to reduce the number of Hospital
Admissions, including A&E attendance and improve
links to Young Peoples Services.

1. Implement the Children and Young People’s
Substance Misuse Plan which addresses issues
around drugs and alcohol.
• Develop a package of interventions for families at
risk of substance misuse to improve parenting skills.

Priority: Reduction in the harmful consequences of risk taking behaviour.

What we said we would do

6

The ‘Choose Well’ campaign for children was launched by NHS Wirral and the Paediatric Clinical Network in August 2010 to engage with parents to
promote timely and appropriate management of minor illnesses and injuries preventing unnecessary attendances at unplanned care.

Page 20
•

• Support schools with the implementation of the
revised DCSF guidance for Sex and Relationship
Education (SRE).

What we did

DCSF guidance not published by Coalition Government. Further national
guidance expected 2011.

PSHE not made statutory by new Government. Support for schools with SRE is
ongoing but based on local guidance.

Eight Speakeasy training courses delivered to target groups during 2010/11
involving 56 parents/carers, funded from the NHS Wirral Sexual Health
Programme.

Work streams established with Children’s Centres via the Teenage Pregnancy
Steering Group and Better Support Group. Children’s Centres representation on
the teenage pregnancy strategic groups and further work planned for 2011/12 to
reflect the reconfiguration exercise around Children’s Centres. Teenage
Pregnancy Coordinator ensuring links are established in all projects.

Wirral Brook commissioned to deliver targeted outreach work, monitored within
NHS Wirral Sexual Health Programme. Wirral Brook supported 1229 young men
with 91 looked after children (LAC) attending provision and 24 LAC attending BiteSize Brook sessions between April and December 2010. Health Services in
Schools (HSIS) provision established for Youth Offending Service and LAC forms
a key element of the Teenage Pregnancy Action Plan. Sex and Relationships
training for foster carers and work with residential providers was undertaken.

first time mothers under the age of 19 now recruited to programme.

•

•

•

Health Services in Schools (HSIS) secondary school drop-in clinics offer
Chlamydia testing to all pupils reporting sexual activity. Testing is not
mandatory but school nurses encourage uptake.
Emergency Hormone Contraception (EHC) provision in pharmacies is ongoing but there is inconsistent uptake –this service will be reviewed in
2011/12.
Sexual Health Policy signed off and training up and running.

3. The impact of the plan includes:

•

• Support the preparation for the implementation in
September 2011 of statutory Personal Social Health
and Economic Education (PSHE) in schools.

3. Implement the Sexual Health Plan including increasing
the proportion of eligible young people screened for
Chlamydia.
• Increase accessibility and provision of Chlamydia
screening through implementation of Health
Services in Schools (HSIS) within Schools and
Colleges and across Children’s Centres.
• Increase availability and access to young people
friendly sexual health and contraceptive services
through HSIS and EHC in Pharmacies.
• Formally launch the Sexual Health Policy and
Guidance across Children’s services.

•

•

• Monitor and evaluate targeted support for teenage
parents delivered through Children’s Centres.

• Continue roll out of ‘speakeasy’ training to enable
parents to speak to children about health
relationships.

•

• Targeted outreach sexual health work with
vulnerable at risk groups to include young people
involved in offending and Children in Care and
monitor impact and outcomes.

vulnerable first time teenage parents.

What we said we would do

Completed

In progress
on track

Completed

Deleted

Deleted

Completed

In progress
on track

Completed

Status

7

Page 21

5. Accident Prevention Scheme reviewed and combined with Royal Society for the
Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA) Scheme within Children’s Centres.

4. Kooth – a confidential on-line counselling service demonstrated a 73% increase in
number of young people registered between 2009 and 2010. The contract has been
reviewed, local goals established and monitored through performance reporting to the
steering group.

What we did

To promote and monitor the child weight
management providers (Mind Exercise Nutrition and
Do It (MEND) and Lifestyle and Weight Management
service) to ensure referral targets are met.

Ensure Body Mass Index (BMI) data from childhood
screening programme (aged 2-2½ years) is collated
and used as a measure to inform appropriate
commissioning of services.

Implement Wirral’s Taste for Healthy Food Policy
including specific guidance on public venues and
residential settings.

To provide support for overweight and obese
pregnant women by producing a care pathway,
developing exercise classes and providing healthy

2.

3.

4.

5.

To achieve a reduction in the prevalence of overweight
and obese children through the Implementation of the key
child targets within the Obesity Action Plan and pathway
by:
1. Enhanced delivery of the National Child
Measurement Programme (NCMP) 2009/10. A
coordinated approach with the Active Lifestyles
Project with a minimum of six schools through
engagement with parents and children and continue
to provide feedback to parents.

Completed

4. Policy ratified separately through LA Cabinet and PCT Policy Review Group.
Transfer of Public Health to LA will ensure meaningful implementation of policy.
Specific guidance and advice provided to catering venues as and when requested.

Completed

In progress
milestone
rescheduled

3. Review of Healthy Child Programme 0-5 planned for 2011-12.

5. An action plan in response to the NICE Guidance on Pregnancy and Obesity has
been produced and pregnant women to be included in adult and bariatric care pathway
produced to ensure pregnant women’s need are met through existing service

In progress
on track

Completed

In progress
on track

Completed

Status

2. External evaluation completed on the three child weight management services. Even
though uptake of services by children is low, those that are attending are reducing their
Body Mass Index and reporting having a positive experience. Commissioning of new
services for 2011-12 commenced during 2010.

1. NCMP successfully completed, 97% coverage achieved and data submitted to
Department of Health before the deadline. 28 schools participated in the Active
Lifestyles project 2010/11.

Priority: Encourage and support all children and families to achieve and maintain a healthy weight and lifestyle

5. Monitor accident prevention scheme and develop an
action plan to include actions for each Children’s
Centre aimed at reducing local accidental injury rates.

4. Review contract with Kooth.com and establish local
goals.

What we said we would do

8

Page 22

To implement the Health Promoting Early Years
Programme.

9.

12. Continue to implement Sport England’s Free Swim
programme for under 18’s across Wirral Leisure
Centres.

11. Implement the Active Families Sport England &
Physical Activity Alliance Project for 0 – 17 year olds
and their families.

10. To increase the percentage of pupils aged 5-16 who
take part in 2 hours of high quality PE and sport in
school and a further 3 hours outside school hours –
to be monitored through the School Sport Partnership
Programme.

Ensure the Henry Programme is accessed by all
Children’s Centres and Early Years practitioners.

Deliver Healthy Eating Groups to parents with very
young children through Children’s Centres, together
with advice on choosing healthier lifestyles based on
the ‘Change 4 Life’ programme and link in with the
‘Start 4 Life’ campaign.

7.

8.

To provide a programme of physical activity sessions
for 0-5 year olds in Children’s Centres, e.g. Top Tots,
Active Tots, Fizzy Tots.

6.

eating information.

What we said we would do

12. Free swim now offered during school holidays rather than all year round except to
looked after children and their families who are eligible all year.

11. Junior Invigor8 sessions provided for children who have been through a weight
management programme (ages 5 -17 years). 40 sessions a week of running, buggy
park fitness, cheerleading, teen fitness, adult dance mats, disability i-zone, active kids,
urban dance, Full of Beans, runner beans, teen circuits, teen fitness suite, youth sports
nights, cheer tots and dance tots provided across Wirral.

10. 60% of schools achieved the 3 hour physical activity offer.

9. 26 early year settings have achieved the Early Years Health Promoting status, with
a further 36 committed to it.

8. Health, Exercise, Nutrition for the really young (HENRY) programme pilot delivered
at Pensby Children’s Centre.

7. Change4life workshops, including guidance and good practice from Snackright,
were delivered to 50 early years settings at the bi-annual training and celebration event
and 5 Change4life/ Start4life workshops delivered to parents at early years settings.
Five day events to support children’s centres were hosted in Vale Park, New Brighton
beach and Birkenhead Park, food and nutrition in the early years training delivered to
early years staff, 10 support visits to ensure settings fully engaged in Change4life
identifying areas for future development.

6. Active tot briefing sessions have been delivered to most of the Family Support
Teams and this in turn has resulted in Children’s Centres delivering active play
sessions. 3 sessions of Physical Activity in the Early Years training delivered to 40 staff
members and 5 Change4life workshops, with emphasis on physical activity delivered
to parents and staff.

provision.

What we did

Deleted

Completed

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

In progress
milestone
rescheduled

Completed

Completed

Status

9

Page 23

Implement the Healthy Child Programmes (HCP) Pregnancy 0-5 years and 5-19 years programmes across the Children’s Trust Partnership.

CAMHS in Children’s Centres (CHiCC) to be
reshaped as Parent Infant Mental Health Service
(PIMHS). Commissioning strategy to be completed,
workforce development to be integrated into
Children’s Trust Workforce Development Strategy
and CPD delivered to ensure competency.

1.

2.

2. Future of CHiCC service under review as funding from April 2011 not yet agreed; no
progress made in development of PIMHS service.

1. HCP pregnancy to 5 years commissioned and implemented from April 2010;
monitoring of impacts in place; HCP 5-19 years in development; review of child health
planned for 2011.

17. Action plan identifying joint work has been developed following workshop with the
Healthy Schools team, Healthy Weight lead and Health Promotion Specialist (Infant
nutrition).

17. To develop joint work with Healthy Schools to support
breastfeeding education in schools and settings for
children and young people.

Priority: Implement the Child Health Strategy

In progress
on track

16. Community settings have achieved stage 1 UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative
accreditation which means that there is a breastfeeding policy with a communications
plan in place to ensure it is communicated to staff, pregnant women and new parents.
Mechanisms have been developed to enable the Baby Friendly best practice standards
to be implemented and maintained including staff training, data collection, information
to GPs, breastfeeding assessment tool used and educating all pregnant women about
the benefits and management of breastfeeding.

16. Deliver the breastfeeding strategic action plan to
increase initiation and prevalence of breastfeeding at
6-8 weeks; to include the roll out of one BOAT
integrated antenatal programme in each locality with
additional parent education classes at other venues’
and support Hospital and Community settings to
achieve the UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative.

Deleted

10

In progress
milestone
rescheduled

Completed

Completed

15. Pilot to increase uptake of healthy start vitamins started 1.11.10 amongst eligible
families in target area

15. To continue to promote Healthy Start.

Completed

Completed

Status

14. ‘Breast milk! It’s Amazing’ campaign launched and ongoing promotion for at least
six months. The evaluation carried out in December 2010 showed that since the
campaign was launched in June 2010 there was an increase from 3% to 12% of the
public recalling this campaign.

13. Breastfeeding peer support programme launched and successfully supporting new
mothers with 48% still breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks (Wirral average is 28%).

What we did

14. To deliver a social marketing programme to
encourage the initiation and duration of
breastfeeding.

Implement key targets within the Breastfeeding Action
Plan:
13. To deliver a breastfeeding peer support service for
breastfeeding mothers targeting the most deprived
areas of Wirral.

What we said we would do

Page 24

Baby Lifecheck and Teen Life Check programmes
available and easily accessible to parents and young
people. Baby Lifecheck to be integrated into delivery
of Children’s Centres and HCP 0-5 years; Teen
Lifecheck to be integrated into delivery of HSIS,
PSHEE curriculum and HCP 5-19 years.

Roll out one BOAT in each locality with additional
parent education classes and health promoting early
years to be provided at other early years’ venues.

Implement the Healthy Schools Action Plan arising
from the Self Evaluation Toolkit to ensure that 10% of
schools are engaged in the ‘Enhanced Healthy
Schools Programme’ by 2010 and ensure nutrition
and oral health training is provided to 50% of all
Wirral schools throughout 2009/10.

Conduct regular reviews of young people’s website
(11-19 years) to ensure up to date health information
is provided and key messages are accessed, aligned
and consistent across Children’s Trust partnership.

Improve health services for children with complex
needs and disabilities.

Implement Aiming High for Disabled Children
Strategy.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

What we said we would do

Completed

Completed

7. Design and specification for paediatric therapies under review. Joint Panel in place
for individual commissioning of complex/ high cost/ bespoke packages/ equipment.
Review of children’s community nursing underway with aim of providing 24/7 Service;
24/7 specialist palliative and end of life care at home in place. Children & young
people consulted as part of the Wirral Aiming High for Disabled Children (AHDC)
Strategy. Officers meet with parents’ forum monthly; Parental membership of AHDC
Executive group and commissioning panel.
8. Short breaks available to all children with complex/continuing healthcare needs.
Wheelchairs and equipment provided to meet assessed needs. Special Educational
Needs/ disabilities group meets termly. Key worker arrangements developed, fully
implemented by December 2010. Early support systems developed, fully implemented
from April 2011. During 2010/11 78 individual children attended sessions in children’s
centres for disabled children including 48 children with disabilities and 30 non disabled
siblings, providing opportunities for them to enjoy indoor and outdoor play together.

Completed

5. Due to the change in government we are awaiting further guidance on the revised
Healthy Schools Programme. Currently piloting a "plan, do, review" approach, to
support the enhancement programme in 10 schools and have examples of impact due
to the development of these plans e.g. increased uptake of places on MEND course
which was part of an obesity plan developed in St Johns Infant school. Over 70% of
schools received some form of support/training around nutrition and oral health.

Completed

Completed

4. Teams of midwives, physiotherapists, Health Visitors and Family Support Workers
are delivering antenatal preparation for parenthood groups (BOAT) in Children’s
Centres and other venues in each locality in Wirral and one evening session has been
successfully piloted in the Pensby area.

6. Teen Wirral website launched during 2010 with input from key stakeholders.
Content monitored to ensure accurate and consistent information.

Completed

Status

3. Baby Life Check was promoted to all children’s centre staff and health visiting
teams and demonstrations of accessibility undertaken with a variety of staff groups
utilising laptops. Teen life check promoted across young people services through
temporary employment of two dedicated youth workers.

What we did

11

Page 25

What we did

3. Implement actions to reduce inequalities in the take up
of childhood vaccinations and immunisation programme:
• Implement new vaccination programmes
§

HPV catch up programmes for 14-18year old women successfully implemented in
schools and GP practices. Highest uptake was achieved in schools (85%);

3. Inequalities addressed through:

d) Aiming High programme rolled out in Children’s Centres in each District – staff
training complete and programme of events delivered in Children’s Centres after
school hours and at weekends to enable access by all families. Signposting and
support for parents to access other relevant agencies in place. Positive feedback from
parents attending.

d) Services for disabled children:
• Roll out aiming high programme across children’s
centres including access to relevant specialist
agencies and ensure these plans are fully aligned
with complimentary service plans and activities.

Completed

Completed

In progress
on track

c) Breastfeeding pathway developed resulting in peer support embedded within ante
natal clinics and children’s centres

c) Ensure breastfeeding remains integral part of obesity
programme:
• Develop pathway to ensure peer support
programme is embedded in ante natal clinics
within children’s centres.

Completed

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

• Referral pathway has been developed with Children’s Centres and Family Support
Workers. Dentist in regular attendance at Seacombe Children’s Centre to identify
dental problems and refer for treatment.

2a) Oral Health:
• Bright Smiles Programme continues – packs supplied at 9-12 month reviews by
Health Visitors. Fluoride Milk Programme continues 52 participating schools in
2010/11. The Dental bus service was discontinued.

In progress
on track

Status

b) Awareness raising has been completed with all Children’s Centre teams and the
Smoke Free Homes team attended parents’ events in Children’s Centres. Children’s
Centre Delivery Plans include integrated plans for each Centre and Smoking cessation
training for advisors.

b) Protect children from the harmful effects of tobacco:
• Reduce the proportion of women who continue to
smoke throughout pregnancy.
• Ensure all Children’s Centres have fully integrated
plans on smoking cessation.
• Train smoking cessation advisors within children’s
centres.

2. Ensure all children’s centres have fully integrated plans
to:
a) Reduce the inequalities in oral health:
• Continue the Fluoride Milk Programme, the Bright
Smiles Programme and the Dental Bus service.
• Develop the dental pilot to roll out across relevant
areas.

1. Implement relevant actions relating to CYP in the Health 1. Actions relating to CYP in the Health Inequalities Plan are implemented and
Inequalities Plan. Monitor and evaluate the plan
monitored regularly
throughout the period to ensure outcomes are being met
to reduce health inequalities.

Priority: Inequalities in the health of children and young people are reduced.

What we said we would do

12

Page 26

In progress
on track

Completed

5. Pilot to increase uptake of healthy start vitamins started in November 2010 amongst
eligible families in target area.

6. The TaMHS project focused on promoting mental health and emotional well-being
for all in the school community. A model was delivered, labelled a 'Framework for
Flourishing' drawing on a wide evidence base with an emphasis on positive
psychology and resilience. 10 schools were involved in the project; staff were trained
in the model and in a range of interventions. An aim of the project was to build the
capacity of staff to intervene effectively with children at an early stage and enable staff
to deliver a range of sustainable interventions and approaches. Evaluations confirm
that this is happening in the TaMHS schools with staff implementing a variety of
interventions to meet the needs of individual pupils and groups. This has been
facilitated by appropriate training followed up with coaching/mentoring from support
services. Funding for the project ended in March 2011. A number of further schools
and agencies have requested input using the 'Framework for Flourishing' model and
this will be ongoing beyond March 2011.

5. Develop and implement plans to increase uptake of
Healthy Start vitamin supplements amongst eligible
women and children.

6. Embed the TaMHS (Targeted Mental Health in
Schools) project in Wirral.

Additional promotion by the School Nurse Team in schools with low uptake.
Uptake figures shared with schools and relevant area teams.

§

Deleted

Following mobile dental pilot, dentist present in Seacombe Children’s Centre at
same time as Child Health Clinic, having recognised that some of the children
seen by dentist were over due immunisations. Health visitor staff nurses trained
as immunisers to provide immunisations for hard to reach families through drop in
sessions at Children’s centre. Rolled out from January 2011.

§

Status

4. This action is monitored through Staying Safe outcome group.

Base line review completed. Action plan developed. Implementation ongoing.

§

average uptake across the 4 year groups was 65%.

What we did

4. Develop and implement actions to reduce the number of
infant mortalities.
• Use Public Health intelligence to highlight target
groups and plan coordinated approach across
Being Healthy and Staying Safe outcome groups.

• Identify schools where uptake is low and target
approach, e.g. consider using Gillick competency
to increase uptake of school leaver booster for
those aged 15 years.

• Link with dental pilot to identify children who have
missed immunisations and offer on the spot.
Consider roll out across areas of low take up.

• Undertake baseline review of National Institute for
Clinical Excellence (NICE) Guidance and
implement action plan.

effectively ensuring high uptake from inception.

What we said we would do

13

Page 27

§
§

Appropriate accommodation for 16 – 17 year olds
who require in-patient placements.

24 hour cover in partnership with the Acute
Hospital.

•

24 hour cover remains in place via the Acute hospital for children and young
people admitted who require emergency psychiatric provision based on
presenting need.

Cheshire and Wirral Partnership Trust has extended the number of beds available
for this age group requiring tier 4 intervention and admission to In Patient unit.

7. CAMHS service developments:
•
Wirral PCT funded increased number of clinical posts within CAMHS service for
Children and Young People with learning disability and following end of 2 year
Autism grant PCT funded Psychology posts to continue the ongoing work for the
complex communication team within Willow tree resource centre.

7. Develop CAMHS to include
• Enhanced service for Children and Young People
with learning disabilities.

•

What we did

What we said we would do
Completed

Status

14

Page 28

The Corporate Parenting Group was established and has finalized a strategy to improve outcomes for looked after children. The Group had a
significant role in delivering a regional ‘How to Become A Pushy Corporate Parent’ and has produced a training DVD. The Children In Care Council
(CiCC) has developed a policy to ensure looked after children get a prompt response to requests for permission to take part in activities. They have
provided training for trainee social workers at local universities, recruited social workers and their managers, are represented on the Corporate
Parenting Group and have developed plans for a website.
15

Looked after children have continued to be placed locally in foster care where it is safe to do so. The number of residential care placements has
remained the same over the year despite increases regionally in the numbers of looked after children. Placement stability has shown some
improvement with a reduction in the numbers of exemptions in foster care. Initial enquiries from prospective foster carers are now received by the
Council Call Centre in line with national research and good practice. A new fostering and adoption marketing campaign that has been developed over
the course of the year which uses marketing targeted through the most effective media. The Adoption Team has continued to recruit sufficient
adopters for most children with an adoption plan and have performed well in terms of national indicators.

Children and families affected by domestic abuse are supported well through the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference process within the
Family Safety Unit with social worker support for early intervention of children who are at risk. Identifying children who run away from home has been
a priority the Local Safeguarding Children Board who continue to fund a special project through Barnardos to identify and track young people missing.

There is an extensive range of parenting services within Wirral to support parents and carers who require additional support offered through the
parenting programme. This includes an expansion of the Family Group Conference offer to families to prevent children being accommodated by the
Local Authority alongside preventative work with the Adolescent Crisis Team. For children on the edge of care there is now a pilot project in one
District focusing on young people who may be at risk of becoming looked after.

The Social Work Remodelling Project, based on in-depth research of the service by Lancaster University, has resulted in significant additional
investment in front line services and better use of resources to underpin the development of preventative work. The 11 integrated multi-agency area
teams are working very well to provide support in local communities to families whose children have additional needs, through the effective
implementation of the common assessment framework and the team around the child. In 2010/11 there were 941 Common Assessments (CAFs)
undertaken demonstrating that the partnership is fully engaged with identifying children who require support at an early stage.

Wirral’s arrangements for keeping children and young people safe were considered to be good in most settings as judged through our Annual
Children’s Services Assessment in December 2010. The unannounced inspection by Ofsted of front-line child protection services found that children
at risk of harm are promptly identified and appropriately supported. In March 2011 Wirral was graded ‘good’ for both safeguarding and looked after
children services by Ofsted in their announced inspection. In this inspection Wirral’s partnership working, ambition and prioritisation, leadership and
management and the contribution of health agencies to keeping children safe was judged ‘outstanding’.

“We want to support children earlier, closer to their communities and wherever possible by supporting families.”

OUTCOME AREA - Staying Safe

Page 29

What we did

Status

3. Implement the Integrated Preventative Services Plan
to support the coherent and joined up development of
Area Teams / Children’s Centres and Extended

2. Review and improve systems and processes to
support and deliver timely multi-agency plans for
children in need supported by Children in Need (CIN)
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO).

1. Sustain improved system and processes
underpinning the Team around the Child (TAC)
model, which measures and supports Common
Assessment Framework (CAF) and TAC.

Child in Need development project commenced with clear focus:
• to improve outcomes for children in need by reviewing the current system;
• learning lessons from recent serious case reviews;
• revising policy and procedure;
• developing multi-agency quality assurance;
• developing training to improve effective implementation.
Integrated Preventative Services Board established with four development
projects 1) Children’s Centres; 2) Co-located Area Teams 3) Parenting Strategy
4) Integrated Youth Support. The board can demonstrate greater coherency in
the multi-agency teams involved in delivering the four projects. Clear action plan

2.

3.

1. Significant developments made regarding the TAC model including:
• Regular delivery of quality assured training to all partners.
• CAF webpage which includes newly developed local guidance and national
guidance documents established.
• Wirral CAF and accompanying guidance document produced.
• An updated Guide to Integrated Working for all partners published.
• Quality audit tool use established.
• Full quality audit toolkit developed.
• 941 CAF’s were undertaken in 2010/11.

In progress,
on track

In progress,
on track

Completed

Priority: More children grow up in secure, stable families where they belong, either through receiving timely, earlier intervention and support within their
communities, or through belonging to permanent, substitute families.

What we said we would do

16

In 2010/11 road traffic accidents that kill or seriously injure children reduced, as have hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate
injuries. This has been achieved through key partners focusing on geographical areas where there are higher rates of childhood injuries. The Safer
Sleeping Campaign was developed as a result of the review of child deaths in Wirral. These reviews identified a number of preventable factors that
caused the deaths of babies and young children through injury, accidents or suffocation following sleeping with the baby. The developed programme
consists of multi agency training for front line staff on likely hazards, information directly to parents on safe sleeping arrangements through a DVD,
and general awareness within the local community of hazards.

The plans to improve the provision of short breaks for children with a disability are on track for completion in July 2011. The team responsible for care
leavers was renamed the Pathway Team in line with the wishes of care leavers and provides a multi-agency approach and robust risk management
framework where required for the most vulnerable young people.

Page 30

6. Deliver the revised Parenting Strategy; implement
PEIP; monitor the impact on improved outcomes
delivered by commissioned services.

5. Implement the Area Team development plan, and colocate all Area Teams.

4. Continue to provide credible programmes for courts
to consider as alternatives to custody, for ‘prolific and
serious’ offenders including embedding MultiSystemic Therapy (MST).

Schools.

What we said we would do

6. Revision of the Parenting Strategy has lead to delivery of:
• 17 practitioners trained to deliver the evidence based parenting programme
Triple P Teen group and 1 to 1 in the family home.
• Centralised co-ordination and monitoring of referrals for individual Triple P and
group programme ensuring Wirral wide access.
• Strengthened partnership working with 0 to 19 Commissioned Services to
promote a seamless approach to parenting and family support.
• Training sessions for Parent Support Advisors and Teaching Assistants.
• Co delivery of Triple P Teen group and Nurturing Programme with the Catholic
Children’s Society. There were 64 referrals for 1-1 intervention with 38
completing the programme.
• Development of multi agency Central Referral system for parenting and family

5. Co-located Area Team offices have been established in four areas, one is in the
process of tender for capital works and two further are in development. The existing
Area Team Office located at Well Lane Primary School will be extended in 2011. All
Area Teams have received change management training and have change
management plans in place to facilitate this new way of working. The project is
supported by the remodelling project team.

4. The Youth Rehabilitation Order (YRO) is the new generic community sentence for
children and young people who offend; its aim is to simplify sentencing, whilst
improving the flexibility of interventions. A range of credible programmes are now
available:
• The Youth Justice Board ‘Scaled Approach’ to help ensure young people receive
the most appropriate sentence and the right level of intervention and support.
• The YRO ‘Intensive Supervision Support Programme’ (ISS) offers up to 25 hours
support for young people on the cusp of custody.
• Wirral YOS offer programmes for offences related to violence, car offences, knife
crime, burglary, robbery, drugs and persistent offenders.
• Additional work is underway with Barnardos Safer Futures with young people
who commit sexual offences in both assessment and ongoing treatment
programmes. This is offered to the Court as an alternative to Custody in
appropriate cases.
• MST is now embedded within YOS and has proved effective with 23 young
people and their families, empowering the parent /carer leading to less reliance
on external agency involvement.

and quarterly reporting to the Children’s Trust Executive.

What we did

Completed

In progress,
on track

Completed

Status

17

Page 31

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

Completed

9. Enhanced preventative work underway with the expansion of the FGM team and
clear links with social work teams. Development work is underway with the Family
Placement team to reduce the number of viability assessments and identify family
members to care for children who cannot remain with parents. Work is underway
with the Adolescent Crisis Team to enhance their pilot supporting teenagers on the
edge of care by convening FGM for short break provision.
10. Expansion of the capacity to provide post adoption / Special Guardianship
achieved though integration of former project team posts and re designation of
Adoption Team to Adoption and Permanence Team. 87.5% adopted children placed
within 12 months of decision (2009/10). Work underway to further increase take up
of Special Guardianship.

11. Performance Board established and all plans for children placed with parents
reviewed and challenging targets set. Further management activity required to
ensure reduction in numbers.
12. Findings from the Unannounced Inspection implemented. Weekly meetings are
in place with team managers to drive improvement and monthly meetings are
held to review overall operation and management of the front door to social
care.

13. Area Teams and Children’s Centres largely co-located with effective joint
working established:
• Active partnership working between Children’s Centres and the Family

9. Extend capacity to deliver more family group
meetings (FGM), and increase short break provision
to support more children and adolescents with their
family in the community.

10. Deliver timely plans, for more children to be adopted
or achieve permanence through adoption, Special
Guardianship and Residence Orders, where this will
best meet their needs. Extend and develop capacity
to provide post adoption / Special Guardianship
support.

11. Safely reduce the numbers of children in care,
particularly focusing on reducing the number of
children in care placed at home with parents.

12. Sustain improved processes for contact, referral and
assessment – the ‘front door’ into social care,
implementing the findings from the Unannounced
Inspection of Contact, Referral and Assessment
Services.

13. Provide strong organisational and operational links
between Children’s Centres and fieldwork services,
focussing on safeguarding systems and training to

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

8. Pilot area identified (Wallasey), project plan developed with relevant partners and
appropriate staff training completed. Stakeholder Event held in February 2011 and
pilot evaluation planned for one year period.

8. Refocus the Adolescent Crisis Team towards earlier
intervention with adolescents and their families and
carers.

In progress,
on track

Status

7. The Anti-Social Behaviour Team, Sports Development Service, sections of the
Youth Service, the Youth Offending Service and Wirral Alternative Schools
Programme have been located on one site. The process to restructure the
management of IYSS is underway to ensure effective joined up service.

support at level three.

What we did

7. Implement plans to further develop and co-locate
services to deliver Integrated Youth Support Strategy
(IYSS) and Target Youth Support (TYS).

What we said we would do

18

Page 32

Deliver the Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding
restructure, to increase the number of social workers,
increase capacity to deliver improved management
and performance oversight, and expansion of LSCB
activity.

16. Embed consistency of response, in accordance with
regulation, to children living with Private Foster
Carers.

15. Implement early intervention and planning of
services to families with children under five involving
midwives, health visitors, children’s centre outreach
workers and social care professionals with a focus on
the needs of the reach population of the centre.

14. Develop the appropriate involvement of children’s
centres in the delivery of support to all children 0– 5
subject to a child protection plan.

meet assessed needs.

What we said we would do
Safety Unit / Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference.
Seacombe Children’s Centre is graded ‘good’ with partnership working
judged as ‘outstanding’ in recent Ofsted inspection. Birkenhead and
Tranmere Children’s Centre is graded ‘good’ with effectiveness of
safeguarding judged ‘outstanding’.
Children’s Centres involved with CAF & TAC.
Children’s Centre Family Support Model developed with Social Care
colleagues.
Targeted services offered to specific user groups e.g. domestic violence
support, drug & alcohol service, teenage parents
Annual training plan for Children’s Centre staff in place.

17. Social work recruitment remains strong with effective rolling recruitment in place.
Successful recruitment of an LSCB Manager. Full fieldwork management
complement still in progress.

16. Refreshed policies and procedures in place and multi agency Private Fostering
training programme completed. Continuous auditing of private fostering
assessments in place. Statement of Purpose and quality assurance based on
the new inspection framework established. Action plan in response to the
minimum standards set within the Ofsted inspection framework implemented.
Progress routinely reported to the LSCB and Director of Children’s Services.

15. Clear focus on early intervention in place:
• Children’s Centre Delivery Plans in place to ensure appropriate service
delivery. Monitored through local Advisory Boards which include parents
and the Children First Strategic Board.
• Healthy Child Programme delivered through Children’s Centres.
• Ante-natal and post-natal services delivered through centres (including antenatal classes and 1:1 support).
• Bi-lingual worker in Wallasey and Birkenhead clusters to ensure support to
non-English speaking families.

14. Children’s Centres included in all case conferences for children under the age of
5 years. Systems in place to ensure appropriate support to families with
children under 5 years.

•

•

•
•

•

What we did

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

Completed

Status

19

Page 33

What we did

4.

4. Monitor and review children’s accident and
emergency referral pathway, to continue to reduce
the incidence of children presenting following
excessive alcohol consumption / substance misuse.

5. Jointly deliver Operation Stay Safe, and monitor the
impact upon reduced incidence of young people’s
excessive consumption of alcohol.

3. The Review was completed and updated guidance and procedures were issued
and agreed by the 5 Merseyside LSCB’s. Barnardos continue to provide the
runaway service and the police have a dedicated officer for missing children who
manages the notifications of each young person missing. In addition 6 weekly
meetings take place with CYPD senior officers and the police on those young people
who frequently run away.

3. Review Merseyside Protocol and further develop
services for children identified as missing from home /
care, and / or involved in sexual exploitation.

5. Ten multi-agency Stay Safe Operations have been held in 6 of the 8 Police
Neighbourhoods. 1187 children and young people have been spoken to, of whom
169 were referred to agencies or given interventions by the Response Outreach
Team.

Multi-Agency Steering group devised.
Pathways developed and rolled out across the partnership.
Sessional Youth Liaison worker commissioned.
Research report commissioned on effective pathways to A&E

2. Wirral YOS supports targeted initiatives including:
• Multi-agency Challenge and Support Respect Project. The focus is challenge
and support intervention to address issues relating to antisocial and offending
behaviour and to divert young people from the criminal justice system. Support is
provided through referral to diversionary Youth Inclusion Projects.
• Wirral YOS offers Restorative Justice Training to all agencies including schools
to enable schools to resolve issues between staff or pupils before instigating
criminal proceedings.
• The YOS Parenting Programme offers advice and support to families.

2. Continue to develop more consistent targeting of
services for children at risk of offending, through early
identification systems triggering Youth Offending
Service (YOS) input.

§
§
§
§

1. Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) training provided to
organisations involved including school nurses and some children centre staff.
Central Advice and Duty Team (CADT) procedure to ensure any WFSU information
is accessed to support improved decision making for domestic violence referrals to
CADT. Multi-agency review and clear recommendations identified to ensure
processes meet the needs of 16-27 year olds experiencing domestic abuse.
Continued strong multi-agency representation at MARAC identified as a strength by
MARAC quality assurance process.

1. Sustain and strengthen joint working between the
CYPD, NHS Wirral and Wirral Family Safety Unit
(WFSU) to further reduce the incidence of domestic
violence and repeat occurrences.

Priority: Reduce the incidence of anti social, risk taking and harmful behaviour experienced by children and young people.

What we said we would do

Completed

In progress
on track

Completed

Completed

In progress,
on track

Status

20

Page 34

7. New Safeguarding Training Officer in post. Training for 2010/11 carried out with
good attendance overseen by the LSCB training committee. The new
comprehensive programme for January 2011 to March 2012 is in place.
8. Multi Agency Risk Governance group established and chaired by the Director of
Children’s Services. Risk management and governance procedure in respect of
individuals who pose a high/ very high risk to themselves or others has been
developed and agreed by the LSCB.

7. Continue to deliver comprehensive LSCB training
plan for all staff, level 1-4 and refresh Section 11
Audit and Action plan by all LSCB Board members.

8. Develop a Risk Governance procedure within the
LSCB that supports individual and multi-agency risk
management and ensures that the risk management
plans for those at very high risk are clear, coordinated, defensible and appropriately resourced.

1. The partnership strategy focused activity on those interventions likely to have
greatest impact in reducing the level of injury on our roads. Significant additional
resources have been directed to this key area. Provisional data indicates that the 10
year national child casualty reduction target was met at the end of 2010. By the end
of 2010 19 children were killed or seriously injured (KSI); a 50% reduction from the
1994-1998 average figure (baseline).
2. 10 schools within the Targeted Mental Health in Schools project have accessed a
range of training programmes delivered to cohorts of children and young people to
improve their safety and resilience. (Also noted in Being Healthy).

3. In response to the anti-bullying national week a local conference was organised
which focused on bullying issues related to home-school transport. A DVD of the
conference and related materials was disseminated by the anti bullying steering
group. The anti-bullying steering group produced an anti-bullying policy. Bullybusters
provides an independent advice service for children, young people and parents.
Liaison with the North West anti-bullying alliance and participation in their activities
also took place this has now ended with the cessation of the national strategies.
4. A Wirral campaign took place to raise awareness of ‘Safe Sleeping’:
• A DVD, launched at local shopping centres.

1. Implement the road safety strategy for children through
the Road Safety partnership.

2. Extend and develop opportunities for children and
young people to tell us what makes them feel unsafe,
and deliver programmes to improve their safety and
resilience.

3. Continue to support the development of anti-bullying
strategies in schools, on school transport, and in
community facilities, and implement a strategic rollout
of the Anti – bullying policy with all partners and
interested parties. Liaise with Anti Bullying Alliance and
the National Strategy – Behaviour and Attendance to
develop a Wirral Anti Bullying Strategy.

4. Implement and evidence learning from Child Death
Overview Panels.

Priority: More children are safe at home, at school and in the community, including reducing road traffic accidents and bullying.

6. Guidance promoting safe sleeping advice produced and distributed to multiagency partners for use with parents. Front line health practitioners promote
guidance when working with families where there is a new baby in the household.

What we did

6. Promote, develop and deliver parental guidance and
awareness raising strategies to keep children safe,
including the co-sleeping awareness campaign.

What we said we would do

Completed

Completed

Completed

In progress
on track

Completed

Completed

Completed

Status

21

Page 35

Targeted promotions to groups deemed to be ‘at risk’ e.g. young parents and
those using substances.
Revised ‘Safe Sleeping’ guidance distributed to front-line health professionals.
Specific accident prevention materials distributed to local front-line professionals
to raise awareness of key risks e.g. the ‘Make it Safe’ leaflet aimed at reducing
potential injury and death from looped blind cords and chains.
Learning from individual cases incorporated into training and education sessions
for local health and social care colleagues e.g. refresher training for GPs on
spotting early signs of serious illness in young children.

1. Wirral has successfully improved the range and volume of short break provision.
The Full Service Offer has been achieved 3 months ahead of the March 2011
deadline. Parents and children are involved in all planning processes; a relationship
described as “dynamic and connected” by Together for Disabled Children. No child
with a complex disability was placed outside the authority in the last 24 months.
2. Establishment of a children to adult Transition Services Team has led to rapid
development of multi-agency working. Partner agency key staff have been identified
and strong links developed with the Pathway Team and named link workers
identified. From 16 years a Personal Advisor is allocated to all LAC within the
Children with Disabilities team and Pathway Plans are developed. The 16-19
Learning Disability Team are also engaged with the Transition Process and a worker
from that team attends the Transitional Operational Group.
3. Foster Care service is rated as good by Ofsted. Two of the three Local Authority
residential homes are rated good. Improvements in one home providing short breaks
for children with a disability were made following a Management Practice review,
with a follow up action plan. A ‘Healthy homes programme with all local residential

2. Improve the quality of multi-agency transition
arrangements for children in care with learning
disabilities and / or mental health issues.

3. Ensure good or excellent standards of care in all
directly provided residential care, foster care and
commissioned services. Complete review of in house
residential services.

5. Action Plans are in place in every Children’s Centre The Accident Prevention
Scheme was reviewed and combined with the Royal Society for the Prevention of
Accidents (RoSPA) Scheme within Children’s Centres. Over 500 families received
home safety assessments and were fitted with safety equipment including smoke
alarms. Information sessions were held for parents in Children’s Centres and also
delivered as part of core services.

•

•
•

•

What we did

1. Ensure effective multi-agency planning and
commissioning of services for children with disabilities
in accordance with the Aiming High for Disabled
Children framework.

Priority: Children in care are safe and supported.

5. Children’s centres to develop action plans and
activities designed to reduce the rate of emergency
hospital admissions caused by unintentional and
deliberate injuries to children aged 0 – 5 resident in
the reach area of the centre.

What we said we would do

In progress
on track

Completed

Completed

Completed

Status

22

Page 36

4. Refreshed fostering marketing campaign launched in February 2011 with call
centre enquiry system to increase response timeliness. ‘Move On Scheme’ for
children placed in treatment foster care introduced; carers now being recruited.
Increased capacity in treatment foster care will reduce the need for residential
placements. Adolescent support pilot commenced in January, plus increased
capacity for family group meetings, resulting in more support for children to remain
with families; reducing the demand for care provision and consequently enabling
greater placement choice for those children who require care.
5. Recruitment of social workers remains strong with monthly advertising. Vacancies
in January 2011 were low at only 3 out of 115 social worker posts.

6. Corporate Parenting Group established in June 2010 with Lead Member Chair,
five elected member representatives, and senior multi-agency partners. Corporate
Parenting Strategy and action plan agreed. Regional Pushy Corporate Parenting
Conference held in Wirral in November 2010 focusing on the new NICE / SCIE
guidance for looked after children.
7. Specialist CAMHS provision in place for children in long term and short term care
placements. Clear contribution to care planning and assessment via consultation,
advice and direct work.

8. There are still significant challenges in the numbers of looked after children
accessing EET opportunities. One of the key aspects of this is that as Care Leavers
increase in age, progression is not being sustained. At 16 this figure is 60.00%,
which decreases to 28.81% at the age of 19. A number of initiatives were in place in
2010/11:

5. Maintain a full complement of trained and skilled social
workers, so that all children in care have a qualified
and suitably trained social worker to meet their needs
in a timely way.

6. Establish the Corporate Parenting Body (through redesignating the Virtual School Governing Body) and
develop / implement the Corporate Parenting Strategy.

7. Continue to ensure that the mental health needs of
children in care are recognised and responded to
through a continuum of provision from consultation,
advice, training, specialist assessments and
interventions through to specialist placement provision.

8. Increase the number of former care leavers aged 19
years in suitable accommodation and in employment,
education and training.

providers has been implemented to improve healthy lifestyles for children resident. A
review of residential care has been completed with a plan to move from two homes
providing short breaks to children with a disability, to a single home at Rosclare
House. A capital investment of £500,000 will allow an exciting redesign to deliver an
inspiring and caring environment, at a significantly reduced unit cost. A residential
home for children with emotional, behavioural difficulties will close in 2011 with plans
in development to provide residential placements.

What we did

4. Improve the quality and choice of provision for children
becoming looked after, particularly in LA fostering
provision and reduce the number of children living in
out of borough independent sector residential
placements.

What we said we would do

In progress
on track

Completed

Completed

Completed

In progress
on track

Status

23

Page 37

•

•

•

•

•

From Care 2Work is a national initiative, supporting Local Authorities to improve
the outcomes for care leavers. There is a clear plan of work which is supported
by relevant officers from across the partnership.
The Wirral Apprenticeship programme provides care leavers with support to
access Apprenticeship opportunities through a targeted employability
programme.
Care leavers are encouraged to participate in the Wirral 14-19 Strategic
Partnership ‘Wise’ projects. ‘Stay Wise’ delivers targeted activity to encourage
sustained engagement in learning and training and ‘Work Wise’ is an
employment focused training solution for 16-19 year olds who are NEET.
The Activity Agreement programme is in place and on offer children in care.
There are currently 4 Care Leavers engaged which is providing a bespoke
programme of support for 16 and 17 year olds to increase sustained progression.
Additional support for the young people has also been provided by Liverpool
University through mentoring activity, industry visits etc. One young man is soon
to return to the LA to begin his third year work experience within the Technical
Services Department.

What we did

Delivery plan outlined in the Local Safeguarding Children
Board Business plan.

Working Together (2010) statutory child protection guidance was re-issued in March
2010 as a result of the national delivery plan. Wirral LSCB undertook a review of
policy and procedures in light of this and have re-issued updated guidance and
invested in web-base procedures through an independent provider to support easier
access for staff across the partnership.

Implement the government action plan in response to Lord Laming review of protection of children in England.

What we said we would do

Completed

Status

24

Page 38

25

We successfully implemented the 1-1 tuition. There has been continued improvement of attendance figures and especially in Persistent Absence
schools. Looked After Children performance well at Key Stage 2 and at Key Stage 4 (relative to expected progress based on prior attainment) through
we still have further work to improve the outcomes of this group of children.

We successfully implemented the new Children’s Centres OFSTED framework following the statutory designation of our Children’s Centres. Two
Children’s Centres have been inspected under this framework and were evaluated as good with outstanding features. We have further developed a
performance management framework for Children’s’ Centres building on the learning from these successful OFSTED inspections. We have
successfully implemented the Early Years Quality Improvement Support Programme with private, voluntary and independent providers of early
education and care. The free entitlement for 3 and 4 year olds has been extended for many to 15 hours per week and there is increased opportunity
available for parents/carers to take free entitlement more flexibly. We have implemented the 2 year old funding initiative and a case study has
evaluated the programme providing evidence of good impact.

Outcomes of secondary OFSTED reports have over half of them outstanding. All schools meet the Extended Services Full Core Offer well before the
target date and for some considerable time Wirral was the highest performing Local Authority in the North West in terms of Extended Services
delivery. The Local Authority‘s Leadership & Management programme has been used nationally as an example of best practice. We have continued
to deliver the Social and Emotional Aspects of leaning (SEAL) and Family Works programmes and evaluations of these programmes demonstrate
positive impact on the attainment of children engaged in these programmes.

Good improvements in performance were made in Early Years and the 2010 targets were exceeded. The attainment for children in the lowest quintile
improved thereby narrowing the attainment gap. At Key Stage 2, attainment in Maths showed an increase on the performance of the previous year
and performance is above national average. Attainment in English is also above the national average. At Key Stage 4, the results for 5+ A*-C GCSE
or equivalent grades including English and Maths exceeded national averages and national gains and the exceeded targets we had set.
Improvements in the performance in National Challenge schools were at a higher rate; in August 2010 only 1 school was below the Key Stage 4
threshold of 30% 5+ A*-C GCSE or equivalent grades including English and Maths with the other 5 National Challenge schools above that floor
target. That one school had now become part of the University Academy of Birkenhead.

In 2010-2011 we continued to make progress with both Primary and Secondary Review of school places. A decision was made to close one primary
school in the Birkenhead area (Cole Street Primary School) and the review of Phase 6 was started. The University Academy of Birkenhead opened in
January 2011 replacing Park and Rock Ferry High Schools.

“We want to raise the achievement of all our young people and to narrow the gap in attainment experienced by our most disadvantaged children.”

OUTCOME AREA – Enjoy and Achieve

Page 39

2. Progress has been made with a programme involving four special schools in
capital projects which are all at different phases of consultation. Progress has been
made with schools and governing bodies, and agreed recently by Schools Forum, for
a flexible method of commissioning future places at special schools. A pilot phase is
underway and the method will become live in January 2012

1.
• The Primary reviews phases 1-4 are complete and Park Primary is due to open in
the spring 2011. For Phase 5, St Laurence’s Primary School closed at the end of
August 2010 and Cole Street Primary School will close at the end of August 2011.
• Consultation has commenced on Phase 6 (South Wallasey) with reports to
Cabinet in spring 2011 and any changes to provision not taking place until
September 2012.
• For Secondary, Pensby High Schools for Boys and Girls federated in May 2010.
• Rock Ferry and Park High Schools closed at the end of December 2010 and the
University Academy of Birkenhead opened in January 2011 following the signing
of the Funding Agreement by the Secretary of State.
• Some secondary schools are actively exploring becoming Academies under the
new government procedures.

What we did

1. Improve outreach of all Children’s Centres to
vulnerable families.

1. Outreach improved through:
• There are 16 operational children’s Centres providing universal coverage across
agreed footprints.
• Family support strategy is in place.
• Birth data from health is now available.
• Outreach work with dental services is in place.
• Targeted parenting groups are in place (Asian women’s group, Dads’ groups,
Young parents).
2.

Priority: Young children and families are well supported, especially the most vulnerable, through the network of Children’s Centres.

2. Implement a programme to review and improve
Special School provision.

1. Remove surplus capacity in Primary & Secondary
Schools through phased reviews of provision across
the Borough.

Priority: Public money is spent to maximum effect in all our schools.

What we said we would do

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

Status

26

Foundation Learning programmes at Key Stage 4 are starting to show demonstrable impact. An inspection of 14-19 provision in September 2009
gave good outcomes, the leadership of 14-19 developments was described as strong and as a consequence Wirral was included in OFSTED’s 2010
national report cited as an example of good practice. Ten Diploma lines are running.

Page 40

Targeted support is in place.
There is improved data around vulnerable children and families.
There are many case studies showing impact of services available.
The neonatal project with Arrow park has received national recognition.
A probation service project is underway.
Two children’s centre OFSTED inspections: good with outstanding features.

7. Completed.

6. The project is underway but the system is not yet launched due to technical and
software issues with service provider.

5. The audit was published in March 2011.

4. Information protocols are in place with all partners including health, job centre
plus, probation and the voluntary sector.

• Review of performance management arrangements has been completed and an
action plan in place.
• Annual conversation completed for Phase 1 Centres.
• Area Teams co-located with a number of Children’s Centres.
• Health visitors are co-located in 4 centres.
• Active participation in family safety unit and domestic violence.

•
•
•
•
•
•

What we did

1. Ensure priority is also given to work with vulnerable
families on emotional and social development, e.g. via
Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL)
programmes, Family Works, and nurturing training
provided by Special Educational Support Service
(SESS).

98% primary schools have embedded and are running Family Works.
36% secondary schools running Family Welcome.
Family Wise piloted successfully in six schools.
Full evaluation, using data analysis, of Family Works has taken place to illustrate
impact on Reading, Writing, Maths and Science.
• Evaluation using qualitative data from schools has taken place focusing on impact
on reaching hard to reach parents, learning and achievement, behaviour,
attendance and development of relationships working in partnership with parents.
• Nurturing training delivered to over 90 practitioners covering 50+ settings. Full

1.
•
•
•
•

Priority: Children and families are supported with their social and emotional development.

7. Completion of Phase 3 Children’s Centre
developments.

6. Launch of Information System for Parents and
providers.

5. Publication of the Childcare Sufficiency Audit.

4. Create robust information sharing protocols and
systems across all partners.

3. Use of tighter performance management structures
and common agendas across children’s centres;
develop integrated multi-agency networks across
areas and districts.

2. Ensure priority is given to improving the outcomes for
vulnerable families in the 5 ECM themes, via
continuous data analysis, regular reports to the
board, development of case studies of good practice.

What we said we would do

Completed

Completed

In progress,
milestone
rescheduled

Completed

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

Status

27

Page 41

3. Restorative training has been rolled out across schools in Wirral. Use of
restorative practices impacts positively on reducing the number of fixed and
permanent exclusions in schools and dealing with behavioural issues.

3. Continue to roll out Restorative Practices training.

2.

Priorities for 2010-2011 are:
a. All clusters to continue to have robust plans clearly
targeted using allocated resources effectively.
b. Improve measurement of impact.
c. Achieve the Full Core Offer across all schools by
2010.

• All schools are delivering the Full Core Offer
• All clusters of schools have extensive plans in place to meet the needs of the
community and individual schools.
• All plans have impact statements and time lines
• Evidence clearly shows impact on number of parents engaged in activities.
• Increased number of pupils attending breakfast clubs after school clubs etc.
targeted groups improved engagement.
• Schools working in partnership with other schools – cluster arrangements to
support each other are having impact on raising standards and supporting
Leadership and Management.
• The focus is on making activities sustainable – by ensuring that staff are trained
and that all stake holders are fully engaged.

Extended Services, delivered through schools and partners working in clusters, impact upon the outcomes for children and families.
1. Continue to implement the Extended Services Action
• All schools achieved delivery of the Full Core Offer by the end of August 2010.
Plan.
• Sustainability and Subsidy funding have been devolved to schools and clusters
as per the 2-year funding plan. Limited funding for central development was
retained.
• There is an action plan regarding the ACES given the programme comes to and
end in March 2011.

2.
• Primary Managed Moves protocol in place.
• Number of permanent exclusions reduced by almost 50% on the figures for the
last academic year from 33 to 17. A reduction of 75% in the primary sector, from
8 to 2. A reduction of 40% in the secondary sector from 25 to 15.
• 42 Managed moves were undertaken with almost every secondary school
implementing the Protocol which may be a contributory factor in reducing the
number of permanent exclusions. 15 were successful, 22 were unsuccessful and
5 are ongoing.

evaluation available including rise in PSED points and inspection reports on
settings. Training now extended to Foundation Stage staff in schools.

What we did

2. Further embed the Managed Moves protocol in
secondary and primary schools especially in order to
further reduce the levels of exclusion.

What we said we would do

Completed

Completed

In progress
on track

Completed

Status

28

Page 42

What we did

Status

3.

2.

Identify underachieving and underperforming schools,
subjects and groups within schools (including
underperforming vulnerable learners) through
analysis of data. This includes ensuring through the
National Challenge and Gaining Ground programmes
that by Summer 2011 no secondary school is below
30% for 5+A*-C grades (including English and
Mathematics). World Class Primary Curriculum.

Ensure primary schools causing concern or in an
Ofsted category make sufficient progress to be
removed in the shortest possible time.

3.
• Data analysis identified schools of concern and banding of schools to prioritise
support.
• School Improvement Partner visits identify areas of concern with the headteacher
and representative of Governing body, monitoring progress of underachieving/
underperforming and vulnerable groups.
• In 2008, six schools were below the 30% floor at KS4. By 2010, this figure had
fallen to one. It is forecast that no school will be below floor in 2011. Behind this
improvement has been the work of National Challenge Advisers, under the
direction of the local authority, with schools, maximising the benefit to schools of
the support and advice available via the local authority. The programme ends in

2.
• Four primary schools remain in an OFSTED category and they continue to make
good progress.
• Each school in category has a Local Authority Statement of Action which has
been verified/ approved by OFSTED.
• The Head of Branch for Learning and Achievement, Strategic Service Manager,
the schools’ Head Teachers and Chair of Governors monitor the action plan on a
half-termly basis.
• All schools have had OFSTED monitoring visits and are now at least satisfactory.
We are expecting that 3 of the 4 schools will have a full inspection in the Spring
Term 2011 and we have high confidence that they will be taken out of category.
• Primary Team and Primary Focus meetings continue to identify schools of
concern, monitor and evaluate support.
• School Reviews have taken place in OFSTED category schools and LA schools
of concern.
• Intensive Support Programme (ISP) for Primary Schools, co-ordinated and
evaluated by Principal Manager and Team Leaders.
• Support provided for departments/teachers where underachievement is identified
in the secondary school, with good impact.

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

Priority: Raise standards in schools and settings by continuing to improve the quality of leadership and management, curriculum, assessment and learning,
thereby ensuring none fall into an OFSTED category.
In progress
1. A revised Wirral Improvement Strategy for Schools and Educational Settings is
1. Put revised School Improvement Policy into practice;
milestone
provide appropriate briefings of councillors, governors being developed. It is being rewritten in response to the recently published White
rescheduled
Paper The Importance of Teaching. A component of this, the Wirral Schools
and headteachers.
Causing Concern policy has been developed and agreed. Councillors, Governors
and Headteachers have been briefed.

What we said we would do

29

Page 43

6.

5.

4.

Implement curriculum changes in line with the 21
Century School programme and the review of the
Primary Curriculum.

st

Ensure priority is given to ISP and WISP in primary
schools; and coordinated, targeted support in
secondary schools. Focus in particular on raising
standards in English and Maths. Implement World
Class Primary Curriculum.

Increase accuracy of assessment and consistency of
moderation at transition points.

What we said we would do

6.
st
• 21 Century Schools now replaced by the Schools White Paper as a
consequence of the change of government and the Rose Review was
abandoned.
• Foundation subjects Advisory Teachers provide support for ‘Linking our Thinking’

5.
• Banding of schools through data analysis, schools identified for Intensive Support
Programme support.
• Raising Attainment Plans in place and reviewed termly for school receiving
support through ISP/WISP.
• Increase in Average Point Scores across schools; 13/15 targeted schools made
improvements in attainment.
• Network meetings in place to maintain sustainability.
• Analysis of data has informed English and Maths consultant time allocation.
Data analysis also highlighted common key issues across some schools such as
performance of the more able girls in mathematics and the more able boys in
English. Bespoke programmes were devised and delivered to targeted schools.
In Mathematics performance at Level 3 and Level 5 increased. English Level 3
improved and Level 5 was static.

4.
• Standardisation and moderation training opportunities (stage not age) enables
colleagues to cross moderate within ATs from English, maths, science and
assessment teams to ensure consistency of approach and level judgements are
accurate.
• LA Standardisation and moderation Guidelines adopted by PHCG and available
to all schools on VLE.
• EYFS procedures deemed robust (2010) and KS1 identified as outstanding with
no areas for development (2010) by QCDA

2011.
• Analysis of data has informed consultant allocation. The focus of consultant
support has been Assessing Pupil Progress (APP) and Assessment for Learning
(AfL) in English and on improving quality of learning and teaching in Mathematics.
5 out of 6 schools, previously supported by National Challenge programme are
now above 30% 5A*-C including English and maths. English and mathematics
GCSE results both rose significantly across Wirral Schools.

What we did

In progress
milestone
rescheduled

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

Status

30

Page 44

Implement the Masters in Teaching and Learning
Programme.

Embed APP and AFL across English, mathematics,
science and ICT teaching.

9.

Develop a high quality e-learning community that
supports an improving and developing curriculum and
encourages collaboration.

8.

7.

What we said we would do

9.
• Targeted Assessing Pupil Progress (APP) training has taken place for secondary
schools. This has been followed up where appropriate with tailored in-school
support on developing APP.
• Science: all primary schools have been given the opportunity to attend training on
APP. Some schools have request and received staff training. 5 lead secondary
schools are developing a resource base to support APP in science. Most schools
have APP established as an assessment tool for How Science works. Schools
have also decided to continue using other assessment to assess knowledge and
understanding.
• English: an APP handbook has been devised. This is informing embedded
practice in Secondary English and developing good practice in Primary English.
Regular English standardising and moderating sessions are taking place across
the LA, in clusters and within schools.
• 20 APP schools have been identified. These schools are supported by ATs to
develop APP practice across Reading, Writing, Maths and Science.

7.
• The vast majority of Wirral schools have embraced the Wirral Virtual Learning
Environment (VLE) as their preferred learning platform.
• All schools that are participating in this project have received initial training and
ongoing support.
• There is a variety of online activity that is stimulating learning both within the ICT
curriculum and across all other curriculum areas.
• The CYPD VLE is being developed with some positive collaborative activities
already happening between schools.
8. First cohort of candidates supported through close partnership with local Higher
Education Institutes. Beyond the first cohort, the programme has been abandoned
by the new government.

Primary Curriculum Development.
• Schools have had the opportunity to review current curriculum provision and
experience a range of models of curriculum design. 20 schools are currently
engaged in a curriculum design and development programme unique to their
context.
• Good practice identified and shared with colleagues.
• Cross-curricular themed units available to schools via Virtual Learning
Environment and supported by training.
• Schools causing concern supported in their curriculum design and development.

What we did

In progress
on track

Deleted

In progress
on track

Status

31

Page 45

Develop and implement new models of service
delivery for children and young people with Speech,
Language and Communication needs.

Identify and pilot effective screening tools.

1.

2.

Better Communication Strategy
In progress
on track
In progress
on track
2. Screening tool developed. WellComm Toolkit identified – need to identify
resources to undertake purchase and pilot.

completed

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

Status

1. Concurrent review and commissioning process in place; changes to service
delivery indicated including integrated working based in schools/settings.

Priority: Close the attainment gap where poverty and disadvantage affect achievement.

12. Required elements implemented and the implications/results were
communicated to school settings and partners.

11.
• 100% of Wirral schools engaged in programme. The LA has recruited a pool of
tutors for schools to access. The programme is managed cross-phase and
strategies are in place to ensure information sharing and engagement.
• Over 1800 places were funded at KS2, KS3 and KS4. The KS4 places were for
National Challenge schools only.
• At Key Stage 2, the majority of places were targeted at pupils not expected to
reach L4 in English and/or maths. At L4+ English, the CVA of this targeted group
was +9% compared with +0.4% for other pupils. At L4+ Maths the CVA of this
targeted group was +16% compared with +1% for other pupils.
• At Key Stage 4 the 5+A*-C inc. English and maths CVA was +18% for the
targeted group compared with +3% for other pupils.

11. Implement the next phase of 1-1 tuition, monitor and
evaluate the impact.

12. As appropriate implement the requirements of the
Children Schools and Families Bill and disseminate to
school settings and partners.

10.
• Good impact particularly in Linking our Thinking Primary Curriculum.
• Via a range of strategies e.g. coaching, Kagan training, modelling the Advisory
Teachers and consultants have increased engagement and motivation in selfreview innovation and encouraged on culture of learning.
• Tailored in-school curriculum and teaching and learning support has been offered
across secondary schools. Over 700 days of support from CYPD will take place
in 2010/11. All schools were judged at least satisfactory for learning and teaching
in their last Ofsted visit.

• Each partnership has an agreed action plan bespoken to their schools needs.

What we did

10. Further develop effective teaching and learning
strategies and the sharing of good practice to raise
the quality of learning.

What we said we would do

32

Page 46

Refine outcome and impact measure for this area of
work.

4.

Interrogate more deeply performance data including
neighbourhood data, on effects of poverty on
achievement across the partnership. Devise a
strategy based on action research and the National
Strategy Narrowing the Gap programme.

Reduce child poverty by supporting families
experiencing unemployment through family, adult and
employability programmes.

5.

6.

Narrowing the Gap

Develop and implement a costed training plan for
professional development across the workforce for
parents/carers.

3.

What we said we would do

6. Family and adult learning programmes implemented and met Skills Funding
Agency targets. Outcomes show year-on-year improvement in standards. The
OFSTED Inspection in January 2010 graded Wirral’s Lifelong and Family Learning
Service as ‘GOOD’ with ‘OUTSTANDING’ equality and Diversity. OFSTED said that
learners make good progress; they develop good skills which improve their
contribution to family life, their employability prospects and support for career
progression. In 2009-2010 2970 adults took adult and family learning courses.
Overall achievement rate was 95%. In 2009-2010 280 adults were engaged in

5.
• Evidence collected from schools shows the impact Narrowing the Gap activities
are having on raising standards for vulnerable groups.
• Staff training has taken place so good practice is embedded and consistent
approach – schools have evidence that this is having positive impact.
• Number of Family Support workers in schools has increased who have training to
offer support and sign post to other agencies.
• Activities range from raising aspirations to improving boys writing all have
evidence of impact.
• The pilot for the Key Stage 4 Narrowing the Gap project was run in 2009-10. The
purpose of the pilot was to trial a range of strategies and resulted in feedback
from seven schools being shared with the 2010-11 Narrowing the Gap Project
members. The average reduction in the gap in the pilot schools was broadly in
line with the Wirral average. The project continues into 2010-11.
• LOT programme funded to review curriculum development and pupil engagement
• Following on from the ten action research projects in secondary schools last year,
the LA has identified 100 free school meal pupils to target with additional funding.
The performance of these is being monitored through action plans the schools
have devised and termly progress measures.

Completed

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

3. Training plan: training continuing across Early Years including Every Child a
Talker programme which has measured outcomes; impact on practitioner and
parents skills and confidence. Partial action: resource implications for full
training plan.
4. Use of Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) communication language and
literacy development (CLLD) and personal social and emotional development
(PSED) progress to measure impact as well as GAS training for foundation
consultants and Speech and Language Therapy Service. Early Years
Foundation Stage improvement in scores each year.

Status

What we did

33

Page 47

Further reduce the SEN/non-SEN gap at the end of
all Key Stages in the core subjects.

Further develop greater collaborative working
between schools to ensure that all mainstream
schools have effective SEN provision maps that
utilise provide and reliable intervention approaches
and contribute towards raising SEN
standards/achievements.

8.

9.

English as an Additional Language

12. Work with the Virtual School to improve the school
attendance of Looked After Children.

Attendance
11. Work with schools to reduce the level of Persistent
Absence in primary schools and secondary schools.

10. Ensure all schools are making good use of the
Inclusion Development Programme and progression
Guidance materials to improve Quality First Teaching
and enable them to set challenging and reliable
targets to raise the achievements of all pupils

Develop the use of range of intervention strategies to
support under-achieving and under-attaining groups
of pupils, e.g. via dissemination of Action Research
findings of Educational Psychologists (EP).

7.

Inclusion and Special Education Needs

What we said we would do

12. Education Social Welfare Service worked with Virtual School staff to improve the
attendance of Looked After Children. Primary school attendance improved from
95.0% to 95.13% in 2009/10 for Looked After Children. Secondary school
attendance improved from 92.09% to 92.97% and Special school attendance
improved from 88.29% to 89.42% over the same period.

11. The Education Social Welfare Service supported eight targeted secondary
schools with Persistent Absence (PA) above 6.1% the previous year. Seven of the
eight had reduced PA with the other school showing a small increase. Similar work
was undertaken with fifteen targeted primary schools. Ten had improved attendance.

10. LA Officer and SIP monitoring activities together with Ofsted inspections ensure
that in the vast majority of lessons teaching and learning is judged as at least good
for all pupils especially our most vulnerable learners (this includes children with
SEN, those with English as an Additional Language (EAL), Looked After Children
and Gifted and Talented Children).

9. All external school monitoring and evaluation activities (including LA monitoring
activities and Ofsted inspections) identify SEN pupils making at least good
academic and social progress resulting from appropriate school-based
interventions in place.

8. Reasons for underachievement rigorously analysed and critical factors shared
with key stakeholders (including LA officers and SLT school core subject staff)
enabling them to set challenging Narrowing the Gap targets which are shared with
and reviewed by SIP in Autumn term target setting visits.

7. Acceleread/ Accelewrite initiatives completed and disseminated with
improvements in attainment recorded in groups involved.

employability programmes and over 40 people found employment as a result of the
programmes.

What we did

Completed

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

Completed

Status

34

Page 48

15. Ensure that the educational needs of Looked after
Children are identified at an early stage and
appropriate support put in place which tracks
attainment and progress and increases levels of
attainment.

15. Consolidated the system for tracking and monitoring the educational progress of
children in Wirral’s care and used the information to inform interventions to support
attainment by LACES mentors or additional commissioned services. SIPs were
involved in promoting the attainments of children in care through their visits to
schools, supplying attainment information to them through the SIP managers to
inform their questions.

14.
• SIPs have been fully engaged in monitoring and challenging schools over the
outcomes for LAC.
• LACES team has worked with schools to provide support, advice and training
• Wirral’s children in care performed better than National at KS2 and achieved
FFTB Estimate for English and Maths and met targets. 76% made 2 levels of
progress in English and 73% in Maths.
• We exceeded the targets set for KS4 5A-C E&M and improved on last year’s 5AC at 26% (2009 National LAC 14.8%).

13. We have carried out targeted building capacity projects in St. Werburgh’s,
Somerville, Egremont and St Joseph’s Birkenhead. The effectiveness of the
support has been evaluated through staff evaluations, action plans and reviews of
these, OFSTED reports and Head teacher end of year reviews. The evaluations
show improvement in the support for and outcomes of children with EAL.

13. Improve the outcomes for children who have English
as an Additional Language by building capacity in
schools and evaluating the effectiveness of support.

Looked After Children
14. Raise standards of Looked After Children so their
outcomes are comparable to their peers through
capacity building in schools and evaluating the
effectiveness of support.

What we did

What we said we would do

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

Completed

Status

35

Page 49

36

The direction and purpose of the substance misuse strategy was developed in line with recommendations laid down by National Treatment Agency
resulting in new streamlined treatment provision providing appropriate interventions to all those young people who need it. We have continued to work
to improve the involvement of Looked After Children in decision making and positive activities and the Children in Care Council have been actively
involved in interviews for new social workers.

The Teen Wirral Website was launched and young people played a significant part in the development of the website. As part of the launch strategy,
members of the Executive Youth Board promoted the website at school assemblies.

In response to need Wirral Brook has provided a number of sex and relationships workshops in school and in the community. This work is helping
young people including a targeted group of looked after children, to increase their awareness of and information about, personal, social and
relationship issues and enabling them to make informed choices. The number of Eco Schools has increased and young people drive the decision
making process in these schools while also developing an understanding of environment issues.

The work of Positive Contribution is not only about involving young people in decision making but also in addressing the barriers to the involvement of
young people in positive activities. There have been a number of successes with vulnerable and at risk young people. In schools, the use of
Restorative Justice has led to a reduction in the number of school exclusions. Targets set for accommodating young people on their return from
custodial sentences have also been met. In addition the Integrated Youth Support Strategy has contributed to a 14% reduction in the number of First
Time Entrants into the Youth Justice System.

A priority for the Positive Contribution Strategy Group has been the engagement of young people with Learning Difficulties and Disabilities. In 201011 the Wirral Involvement Schools Council was established as a Pupil Council for young people from Special primary and secondary schools on
Wirral. To complement this work the Healthy Schools’ Panel also includes pupils from Special primary and secondary schools. As part of the Healthy
Schools’ Programme, young people were directly involved in the development of resources to support Key Stage 2 and 3 transition and in training
relevant professionals.

In 2010-11 participation of young people in decision making was strengthened through work with the Executive Youth Board, the Youth Opportunity
Fund Grant Panel (YOFGP) and Youth Forums Grant panel. Young people also acted as peer assessors as part of the NHS You’re Welcome
programme which tests the level to which NHS services are young people friendly. Young people directly allocated funding through the YOFGP to
specific projects including capital works leading to the development of provision such as an IT suite and improvement of external play areas. Through
the Play Service, younger children have been involved in the roll out of the Play agenda and have influenced the development of five Play Units and
eleven Play Areas.

“We want to engage all young people more fully in issues affecting their lives and particularly those at risk of disaffection.”

OUTCOME AREA – Positive Contribution

Page 50

Completed

Completed

Completed

Deleted

5. The Annual Partnership Agreement (2010-11) was ratified by both
Connexions and the Youth Offending Service (YOS). Under the new delivery
arrangements, each Young Offender has a named Connexions Personal
Adviser (PA) linked to their nearest home Connexions Centre. Information
Sharing Arrangements (ISA) are embedded to support to Young Offenders and
all young people about to go into custody enabled by positive working
arrangements between YOS and Connexions. There is a Connexions funded
Adviser based in Hindley Youth Offending Institute to support this process.
6. Changes to the Connexions Activity Agreement Pilot (AAP) contract have
resulted in a reconfiguration of the activity agreement. All young offenders
eligible for AAP have been identified and signposted to Personal Advisers linked
to their nearest home Connexions Centre. Appropriate advice and information
was provide to secure engagement in education, employment or training.
7. The current service is to be re-evaluated as there are no attached ETE staff in
YOS co-ordinate and train the mentors.

5. Annual Partnership Agreement between
Connexions and YOS reviewed and refreshed to
sustain positive partnership working as cited during
recent Ofsted ETE inspection.

6. Connexions Personal Adviser support to YOS
reconfigured to include Activity Agreement Advisor
enabling direct access to the programme for Young
Offenders.

7. ETE mentors recruited and trained to support
young people accessing ETE.

In progress
on track

3. Maintained level of training in the use of Restorative Justice in schools.

3. Increase use of Restorative Practice in schools to
reduce exclusions.

4. The 100% target has been met and the processes are embedded in YOS
protocols with all staff provided with appropriate training.

In progress
on track

2. Effective triage has been implemented since April 2010 with 301 young
people assessed to date, of which only 10% have gone on to enter the criminal
justice system. A through assessment is carried out on the young people and
appropriate interventions are put in place to address the issues that may lead to
young people entering the Criminal Justice System.

2. Expansion of the Restorative Justice (RJ) Protocol
to ensure RJ principles are followed effectively and
that all young people entering the youth justice
system for the first time are considered for RJ as
an alternative to prosecution.

4. Ensure all young people are assessed at the point
of entry to Youth Offending Service (YOS) and that
Entry to Employment (ETE) needs are addressed
in intervention planning.

In progress
on track

Status

1. On Wirral, the number of First Time entrants into the Youth Justice System
has been reduced by 14%.

What we did

1. Quarterly analysis of First Time Entrant (FTE) data
to ensure targeted prevention resources to reduce
numbers entering the youth justice system.

Priority: Fewer children and young people are involved in offending and anti social behaviour.

What we said we would do

37

Page 51

10. Three Sixth Form Courtroom Skills Days with 120 sixth formers taking part
were held in the Queen Elizabeth 11 Courts in Liverpool. This work was planned
with Aim Higher and also involved schools from Sefton and Knowsley.

9. Commissioning priorities identified in the Substance Misuse Strategy were
delivered in 2010/11.
• An evidenced reduction in the rates of Alcohol related hospital admissions.
• An Alcohol Guidance document for schools was produced and circulated to
every Wirral school.
• Since June 2010 there have been 100 requests to the Advanced Social
Worker from Arch Initiatives, the CWP Alcohol Service and Wirral Drugs
Service for information / support regarding families.

8. Provision of accommodation for young people who have convictions is
constantly under review.
• We currently have 97.8% in accommodation compared to a national average
of 96%.
• Two workers are embedded in the integrated Re-settlement and Support
Programme which aims to ensure accommodation is available.
• Short term emergency accommodation for homeless young people known to
the YOS is available.
• A protocol is in place with Forum Housing that allows the YOS to refer young
people in custody. This reduces the possibility of young people being
reminded in custody due to the lack of an address.
• Wirral YOS now on the daily accommodation vacancy e-mail list showing
accommodation vacancies available at Birkenhead YMCA

What we did

2. The Youth Opportunity Fund/ Youth capital Fund
will be used to support the Youth Offer

2. The Youth opportunity Fund Grant panel identified set amounts of money to
improve the Youth Hubs and ensured that there was a consistent range of
equipment available. Young people designed the facility provision such as the
inclusion of IT suites and music rooms.

Priority: Children and young people have access to a range of appropriate play and developmental opportunities which meets their needs.
1. Youth Hubs to provide a focus for District
1. District plans for Youth activities ensured there was no duplication Young people
planning, delivering and monitoring of provision to were part of the commissioning process as they identified priorities to be met by
providers commissioned to respond to local needs.
improve the quality of services.

10. Provide Courtroom skills for Wirral young people
giving them the opportunity to explore the
consequences of offending and anti social
behaviour

9. Embed the Substance Misuse Strategy with
identified actions reported through the Integrated
Youth Support

8. Work with current providers to ensure an increase
in accommodation available for young people
whose previous convictions or behaviour might
otherwise prevent them from being
accommodated.

What we said we would do

Completed

Completed

Completed

In progress
on track

In progress
on track

Status

38

Page 52

3. PSS Wirral Young Carers completed an in-depth assessment of both the young
carer and the family’s needs. This highlighted areas of concern which required
support either through specifically targeted activities, one to one work with the young
carer, and specific work with the whole family or referrals onto appropriate agencies.
Young carers were provided with the opportunity to participate in activities which
were fun, age appropriate and interactive with both other young carers and the wider
community. The outcomes achieved included an improvement in morale and an
increase in the young people’s confidence and self esteem.
4. The Step Into Leisure Programme which is aimed at Looked After Children has
been successful in securing funding for a three year activities programme.
Free access to leisure is provided to all Looked After Children and their Carers.
5. Play Rangers promote their summer and winter timetable to local schools
through, assemblies, promotional leaflets and specific project work. Full time
schemes and Lottery play projects are advertised in ‘Let’s Go’ school magazine.
6. Five play units and three lottery funded play projects are based in areas of
identified need providing inclusive and accessible play activity for 2275 registered
children and young people.
7. Play space Satisfaction survey was carried out in six parks (The Rake, Ashton,
Harrison, Linear, Meols, New Ferry and Bromborough) with improved play areas. 61
children and young people were surveyed with the general response was that they
felt the parks are good and that users have choices.
8. Feel safe survey is carried out annually to assess children’s concern when playing
out. The Play Safe action plan addresses the findings of the survey. Four primary
schools have benefited from sessions promoting play safety awareness.
9. 455 Children and young people were consulted on the design and planning of
eleven play areas for improvement.

10. Staff from Technical Services has been allocated to Eco-Schools as part of
Wirral’s response to support the project. Termly Eco-forums launched in November
2010 are available to all schools. Currently 63% of all Wirral Schools are registered
as Eco-Schools.

4. We will continue to ensure that Children in Care
are able to access leisure activity programmes
during the holiday periods.

5. Promote play opportunities for children and young
people on quarterly basis in conjunction with local
feeder schools.

6. Children and young people can participate in a
range of inclusive and accessible play activity in
areas of identified need.

7. Review and evaluate year one PlayBuilder sites.

8. Deliver Play Safe action plan to address fears and
concerns highlighted by children when playing
outdoors.

9. Consult with Children and Young People on the
design and improvement of eleven equipped play
areas.

10. Increase the percentage of Wirral School working
towards eco-schools status which provides
suitable outdoor play areas for all young people.

What we did

3. Young Carers will be taking part in a programme
designed to provide opportunities to explore areas
of concern and also to provide fun and challenging
activities.

What we said we would do

In progress
on track

Completed

Completed

Completed

Completed

Completed

In progress
on track

Status

39

Page 53

What we did

In progress
on track

Completed

Completed

Completed

5. All Children who come into the care of the Local Authority are contacted to ensure
they are able to access participation activities
6. These views have and will feed into the commissioning and direct purchase of
future provision to ensure further take-up of AAP and other opportunities. This will
also help to embed the good practice of this unique practitioner support to young
people in any future bids to secure continued funding for the AAP or similar
activities.
7. Both funds were reduced mid year and this has impacted on the impact as
planned on capital and activity programmes. The grant panel decided to allocate
money to leave a legacy. A number of clubs and the Hubs benefited from

5. All children and young people who come into the
care of the local authority will be directly contacted.

6. Young people will continue to informally evaluate
the Activity Agreement Programme (AAP).

7. A grant panel will be established to oversee the
allocation of the Youth Opportunity and Youth Capital
Funds. The outcomes will be reported to both the

Completed

3. Two young people from the EYB were members of the Children and Young
People’s Task Force consultation group.

3. EYB agree with Older People’s Parliament
appropriate actions for co-working to address
community cohesion concerns.

4. Progress has been made in the involvement of young people and some
challenges have been highlighted such as the timing of most meetings take place
during school hours. There have been discussions with the representatives from the
Older People’s Parliament to identify how this engagement can be progressed.
Representatives from the Executive Youth Board and the Older People’s Parliament
were jointly consulted on the proposed changes to the management of Parks and
Open Spaces. Young people identified priorities for inclusion in the Service
Specification

Completed

2. The Teen Wirral website has been launched and is one of the key points of
engagement with young people for consultation exercises. In addition a wide range
of young people were involved in consultation on the Children and Young people’s
Plan.

2. Establish robust consultation mechanism building
on existing structures to consult with children and
young people on the New Children and Young
People’s Plan.

4. Young people will be trained in recruitment and
selection procedures. Twelve young people in
2010/2011.

Completed

1. Each Youth Forum has an Executive Youth Board (EYB) and United Kingdom
Youth parliament representative to ensure good youth involvement in decision
making. The EYB agreed to use the Youth parliament as one of the key
mechanisms to engage young people in Wirral’s Corporate Consultation. EYB
members distributed the questionnaires in schools to provide more young people
with the opportunity to be involved in the consultation process.

Status

1. The Executive Youth Board (EYB) will annually
review progress, make recommendations for
future activity and report through District Youth
Forum meetings.

Priority: Children & Young People are actively engaged in community and democratic decision making process.

What we said we would do

40

Page 54

refurbishment work including installation of computer suites, outdoor play areas and
quiet rooms.
8. External monitor identified that performance targets had been met and
Commissioning Programme quality standards have also been met. Young people
were trained as Assessors for the NHS You’re Welcome programme. Young people
visit organisations and assess their accessibility to young people. Some
organisations have revised their operating procedures following feed back.
9. Two bodies have been established; The Wirral Involvement Schools Council for
young people from Special Primary and Secondary Schools and The Healthy
Schools Pupil Panel includes young people from Special schools. These involve
young people with Learning Disabilities and Difficulties (LDD) in matters that directly
affect them. Monthly meetings have taken place at the two residential homes and
respite centres for children with disabilities. Young people have influenced decisions
made around food and nutrition, activities and the design of the new residential
centre, currently under development.
10. Young people from Primary, KS3 and KS4 Healthy Schools Pupil Panels worked
with the commissioned company “Dead Cat Dreaming”, staff from the Healthy
Schools team, school staff and school nurses to develop the transition resource
which has now been produced and is awaiting distribution. Pupils from the KS3 Pupil
Panel are developing and delivering training sessions to school staff. The young
people will be invited to act as facilitators at the launch event for Primary
Headteachers in April 2011.

8 The Commissioned youth activities will be monitored
to ensure agreed targets and performance measures
are achieved. Young people will be involved in the
monitoring process.

9. Pupil Panels for pupils from Special Schools will be
developed to increase the involvement of young
people with LDD in the decision making process.

10.Young people will be actively involved in
developing resources to support KS2/3 transition and
will contribute to the launch and training of relevant
professionals

What we did

Positive Contribution and the Integrated Youth support
strategy Groups.

What we said we would do

In progress
on track

Completed

Completed

Status

41

Page 55

42

The proportion of our young people living in low income households is 23% against the national position of 20% and within Wirral there continues to
be great disparities in wealth in different areas. Our multi-agency approach to tackling poverty has focused on a ‘whole family’ approach to tackling
worklessness including improving the reach of children’s centres to vulnerable families. In 2010/11 this has been and will continue to be further
developed through Wirral Children’s Trust involvement in the development of a Local Partnership Child Poverty needs assessment and strategy, and
a revised Housing Strategy.

NEET continues to be a priority but significant progress has been made. In 2010/11 the numbers of 16-18 year olds NEET continue to reduce in a
year on year comparison despite the global recession (8.53% November 2010 compared to 9.28% November 2009). The 2010 Year 11 Activity
Survey has resulted in the highest ever rates of young people into Learning (94.19%) and the lowest NEET at 16 (4.6%). The September Guarantee
targets for an offer of learning for young people in Wirral were met and exceeded. Wirral is an active participant in the Liverpool City Region (LCR)
Employment and Skills agenda and has contributed to the development of the strategy and commissioning framework, which identifies key growth
areas in terms of jobs, income and volumes of activity as:
• The LCR Culture and Visitor Economy (Leisure, Travel and Tourism, Business)
• Liverpool Superport (Business, Retail and logistics manufacturing, maritime)
• The Low Carbon Economy (Science, Technology, Engineering, Energy Management, Waste and Health and Safety)
• The Knowledge Economy (Workforce Development, Health Research, Teaching, Medical, Skills increase at level 4).

Significant progress has been made in implementing 14-19 reform in Wirral. Diploma qualifications and the Key Stage 4/Post 16 Foundation Learning
(FL) curriculum were well under way and the transition arrangements implemented to ensure a smooth transfer of staff and responsibilities from
GMLSC. An Ofsted Inspection survey in November 2009 took us into 2010 with a judgement of the effectiveness of strategic direction, leadership and
management in taking forward the Diplomas and the quality of teaching and learning as good.

Effective partnerships continue to be a strength and this has been demonstrated by the success of the ‘Wirral Apprentice’. This a programme,
originally funded by the Working Neighbourhood Fund, to support employers by fully funding 100 apprentices for 2 years, matched by a pledge of
permanency from the employer. This resulted in the appointment of individuals, 22% of whom were previously Not in Education Employment or
Training (NEET). The programme received approval for funding for a further 50 apprentices and has recently been extended again further with
apprenticeships funded this time via the European Social Fund and targeted towards Wirral residents aged between 16 and 18; or 19-24 and not
currently in employment, education or training (or have not been for a period of 4 weeks out of the last 4 months), or are unemployed or are interested
in an Apprenticeship. There are sufficient funds to support an additional 146 Apprenticeship opportunities. Small to medium enterprises (SMEs) are
given priority, and especially those operating in one of the LCR transformational sectors. Young people and young adults will have started on their
Apprenticeship by March 2011.

“We want to equip our young people better for adult life and particularly to narrow the gap experienced by our most disadvantaged young people in their
prospects.”

OUTCOME AREA – Social and Economic Wellbeing

Page 56

What we did

1.

Continue to progress the 14-19 reform agenda and to
provide a range of opportunities and course of high
quality through the implementation of the:
• 14-19 Plan.
• 14-19 Quality Assurance Framework.
• School Sixth Form Quality Monitoring & Evaluation
Framework.

14-19 QA Framework
• Activity completed during 2010 includes 1:1 monitoring and consultancy
support for Wirral 14-19 providers.
• All providers are delivering against SMART action plans based on outcomes
from their self assessment against the Wirral standards.
• Additional capacity building activity has taken place for all 14-19 providers
around the Ofsted Common Inspection Framework and undertaking self
assessment development.
• All providers submitted organisational self assessment reports to the LA by
December 2010.
• Support has been offered to all 17 Wirral schools with sixth forms in the form
of two days Ofsted inspector 1:1 support. Support activity included a review
of progress against the quality framework and self assessment judgements
with practical advice and best practice being shared.

Implementation of the 14-19 Plan has included:
• In October 2010 the plan was updated refocusing to support full
participation.
• Priority areas being delivered are effective employer engagement,
development of personalised provision with clear progression routes and
focused provision for our most vulnerable learners.

14-19 Reform has progressed at a rapid pace including particularly the development
of Foundation Learning:
• A borough implementation group developed the 14-19 borough strategy and
implementation plan.
• At 14-16 personalised Foundation Learning programmes is being delivered
in partnership with schools and training providers/colleges to complement
the mainstream qualification offer providing alternative pathways to GCSEs
including functional skills required by employers and vocational learning.
• Designed and implemented models including initial assessment and
individual learning plans.
Diploma Development and take up:
• In 2010 3 new diploma lines were initiated: creative and media,
manufacturing and environment and land based.

Priority: Increase the number of young people who are participating and achieving their potential.

What we said we would do

Completed

Completed

Completed

Status

43

Page 57

3.

2.

Support Wirral Care Leavers to access HE and
achieve academic success.

Increase post 16 participation and achievement
through the implementation of the:
• Borough EET Strategy.
• IYS Strategy.

What we said we would do

3. Support Wirral Care Leavers
• The Looked After Children Education Service (LACES) Team have supported
Wirral looked after young people to access the Higher Education Superstars
Programme. Additional support for these young people has also been provided
by Liverpool University through mentoring activity, and industry visits.
• The LACES team have worked strategically with the Local Authority Aim Higher
team to raise the profile through the Gifted & Talented initiative.
• The LACES team have also supported the following:
1. Provision of a part time mentor to support post-16 learners through the
Pathway Team and Connexions.
2. Establishment of a virtual school sixth form support group.
3. The LACES team have also supported the care leavers Employment
Strategy Group.

A refreshed Integrated Youth Support Strategy continues to be implemented:
• Workforce remodelling has resulted in a new Strategic Appointment of Head of
IYS.
• The Strategy of co-location continues with the roll out of co-located area teams
and the focus on Targeted Youth Support via the co-location of Youth Services
at Solar Campus.

2.
The Borough EET Strategy has been implemented and has seen a continuing
reduction in NEET levels in a year on year comparison despite ongoing global
recession.
• Wirral NEET in October 2010 was 9.00% compared to 10.13% in October
2008; a significant decrease in a year on year comparison and represents
sustained improvement in performance.
• Our tracking capacity has improved and is better than regional and national
benchmarks. October 2010 ‘not known’ rate was 4.41% which translates into
511 young people – a reduction since October 2009 (7.16%). The reduction in
NEET when set against the not known return is still noteworthy.
• The numbers of 16-18 year olds in learning continues to increase; 82.48%
October 2010 compared to 78.38% in October 2009.
• The number of 17 year olds NEET has been decreasing year on year from
9.13% of the 17 year old cohort in October 2009 to 8.47% in 2010, a reduction
of 7%.

What we did

44

In progress on
track

Completed

Status

Page 58

Provide young people with confidence and skills, and
information to travel independently using public
transport, or by walking or cycling.

4. Wirral continues to develop its Travel Training programme as a key part of its
Accessibility Strategy. Wirral’s Travel Team assist people who need extra help or
support to make journeys on their own and in safety. Travel Training is a one to one
service that can help those who are not familiar with using public transport, or those
having to make new or unfamiliar journeys, so they can access employment,
healthcare, and other opportunities. Links have been established with Connexions
and local Special Schools to support young people aged 14 plus.

What we did

1. In recognition of the current economic climate and
global recession we will refresh the:
• Borough EET Strategy
• IYS Strategy
• 14-19 Plan
With a specific focus and monitoring of the progress
of vulnerable groups and appropriate preventative
and targeted intervention including:
• Looked After Children
• Teenage mothers
• Young Offenders
• Young People with SEN/LDD
• Those with substance misuse issues

The Wirral 14-19 Plan was updated in October 2010; the key focus of the plan is
raise participation. All Key objectives were achieved:
• Wirral has an effective 14-19 partnership with productive arrangements.
• There is high quality impartial Information Advice and Guidance to support
young people in their choices.
• There are effective links with employers to involve them in sufficient high quality
delivery.
• Flexible, personalised provision with clear progression routes that engages and

As noted above the Integrated Youth Support Strategy has been implemented.

The Borough EET Strategy has been refreshed:
• Wirral NEET in October 2010 was 9.00% compared to 10.13% in October
2008; a significant decrease in a year on year comparison and represents
sustained improvement in performance.
• Our tracking capacity has improved and is better than regional and national
benchmarks. October 2010 ‘not known’ rate was 4.41% which translates into
511 young people – a reduction since October 2009 (7.16%). The reduction in
NEET when set against the not known return is still noteworthy.
• The numbers of 16-18 year olds in learning continues to increase; 82.48%
October 2010 compared to 78.38% in October 2009.
• The number of 17 year olds NEET has been decreasing year on year from
9.13% of the 17 year old cohort in October 2009 to 8.47% in 2010, a reduction
of 7%.
• There are also significant priority groups within the NEET group, including 18
year olds, those with LDD, care leavers, young offenders and teenage parents
for whom opportunities often contract more adversely than for their peers at
times of economic pressure and where targeted initiatives are in place.

Priority: Reduce numbers of 16-18 vulnerable young people NEET in line with LAA targets and the PSA 2010 trajectory.

4.

What we said we would do

Completed

Completed

Completed

Completed

Status

45

Page 59

4. The European Social Fund funded Wirral 14-19 Strategic Partnership Work Wise
project is an employment focused training solution for 16-19 year olds who are
NEET. In 2009/10 it supported 394 16-18 young people to become EET. The
programme aims to support a further 105 NEET young people between September
2010 and March 2011, including young people from vulnerable groups.

4. Extend the employability programmes for NEET
Young people and specifically vulnerable groups and
implement the Wirral Apprenticeship Programme.

In 2010/11 the ‘Wirral Apprentice’ programme received approval for funding for a

3. The Borough strategy and plan has been implemented. All Wirral based training
providers and schools have been supported to produce an action plan for the
implementation of the standards. Progress is currently being monitored by the 14-19
Team. It is expected that all schools will achieve the standards by July 2011.

The PAYP programme provides young people at risk with the support, guidance and
opportunity to access positive activities that they would like to undertake. The
majority of providers commissioned through PAYP have met and exceeded their
targets.

2. The Activity Agreement programme has been targeted on the most vulnerable
targeted in areas of greatest deprivation. It offers young people intensive support
and incentives to take part in activities that will help them move into and sustain
EET. In 2010 16 and 17 year olds who have been NEET for 6 weeks plus and from
a vulnerable group Or NEET for 26 weeks plus Or are in receipt of Job Seekers
Allowance (JSA) were recruited by an AAP personal adviser. Participants achieve
support in identifying barriers and needs and setting out specific steps they should
take to move into EET. They receive an allowance: based on the ‘something for
something’ principles of the Education Maintenance Allowance (EMA) and Job
Seekers Allowance (JSA) based on satisfactory participation. Activities focused on
employability skills; confidence, information, advice and guidance. We have
engaged and progressed more participants than any other area, and continue to do
so despite an increasingly competitive local jobs market for young people.

opportunities has increased from 20 in 2009/10 to 60 in 2010/11. This been the
result of partnership working in the borough and a focus on education based
solutions for young people.
• Young Parents to be Programme funding was secured for the 2010/11
academic year.

• The numbers of young people with SEN / LDD entering local further education

meets the needs of all young people is in place.

What we did

3. Develop Borough Strategy and implementation plan
for the local application of the National standards for
information, Advice and Guidance.

2. Deliver the:
• Activity Agreement Pilot
• Positive Activities for Young People (PAYP)
programmes.

What we said we would do

Completed

46

In progress on
track

Completed

Completed

Status

Page 60

further 50 apprentices and has recently been extended again further with
apprenticeships funded via the European Social Fund and targeted towards Wirral
residents aged between 16 and 18; or 19-24 and not currently in employment,
education or training (or have not been for a period of 4 weeks out of the last 4
months), or are unemployed or are interested in an Apprenticeship. There were an
additional 146 Apprenticeship opportunities which were filled by March 2011. Small
to medium enterprises (SMEs) are given priority.

What we did

3. Supporting young people to access and maintain accommodation:
• Against a baseline of 18 households on 2007/08, a consistently higher number of
households have been assisted in subsequent years – 29 in 2008/09, and 24 in
2009/10.
• The Housing Strategy team monitors the number of young parents who have
been given advice and assistance on housing matters and housed in general
accommodation provision. Data for 2010/11 is not yet available as this data is
collected retrospectively.

2. As noted above the Travel Training programme has been implemented.

2. Improve access to life opportunities such as
education, employment or training, healthcare and
social/recreational opportunities by providing:
• Work wise (scooters, cycles and travel cards)
• Travel Team (travel advice and journey planning)
• Travel Training.

3. Support young people including care leavers to
access and maintain accommodation where needed
by developing and progressing the following:
• Increase the number of households containing
children and young people that are referred to
power Health through Warmth for heating and
insulation grants, thereby reducing fuel poverty
amongst this group.
• Monitor support/accommodation provided to lone
teenage parents.

1. The proportion of our young people living in low income households is 23%
against the national position of 20% and within Wirral there continues to be great
disparities in wealth in different areas. Our multi-agency approach to tackling poverty
has focused on a ‘whole family’ approach to tackling worklessness including
improving the reach of children’s centres to vulnerable families.

1. Implementation of the CES Employment Strategy,
WEDS priorities and Borough EET Strategy including
the ‘whole family’ approach to addressing
worklessness acknowledging the current economic
climate and impact of the recession.

Priority: Contribute to the reduction in levels of child poverty and minimise the number of children and young people living in poor housing.

What we said we would do

47

In progress, on
track

Completed

Completed

Status

Page 61
0.4

-0.6

82.0

25.0
15
40.8
38.5

NI 44e - Ethnic composition of offenders on YJS disposals – Chinese (lower
is better)

NI 45 - Young offender's engagement in suitable education, training and
employment

NI 48 - Children killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents (% annual
change, based on 3-year rolling average)

NI 51 - Effectiveness of CaMHS

NI 52a - Take up of School Lunches - Primary

NI 52b - Take up of School Lunches - Secondary

0.2

NI 44b - Ethnic composition of offenders on YJS disposals – Mixed (lower is
better)

NI 44d - Ethnic composition of offenders on YJS disposals - Black or Black
British (lower is better)

0.3

NI 44a - Ethnic composition of offenders on YJS disposals – White (lower is
better)

-0.3

4.0

NI 43 - Young people within the YJS receiving a conviction in court who are
sentenced to custody (lower is better)

NI 44c - Ethnic composition of offenders on YJS disposals - Asian or Asian
British (lower is better)

1.28

2008/09

NI 19 - Proven Re-offending by young offenders 10 - 17 (lower is better)

Performance Indicator Title

35.9

42.4

16

14.5

81.1

-0.4

0.8

-1

0.6

-0.8

4.6

1.01

2009/10

Actual

Outcome Framework Performance Indicators

-

-

16

-

-

-

-

2010/11

-

-

16

16.3

90.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

5.0

-

2008/9

-

-

16

15.6

90.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

5.0

1.25

2009/10

Targets

-

-

16

6.2

90.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

5.0

1.21

2010/11

Historical
Performance

48

Page 62

28.0
9.60
19.1
71
15.3

77.4

79.1
61.1
10.2
67
4.8

11.2
96.3

99.2

NI 55 - Obesity in Reception aged Children (lower is better)

NI 56 - Obesity in Year 6 aged Children (lower is better)

NI 57 - Participation in Sporting Activities

NI 58 - Emotional Health of Children in Care (lower is better)

NI 59 - Percentage of initial assessments for children's social care carried
out within 7 working days of referral

NI 60 - Percentage of core assessments for children's social care that were
carried out within 35 working days of their commencement

NI 61 - Timeliness of adoption

NI 62 - Stability of placements: number of placements (lower is better)

NI 63 - Stability of placements: length of placement

NI 64 - Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years or more (lower is better)

NI 65 - Child Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time. (lower is
better)

NI 66 - LAC cases which were reviewed within required timescales.

NI 67 - Child Protection cases which were reviewed within required
timescales

2008/09

NI 53 - Prevalence of Breastfeeding at 6 - 8 weeks from birth

Performance Indicator Title

99.3

94.0

17.1

1.7

64.5

6.5

87.5

75.9

68

12.2

82

20.6

9.30

28.0

2009/10

Actual

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2010/11

-

20.4

9.37

29.9

2009/10

84

20.9

9.5

35.1

2010/11

100.0

100.0

15.0

5.0

70.0

10.0

68.0

80.0

82

100.0

100.0

15.0

5.0

70.0

10.0

68.0

80.0

72

100.0

100.0

14.0

4.0

72.0

9.0

80.0

80.0

76

Insufficient data to set targets

-

19.9

9.23

17.0

2008/9

Targets
Historical
Performance

49

Page 63
8.0

4.0
74.7
48.3
33.6
59.5
53.4
128

NI 76 - Number of schools where less than 55% achieve L4 KS2 English
and maths (lower is better)

NI 78 - Number of schools where less than 30% achieve 5+ GCSE including
English and maths (lower is better)

NI 79 - Achievement of level 2 at 19

NI 80 - Achievement of level 3 at 19

NI 81 - Inequality gap at level 3 aged 19 (lower is better)

NI 82 - Inequality gap at level 2 aged 19

NI 84 - 2 or more A*-C GCSE Science

NI 85a - Post-16 participation in physical sciences (Physics)

75

NI 73 - Achievement at level 4 or above in both English and maths at Key
Stage 2
50.2

49

NI 72 - Achievement of at least 78 points across the Early Years Foundation
Stage

NI 75 - 5+ GCSE A*-C (Inc English and maths)

12

145.8

NI 70 - Reduce emergency admissions to hospital relating to unintentional
and deliberate injuries to children (lower is better)

NI 71 - Young Runaways

64.3

2008/09

NI 68 - Percentage of referrals to children's social care going on to initial
assessment

Performance Indicator Title

133

60.5

57.5

31.8

47

75.7

4.0

11.0

53.8

74.2

52

14

122.6

74.7

2009/10

Actual

-

69.2

-

-

-

-

1.0

8.0

58.7

75.0

58

-

-

-

2010/11

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

52.0

-

-

-

-

72.0

2008/9

-

58.7

-

-

-

-

2.0

13.0

55.2

77.0

57

14

129.8

72.0

2009/10

Targets

-

60.6

-

-

-

-

2.0

16.0

57.0

78.0

57

15

-

75.0

2010/11

Historical
Performance

50

Page 64
79
31.9
86
78
62.0
62.0
10.5
21.7

NI 91 - Participation of 17 year olds in Education or Training

NI 92 - Narrowing the Gap at FSP (lower is better)

NI 93 - Progression of 2 levels English KS1 - KS2

NI 94 - Progression of 2 levels maths KS1 - KS2

NI 99 - LAC reaching L4 English at KS2

NI 100 - LAC reaching L4 maths at KS2

NI 101 - LAC achieving 5+ A*-C ( Including English & maths)

NI 102a - FSM/Non FSM gap at KS2 English and maths (lower is better)

65.9

NI 88 - Schools offering Extended Services

24

4.9

NI 87 - Secondary Schools Persistent Absence (lower is better)

NI 89b - Average time taken for Schools to come out of Category (lower is
better)

86.4

NI 86 - Secondary schools judged as having good or outstanding standards
of behaviour

-

276

NI 85c - Post-16 participation in physical sciences (Maths)

NI 89a - Number of Schools judged as requiring Special Measures (lower is
better)

246

2008/09

NI 85b - Post-16 participation in physical sciences (Chemistry)

Performance Indicator Title

24.5

7.4

50.0

59.0

80

84

31.3

83

N/A

1

85

4.5

90.9

306

270

2009/10

Actual

21.6

7.8

55.6

51.9

85

86

27.6

-

-

-

99

-

-

-

-

2010/11

0

0

85.3

6.4

88.0

-

-

2009/10

0

0

100

5.5

90.0

-

-

2010/11

22.8

13.5

45.0

40.0

-

-

31.5

21.0

7.4

44.0

44.0

79

86

30.2

21.0

6.25

56.0

53.0

82

87

29

Target setting under review

-

-

65.9

-

-

-

-

2008/9

Targets

N/A

Historical
Performance

51

Page 65
1370
-6.3
21.6
0.08
24.2

9.1

NI 111 - First Time Entrants into the Youth Justice System (lower is better)

NI 112 - Reduction in the Under 18 Conception Rate (lower is better)

NI 113 - Prevalence of Chlamydia (lower is better)

NI 114 - Permanent exclusions from School (lower is better)

NI 116 - Proportion of Children in Poverty (lower is better)

NI 117 - 16 to 18 year olds who are not in education, employment or training
(NEET) (lower is better)

95

29.0

NI 106 - Young People from low income backgrounds progressing to
University

NI 109 - Delivery of Sure Start Centres

46.4

NI 105 - SEN/Non SEN gap at KS4 English and Maths (lower is better)

-

51.2

NI 104 - SEN/Non SEN gap at KS2 English and Maths (lower is better)

NI 108 - Key Stage 4 attainment for BME Groups

91.0

NI 103b - SEN statements within 26 weeks (Including exceptions)

-

97.0

NI 103a - SEN statements within 26 weeks (Excluding exceptions)

NI 107b - Key Stage 2 attainment for Black and minority ethnic groups (Any
Other White Background) (lower is better)

37.6

2008/09

NI 102b - FSM/Non FSM gap at KS4 English and maths (lower is better)

Performance Indicator Title

9.1

-

0.07

24.9

-21

-

100

-

-3.5

-

49.7

52.4

99.2

100.0

36.9

2009/10

Actual

8.2

-

-

-

-

-

100

-

-8.3

-

52.3

47.7

94.8

95.6

34.9

2010/11

7.4

-

0.08

21.0

-

1600

100

-

-

-

-

-

90.0

95.0

-

2008/9

7.1

-

0.07

17.0

-28

1570

100

-

6.0

-

42.0

52.0

92.0

98.0

-

2009/10

Targets

6.9

-

0.07

25.0

-39

1500

100

-

-

-

41.0

50.0

94.0

100.0

35.8

2010/11

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Historical
Performance

52

Page 66

240

100
626
21

72

23

NI 162 - Number of Entry Level qualifications in numeracy achieved

Local 1268 - Percentage of schools achieving healthy school status in the
National Healthy School Programme

Local 1400 - Number of looked after children (lower is better)

Local 1700a - Participation in and outcomes from youth work: Participation

Local 1700b - Participation in and outcomes from youth work: Recorded
Outcomes

Local 1700c - Participation in and outcomes from youth work: Accredited
Outcomes

1442

1767

NI 161 - Learners achieving a Level 1 qualification in literacy

Local 1702 - Reduce the level of vehicle nuisance (lower is better)

55.2

NI 148 - Care Leavers in EET

15524

91.4

NI 147 - Care Leavers in Suitable Accommodation

Local 1701 - Number of reported incidents of anti-social behaviour (lower is
better)

22.3

2008/09

NI 118 - Take up of Formal Childcare by Low-income working families

Performance Indicator Title

1312

14125

21

73

18

629

100

624

2043

54.2

89.6

-

2009/10

Actual

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2010/11

95.0

-

2009/10

95.0

-

2010/11

1749

17917

-

-

-

590

100

1420

17558

25

63

21

590

100

1400

13949

28

64

22

565

-

Indicator under review

Indicator under review

Target setting under review

95.0

-

2008/9

Targets

N/A

Historical
Performance

53

Wirral Children and Young People’s Plan
2011-2012

DRAFT 4 MARCH 2011

Page 67

contents
Vision for children and young people

1

Introduction

2

Children and young people in Wirral
Children’s Services
An update since our last plan
Consultation with young people
Our priorities for 2011-12 and how we will deliver them
Being Healthy
Staying Safe
Enjoying and Achieving
Making a positive contribution
Social and economic wellbeing
Managing our Services

3
6
7
11
16
18
23
28
34
38
41

Safeguarding
Integration of services
Integrated processes
Commissioning
Resources
Performance Management
Equality and Diversity

41
42
43
43
43
44
45

In Conclusion

45

Appendices
Appendix 1: The Structure of Wirral Children’s Trust
Appendix 2: Wirral Youth Engagement Structure
Appendix 3: Performance Framework
Glossary

48
49
50
56

Page 68

vision for children and young people
Children and young people are society’s future and with them rest our hopes
and aspirations. Supporting their interests and welfare is paramount. Our
most important principle is that we will secure an active partnership of
parents, carers and services, working together to deliver the best outcomes
for all our children and young people and thus enabling them to fulfil their
potential.
Our vision is
“To enable Wirral’s children, young people and families to access services
quickly in order to be secure, healthy, have fun and achieve their full
potential.”

<Picture S Clarke>

<Picture D Armstrong>

Councillor Sheila Clarke
Lead Member for Children’s Services
and Lifelong Learning
Chair of Wirral Children’s Trust

David Armstrong
Interim Director of Children’s Services
Children and Young People’s
Department

<Signature S Clarke>

<Signature D Armstrong>

Page 69

1

introduction
We write this plan in a time of change. Wide ranging changes to policy and public sector
funding and organisational re-structures such as the National Health Service are in
development. The impact of these changes will be far reaching for all partners and will mean
that the way services for children, young people and their families in Wirral are delivered will
change.
In consideration of this evolving national picture Wirral Children’s Trust has agreed to
produce a one year Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) for 2011-12 rather than a
new three year plan to follow on from the 2008-11plan. This plan is an overarching strategic
plan for all organisations providing services for the children and young people of Wirral. It will
help us to make further progress by focusing our efforts and funding on priority areas which
we know will make a difference.
The plan covers all the services for children and young people in the Borough. It is a
strategic document which will be supported by detailed operational delivery plans. It covers
every aspect of support for children and young people from before birth to their 19th birthday
and beyond that if they have a disability or have been in care. Its aim is to improve the lives
of all children and young people and enable them to achieve their potential.
Wirral Children’s Trust aims to make sure that all children are safe, healthy, enjoy life, can
achieve to their full potential and are prepared for adult life and work. Thorough needs
assessment ensures the work of partners is focused on those areas that are the most urgent
to address, and we continue to take every opportunity to work with disadvantaged children
and to find ways to improve their life chances.
Through our multi-agency strategic groups all agencies working with children and young
people in Wirral have contributed to this plan. The views of service users contribute to a
continuous assessment of our services. Consultation with a range of children and young
people has been carried out to find out what they think should be our priority areas for the
future. We have listened to what external inspectors such as Ofsted have told us and acted
on their recommendations. We have reviewed our information and performance data and
through needs analysis identified emerging areas for focusing activity around our priority
areas.
With this new plan comes clear priorities and identified activities to deliver them, we also
describe how we will measure our success through improved outcomes. Published
alongside this new plan is a review of the final year of our 2008-11 CYPP which outlines
what was achieved in 2010-11.
In this time of change one thing remains constant, the level of commitment shown by the
children’s workforce across all organisations in Wirral. Their professionalism, dedication and
enthusiasm for improving the lives of all children, young people and families provides a
strong foundation to rise to any challenges presented and to deliver our vision.

Page 70

2

children and young people in Wirral
Wirral is home to about 76, 000 children and young people aged 0-19. If Wirral had just 100
children:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

49 would be girls, 51 would be boys;
93 would be white British and 7 would be from ethnic minorities, most probably 1 or 2
would speak English as an additional language;
20 would be living in families in receipt of Child Tax Credit, (<60% median income),
Income Support or Job Seekers Allowance and 19 would be living in lone parent families.
For some school would be a refuge from home; 3 would have been allocated a social
worker, 1 would be in care and less than one would be subject to a child protection plan;
Most young people would make a positive contribution to their community. Only 1 would
get in to enough trouble to be dealt with by the Youth Offending Team;
14 would have a special educational need, 2 of whom would have a statement, most
probably for moderate learning difficulty;
Overall most children would be healthy however approximately 5 of the 31 children in
primary school would be classified as obese;
80 would achieve 5 ore more A*-C grades at GCSE, however 14 would be struggling to
read fluently by the time there were 11, and 9 would not be in any form of education,
employment or training at 16.

Age

0-19 Population Pyramid
19
18
17
16
15
14
13
12
11
10
9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0
3000

Females
Males

2000

1000

0

1000

2000

3000

Number of Children/Young People

Figure 1: Wirral children and young people population pyramid. Data Source: Office of
National Statistics (ONS) mid 2009 population figures.
Wirral is a good place to grow up and most children and young people will fulfil the
aspirations that we and their parents and carers have for them. However we know that not
every child or young person will fulfil their potential and some children and young people

Page 71

3

experience real disadvantage and hardship. Their childhood is not easy and they require
higher levels of support from the agencies which are there to help them and their families.
There are great disparities in Wirral related to wealth. In some areas there are high levels of
poverty and deprivation which impacts upon children’s lives and their development. One of
the key challenges for us is to eliminate the differences in outcomes linked to deprivation
and poverty. This plan outlines key activities underway to make an impact and is aligned to
the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) local child and family poverty strategy which outlines
how all organisations in the borough will work together to drive forward an anti-poverty
agenda.
Figure 2 illustrates the stark differences across Wirral; in deprivation illustrated by the use of
national Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) data; and in outcomes for children and young
people living in different Wirral districts.
We believe that the children and young people of Wirral are its greatest potential assets; we
want to ensure that all of them have the best possible start in life.

Page 72

4

Wallasey

Figure 2: Outcomes and deprivation in Wirral

Wirral West
Population of children 0 – 17 16624
% Key Stage 2 L4+ inc Eng & Ma 82.6
% 5+ GCSEs at A*-C inc Eng & Ma 71.5
Permanent School Exclusions per 10,000 1
% Eligible for Free School Meals 13.8
Pregnancy rate for 15-17 per 1,000 21.6
Children In Need per 10,000 349
Children with Protection plan per 10,000 18
Children in care per 10,000 37
% NEET 3.4

Population of children 0 – 17 19924
% Key Stage 2 L4+ inc Eng & Ma 72.9
% 5+ GCSEs at A*-C inc Eng & Ma 48.1
Permanent School Exclusions per 10,000 4
% Eligible for Free School Meals 32.8
Pregnancy rate for 15-17 per 1,000 39.6
Children In Need per 10,000 780
Children with Protection plan per 10,000 35
Children looked after per 10,000 73
% NEET 10.7

Birkenhead

Page 73

Population of children 0 – 17 19784
% Key Stage 2 L4+ inc Eng & Ma 68.7
% 5+ GCSEs at A*-C inc Eng & Ma 50.0
Permanent School Exclusions per 10,000 3
% Eligible for Free School Meals 41.5
Pregnancy rate for 15-17 per 1,000 47.8
Children In Need per 10,000 1289
Children with Protection plan per 10,000 60
Children looked after per 10,000 170
% NEET 14.2

Wirral
Population of children 0 – 17 (2007) 68305
% of pupils attaining L4+ inc Eng & Ma at Key Stage 2 (2010)
in schools maintained by Wirral 75
% of pupils attaining 5+ GCSEs at grade A*-C inc Eng & Ma
(2010) in schools maintained by Wirral 58.7
Permanent school exclusions (2009/10) per 10,000 2
% Eligible for Free school meals from January 2010 Census
(excluding part time pupils) 25.8
Pregnancy rate for 15-17 year olds (2009) per 1,000 34.5
Children In Need (2009/10) per 10,000 759
Children with a Child Protection Plan (2009/10) per 10,000 33
Children looked after (2009/10) per 10,000 85
% 16-18 Years olds not in education, employment or training
(NEET) (Dec 2010) 8.0

Wirral South
Population of children 0 – 17 11973
% Key Stage 2 L4+ inc Eng & Ma 79.2
% 5+ GCSEs at A*-C inc Eng & Ma 64.3
Permanent School Exclusions per 10,000 2
% Eligible for Free School Meals 17.9
Pregnancy rate for 15-17 per 1,000 21.0
Children In Need per 10,000 417
Children with Protection plan per 10,000 6
Children looked after per 10,000 34
% NEET 4.8

5

children’s services
Wirral Children’s Trust is a strategic partnership which consists of all organisations who work
with children, young people and families. It exists to improve outcomes for them through a
belief that this can be done more effectively by working together than by single agencies or
organisations. When we use the term ‘we’ in this plan it means the Children’s Trust
partnership. The governance structure of Wirral Children’s Trust is shown in Appendix 1.
Services are delivered by a number of agencies working together through a shared vision
and values. We organise our work around children and young people; what they say, where
they are and what they need. We value every child equally and strive for positive outcomes
for all of them. As outlined in it’s memorandum of understanding Wirral Children’s Trust has
defined governance arrangements to provide an effective and transparent framework and
clarity of roles and responsibilities. An important principle is that effective use is made of
public resources for the benefit of children, young people and families.
Of the 76,000 children and young people living in Wirral not every child requires the same
services. Universal services are designed to meet the sorts of needs that all children and
young people have; they include early years provision, mainstream schools, health services
and play and recreation. Within that broadly 22% (16,800) children at any one time will have
additional needs which require some extra support through targeted services; these may be
individual or multi-agency services. These services support groups of children and their
families such as those with special educational needs or disability or those requiring
parenting support. A high proportion of these children will be living in the more
disadvantaged areas. Within this group of 16, 800 approximately 2,300 children have more
complex needs which require a high level of specialist support. These children would
otherwise be at risk of poor outcomes and include young people subject to the child
protection register, those with serious health issues or involved in youth offending.
With targeted and specialist support the aim is to support children and young people for
appropriate periods of time then where possible to meet their need within universal
provision. Through its Preventative Services Board Wirral children’s services prioritises and
invests in multi-agency early intervention and prevention work. The approach taken is childcentred and delivered within the community with an aim to involve and empower whole
families. This approach not only improves outcomes for families earlier and reduces the
number who escalate into requiring additional support but reduces costs in the long term.
Figure 3: Wirral triangle of need

Page 74

6

Children’s Services is governed by the following principles:
• Every child matters
• Keeping our children safe through effective safeguarding
• Improving outcomes for children, young people and their families
• Organising around children and young people, taking account of their views
• Operating across the partnership as a single integrated Children’s Service
• Continuing to build on excellent partnership working
• Integrated strategy and governance
• Integrated delivery and processes
• Early intervention and prevention
• Targeted support for vulnerable groups
• Equal value and common standards
• Fitness for purpose utilising new approaches and technology to improve our efficiency
and service
• Responsibility and accountability.

an update since the last plan
External inspection across children’s services is carried out by Ofsted. Their overarching
annual assessment of Wirral children’s services judged us to continue to perform well. Our
safeguarding and looked after children services have been inspected and are graded as
‘good’. The large majority of services, settings and institutions inspected are good or better
and most outcomes for children and young people are good. In addition Ofsted evaluates
that our last children and young people’s plan priorities were well chosen.
Over the last three years we have made significant progress in many areas and some of the
highlights are outlined below. However we are not complacent and realise that much more
needs to be done.

Being Healthy
•

•
•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•

We have redesigned the Health Visiting Service to deliver the ‘Healthy Child Programme’
to all families with children under 5 years, with additional services for families with higher
levels of need.
Health Visitors coordinate the early support to families who care for infants with a
disability.
The Family Nurse Partnership Programme has recruited 103 first time teenage mothers,
and is working intensively with them from early in pregnancy until the baby is two years
old.
We have sexual health service provision in all our participating secondary schools.
All of our schools have achieved healthy schools status.
We have ‘Excellent’ child and adolescent mental health services.
We continue to commission weight management services for children and young people,
including children with disabilities, leading to increased confidence and self esteem and
changed attitudes to types of food eaten.
Our Aiming High for disabled children strategy has been implemented with short breaks
available to all children with complex and continuing healthcare needs.
Our local children’s hospice, Claire House, provides short breaks and home nursing care
for children with life threatening/life limiting illness.
Young people with a disability are better supported in their transition to adult services.

Page 75

7

However, the inequalities in health in different areas of the borough related to child and
family poverty remains a concern and further work is required in engaging families in
preventative programmes to impact on this. Rising obesity levels at ages 0-5 remain a
concern as do increases in alcohol and drug use. The rate of unplanned teenage
conceptions is still too high and we continue to rise to the challenge of targets to improve
young people’s sexual health such as Chlamydia screening.

Staying Safe
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

‘Good’ grades were awarded to both Safeguarding and Looked After Children’s services
in the Ofsted announced inspection in January 2011.
The Ofsted unannounced inspection of front-line child protection services in July 2010
found much strong practice and no areas requiring urgent action.
Partnership working in safeguarding has been strengthened through investment in the
Local Safeguarding Children Board.
More children are safe through improvements in learning the lessons from Serious Case
Reviews and critical incidents.
Children’s Social Care services have been restructured to improve capacity in front line
social work services.
More children are receiving effective support through the Team Around the Child (TAC)
approach resulting from training, new integrated working guidance and auditing practice.
More vulnerable families are receiving support in their communities through Children’s
Centres.
Preventative initiatives such as multi-systemic therapy have been effective in diverting
young people from custody.
More children with a disability are receiving improved short break provision.

However we still need to keep our collective focus on child protection as sharp as ever
recognising that children can face dangers from many sources. Our numbers of looked after
children are much higher than our comparator authorities and we must continue to work to
safely reduce them. We must also continue to make improvements in the local arrangements
for adoption, fostering and private fostering and reduce reliance on costly residential
placements wherever possible. A strong continued focus on early intervention and
prevention activity is imperative in order to improve life chances and to enable us to save
costs in the longer term.

Enjoying and Achieving
•

•

•
•
•

Educational standards continue to be high. There have been improvements in
performance in Early Years and the attainment gap has been narrowed. At Key Stage 2,
attainment in Maths and English has improved and continue to be above national
average. At Key Stage 4, the results for 5+ A*-C GCSE or equivalent grades including
English and Maths exceeded national averages and national gains and exceeded
statutory targets set.
Improvements in performance in National Challenge schools were at a higher rate. Only
1 school was now below the Key Stage 4 threshold of 30% 5+ A*-C GCSE or equivalent
grades including English and Maths and has now converted to academy status.
81% of primary schools and 91% of secondary schools were judged to be good or
outstanding.
All schools achieved the Extended Schools Full Core Offer.
An inspection of family and lifelong learning showed that the quality of provision was
good with a number of outstanding features.

Page 76

8

•

•

•
•

Good progress was made with 14-19 developments and in inspection judged provision
and leadership to be strong. Ten Diploma lines are running with 148 learners on these
programmes. Foundation Learning programmes at Key Stage 4 are starting to show
demonstrable impact.
All Children’s Centres have been established and there has been a successful
implementation of the Children’s Centres OFSTED framework following statutory
designation. Two inspections have shown provision to be good with outstanding
features.
There has been successful removal of surplus capacity in schools ensuring public money
is spent to maximum effect.
New school buildings have been developed and implemented at Woodchurch High
School and Park Primary Schools with significant financial investment.

However there are still discrepancies in the achievement of children and young people from
low income families particularly at age 16 which requires further targeted action. We must
make sure that our looked after children and those with special educational needs achieve
the best possible educational outcomes. We need to improve early years and childcare
settings so that more are good or better.

Positive Contribution
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

There has been excellent progress in reducing anti-social behaviour and the number of
first time entrants to the Youth Justice System through the use of a range of effective
preventative initiatives.
Extensive developments designed by young people in play provision.
New extended youth provision is provided through re-developed youth hubs.
The ‘Teen Wirral’ website keeps all young people up to date with activities and advice.
There are strong successful arrangements to involve children and young people from a
range of backgrounds in decision making process and planning services.
There is an effective network of school councils including special schools.
Disabled young people are active in breaking down barriers to their inclusion in learning
Aiming High for Disabled Children and Families has been successful in helping young
people to develop independent living skills.
Multi- agency referral pathways are in place at Accident and Emergency to provide
appropriate interventions for young people presenting with substance misuse issues.

We will need to deliver greater efficiencies to maintain and develop our key services. A
review of the services that comprise our Youth Support will be carried out to create an
innovative integrated operational model with a focus on front line services and vulnerable
and at risk young people.

Social and Economic Well Being
We have made significant impact by continuing year on year reductions in the number of
young people NEET despite the global recession.
• Wirral met and exceeded exacting targets for the offer of a place in learning via the
September Guarantee.
• The Wirral Apprentice has placed 167 young people into suitable jobs, 22% of whom had
previously been without work or an education placement; the programme received
national recognition.
• The redesign of the local offer for learners with Learning Difficulties and Disabilities (LDD)
supported by the Wirral brokerage project.

•

Page 77

9

Improved attainment and quality for those on FL programmes, who historically have not
achieved, therefore, making them better equipped to access employment.
• The new Apprenticeship Training Academy developed by the Local Authority, Tranmere
Football Club and The De Vere Hotel Group accepted its first cohort of 60 young people
in February 2011.
•

However, although it has reduced, the numbers not in education, employment and training
remain too high and more work is required to sustain the participation post 16 of vulnerable
young people in education, employment and training, in particular those with LDD and
looked after children. The ongoing recession and narrowing the gap between experiences
and economic well being in different parts of the Borough remains a challenge.

Service Management
All partners in Wirral work effectively together with a clear shared vision. There are
transparent governance arrangements through Wirral Children’s Trust to drive partnership
working and improvement and to ensure appropriate levels of challenge. The positive
outcomes delivered for children, young people and families achieved since our last plan are
evidence of our strong integrated working, clear vision and ambition.
However, a challenge will be to ensure that front line services are not affected by reductions
in public sector funding across all members of the Trust. We will need to improve our
integrated planning and be more innovative to maximise the impact of our spending and
provide value for money. We recognise the need to improve our integrated commissioning
and ensure that the capacity of the voluntary community and faith sector is increased to
provide the most appropriate services directly in communities.

Page 78

10

consultation with young people
Active engagement of children and young people in decision making processes was a key
priority in our previous plan and much progress has been made in this area. Increased
opportunities both formally through arranged groups and informally through youth clubs and
our ‘teen Wirral’ website are available for young people to positively impact on the issues
that affect them. Organisations on Wirral have signed up to the ‘Charter of Participation’ to
enhance participation of children and young people in designing, developing and evaluating
their services. The structure of the formal engagement processes is shown in Appendix 2.
In Wirral in 2010 a large scale public consultation event was held supported by the work of
an independent Children’s Task Force. The findings of the Task Force and the results of the
public consultation have been used to inform the priorities identified in this new plan.
In the preparation of this new one year plan a specific consultation exercise involving
children and young people was carried out to inform the priorities. Children and young
people across the Wirral were asked for their views on what the best and worst things about
living in Wirral were and what they would like to see changed.
The consultation was designed to be as inclusive as possible to ensure the views of a wide
range of children and young people across Wirral were captured. Workshops were held with
a range of groups in different areas of the borough including: youth clubs, disabled young
people, Wirral Multi-Cultural Organisation Youth Club, the Children in Care Council, Wirral
Involvement Schools Council which consists of young people from special schools, the
Youth Inclusion Project and Response. 220 young people were involved in the feedback.
Workshops and discussions were facilitated by youth workers and included a graffiti wall art
project for disabled young people.
It is not possible to do justice to the richness of all the ideas we received in this plan but the
key points can be outlined.
Many young people told us that Wirral had good outdoor spaces and parks and that youth
club and sports and leisure facilities provision was positive. They thought the standard of
education through schools and colleges was high and had positive views on other services
such as the NHS, the police and support services such as Response and Brook. Many
young people were positive about the local facilities offered such as shops and thought that
the transport network was good.
Although young people were positive about much youth provision they still thought more
could be done and that more provision should be cheaper or free. They also wanted cheaper
transport so they could access more facilities. Some young people wanted better inclusion
for all through increased targeted opportunities and also better access. They also wanted to
be safer on the streets and had concerns about drugs, alcohol, bullying, gangs and antisocial behaviour and violence. The young people also wanted more job opportunities and
affordable housing. They wanted their views to be heard and thought that more should be
done to celebrate their achievements and to dispel negative adult perceptions.
The ‘word clouds’ below illustrate what is best and worst about living in Wirral with the size of
the text representing the number of young people who had strong feelings about these
topics.
<Word clouds under development>

Page 79

11

The consultation feedback has informed the priorities in this new plan. In addition, key areas
in which young people defined where they thought additional activities were required are
outlined below. In response planned actions on how these requests will be addressed in
2011/12 are also included. We are very grateful to all the young people who contributed to
the consultation and we will ensure that those involved receive feedback on how their views
have informed this plan.
Area
Being
Healthy

Young People
Defined Activities
More opportunities to
get fit through sporting
activities

Action in 2011/12
School based programmes continue to be
available for children and young people to
participate in during 2011-12 including the School
Swimming Programme, School Sports Coaching
Programme (4-19), Sportivate (14-19), Nationwide
School Games (4-19),Change 4 Life Sports Clubs
(11-19) and Active Lifestyles (4-7) is available in
28 schools. From September 2011 the funding for
the Schools Sports Partnership will go direct to
schools and we will endeavour to ensure that
schools continue to provide sporting activities
similar to those listed above.
Wirral Leisure Centres will continue to run the
‘active families’ programme during 2011/12 and
following consultation with children and young
people, including the Executive Youth Board, are
developing more fitness suite sessions for 13 -16
year olds and exploring the potential for
partnership with other non council providers (e.g.
Fire Service and Private Gyms). Activities for
young people and children will continue to be
developed via the introduction of a junior Invigor8
membership.

Staying Safe

Healthy food should
be available in schools

Improvements have been made to the standard of
school meals to include menus that offer more
choice and use fresh meat and fish and a wider
selection of fruit and vegetables. Schools and
catering providers have worked with the National
Healthy Schools Programme to reduce the number
of high fat/sugar options available to pupils
throughout the school day and to provide healthier
alternatives.

Reducing anti-social
behaviour

There is a continued focus on anti-social
behaviour by partner organisations working
together in Wirral. There is a Community Safety
Partnership which has a clear plan for work to
continue in this area in 2011-12.
An extensive training programme is in place to
provide foster carers with information on drugs
awareness and intervention approaches in order to
support young people in their care and reduce
these risk taking behaviours

Foster carers should
be given more training
including alcohol and
drugs awareness

Page 80

12

Area

Enjoy &
Achieve

Positive
Contribution

Young People
Defined Activities
Meetings with social
workers should be
more child focussed

Action in 2011/12
Training for social workers is in place which
focuses on the priority of seeing, speaking and
listening to children and young people.

Bullying is a
community issue and
there should be wider
support outside of
school hours

Bullybusters a confidential online service is
available to all children and young people in Wirral
outside of school hours. Wirral schools have clear
anti-bullying policies in order to effectively deal
with bullying whenever it occurs.

More school and after
school activities
associated with
independent living
including cooking

We will ensure that schools are made aware of the
needs and children and young people. We will
provide advice, support and guidance through the
school improvement traded service.

Young people should
have input in
determining sanctions
in schools

Schools are responsible for their own disciplinary
procedures and most involve students in
determining these. All schools have school
councils which are democratic bodies with student
representatives. All students in a school can raise
topics for discussion at their councils and work
with teachers for positive and effective outcomes
for the good of the whole student population.

Help with money
management and
budgeting

We will ensure that schools are made aware of the
needs and children and young people. We will
provide advice, support and guidance through the
school improvement traded service.

Children in care
should be provided
with extra support in
schools for education,
exams and
attendance

We will continue to provide support through 1-1
tuition and other similar programmes. The
attendance and attainment of children in care will
continue to be a high priority. Wirral council is the
'corporate parent' of looked after children and
works with all schools to ensure that children in
care receive the support they require. All children
in care have personal education plans monitored
by their individual social workers and students can
ask for more help from teachers and their social
worker will support them. The Virtual Head
Teacher will continue to champion the needs of
looked after children. The Children in Care Council
will enable the views of children in care to be
raised and shared with schools. We will continue
to provide high quality training for Designated
Teachers. Individual schools and the Education
Social Welfare service assess the attendance of
all pupils and support is provided to those who
have issues with attendance.

There should be more
routes to listen to the
views of young people

We will explore with partners further ways to
extend opportunities for young people to give us

Page 81

13

Area

Young People
Defined Activities

Action in 2011/12
their views.
We are developing Teen Wirral as a means to
engage with more young people.

More diversionary
indoor activities to
accommodate those
with disabilities

Commissioning of services for disabled children
and young people will build this requirement into
its programme.

Better communication
of the youth activities
that are on offer

Youth engagement groups oversee the
development of Teen Wirral to ensure it
communicates to diverse groups of young people.

More positive
promotion of the
talents and
achievements of
Wirral young people to
break down adult poor
opinion

Additional work is scheduled with the Older
People’s Parliament to break down adult poor
perception of young people.

Feedback to young
people on
consultations

Feedback letters will be sent to young people
involved in youth Parliament and Youth Voice
Conference.
Teen Wirral will be updated to ensure young
people have current feedback on consultations.

Social &
Economic
Well Being

More opportunities for
organised trips and
residential sleepovers
for disabled children to
build lasting
friendships.

This request is incorporated into the
commissioning specification for Aiming High for
Disabled Children and families.

More diversionary
activities to reduce
teenage gangs

Commissioning of Positive Activities for Young
People has included work to tackle negative
behaviour in young people in its requirements.

Reduction in the costs
associated with Youth
Clubs and more free
activities

Work is underway with providers of youth services
to agree consistent and reasonable pricing.

More inclusive
opportunities for
workplace experience
courses

Work is underway to review provision for
vulnerable young people in Wirral which will
include inclusivity. The findings of the Wolf review
of vocational education will also be responded to.

Better access for
wheelchair users and
people with other
disabilities

The Aiming High for Disabled Children programme
will continue, a key part of which is to ensure the
views of parents of children with disabilities and
the children and young people themselves are

Page 82

14

Area

Young People
Defined Activities

Action in 2011/12
listened and responded to.

More affordable
transport

A new Local Transport Plan for Merseyside is
currently being planned and will develop the
transport strategy further for 2011 and beyond.

More apprenticeships
should be available for
young people

Work with the National Apprenticeship Service will
continue to create a more diverse range of
apprenticeship opportunities alongside the ‘Wirral
Apprentice’ programme.

Young people should
be given support to
find a job

A range of impartial and robust information advice
and guidance is available for young people.
Employability programmes will be extended
particularly for vulnerable young people.

There should be more
affordable housing
available for homeless
young people

Following an extensive housing market and
housing viability assessment and consultation a
revised housing strategy is being produced which
will include housing for young people.

There should be more
community events to
build better
relationships so that
families are not
isolated

Work is underway to further develop parenting and
family support including support for families in the
home through the outreach model.

The Aiming High for Disabled Children Team facilitated an artistic project to create a ‘graffiti
wall’. Starting with a blank canvas the group was given freedom to express themselves on
the things that mattered most to them. The wall illustrates some of the issues highlighted
such as more opportunities for residential trips for disabled children to build lasting
friendships, more after school activities associated with independent living, better access for
wheelchair users, more positive promotion of the achievement of young people to break
down adult poor opinion and more ways for the views of young people to be heard.

Page 83

15

our priorities for 2011-12 and how we will deliver
them
As outlined in our introduction to this plan wide ranging changes that will impact on children’s
services are underway.
Key changes include the re-organisation of the health service through the removal of
Primary Care Trusts (PCTs), the move to General Practitioner (GP) commissioning of
services and the integration of Public Health into Local Authorities. Reduced and redistributed funding means there are changes in key areas such as Local Authority support
for schools, youth opportunities and early intervention and prevention services. In addition
many public sector organisations will have lower budgets and will employ fewer staff.
Such significant change requires the flexibility to identify new opportunities and to utilise
innovative approaches. We will work to ensure efficiencies can be gained through effective
partnership working across Wirral and the wider area. Throughout any changes clear focus
on front line services particularly in high risk areas such as safeguarding and health services
for children will remain a priority.
With the backdrop of this significant change we will ‘build aeroplanes in the air’, maintaining
and improving key services whilst they are re-designed and re-developed for the new era of
public service that is upon us.
Table 1: Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-12 Priorities
Being Healthy

Staying Safe

Enjoying &
Achieving

Making a
Positive
Contribution

Social and
Economic Well
Being

Inequalities in the
health of children
and young people
are reduced.

Vulnerable children,
young people and
families receive
targeted, early
intervention which
meets their needs
and improves their
life chances.

Schools and settings
are supported to
improve educational
provision and
attainment.

Fewer children
and young people
are involved in
offending and anti
social behaviour.

Increased numbers
of young people
participating and
achieving their
potential.

Outcomes for young
children and families,
especially the most
vulnerable, are
improved through
effective early years
support and
intervention.

Children and
young people
have access to a
range of
appropriate play
and
developmental
opportunities
which meet their
needs.

The numbers of 1618 vulnerable young
people NEET are
reduced.

The harmful
consequences of
risk taking
behaviour are
reduced.
All children and
families are
encouraged and
supported to
achieve and
maintain a healthy
weight and lifestyle.
The Child Health
Strategy is
effectively
implemented.

There are improved
outcomes for
children in care and
care leavers.
There are improved
outcomes for
children and young
people in need of
protection.
Children live in
communities where
they feel safe, and
where harmful
behaviour is actively
addressed and
reduced.

The outcomes of
Wirral Council’s
consultation are
implemented to
ensure cost effective
and high quality
services.
There is improved
provision, choice and
outcomes for children
and young people
with Special
Educational Needs

Page 84

Reduce child
poverty and
homelessness.

Children and
young people are
actively engaged
in community and
democratic
decision making
processes.

16

and/or disability.
There are improved
outcomes for children
and young people
where poverty and
disadvantage affect
their achievement.

Page 85

17

being healthy
“We want to improve all children’s health and wellbeing and to narrow the gap in
health outcomes experienced by our most disadvantaged children.”
This section is about the steps we are taking to encourage children young people and their
families to stay healthy throughout their lives. It covers physical and mental health as well as
children’s happiness and emotional well being.

Where we are now
Significant progress has been made locally around reducing the under-18 conception rate
with a steady decline maintained in recent years. Wirral currently experiences a rate of 41.3
conceptions (per 1000 15 to 17 year olds) (2009 data), which is largely in line with the
national average and ahead of the rate for the North West. Some areas of Wirral still
experience above average levels of under-18 conceptions, with a correlation shown between
teenage pregnancy “hotspot” areas and areas of high social deprivation.
The local Teenage Pregnancy Action Plan continues to be implemented by Wirral’s Teenage
Pregnancy Steering Group, with clear accountability established and regular progress
monitoring. Targeted interventions are conducted with young people most at risk and
support is also addressed for those young people who are already pregnant or who do
become parents at an early age.
As the 2010 national strategy draws to a close, Wirral continues to drive forward the teenage
pregnancy agenda on a local level and the action plan will be refreshed for 2011/12 in light
of national recommendations. Priorities for future progression include identifying
collaborative work streams with risk taking behaviour and child poverty, with a primary focus
on early intervention.
The National Child Measurement Programme was completed for 2009/10 with 97% of Wirral
school children measured in reception and year 6 which was above the regional and national
average, the highest coverage for Cheshire and Merseyside Primary Care Trusts and
second highest for the North West. 2009/10 results show a slight increase in the percentage
of children in reception that are overweight from 14% to 14.3% and an even greater increase
in children that are obese from 9.6% to 10.6%. For Year 6 school children, there was an
increase in the percentage that were overweight to 15.2% compared to 14.1%, however,
there was a slight decrease in obesity from 20.6% to 20.3%. Wirral therefore has above the
regional and national average of overweight and obese children. This has been reflected in
the continued priority to commission weight management programmes for children and
young people and the breastfeeding peer support programme from 2011-13
Workforce development for risk taking behaviour, to include substance misuse and sexual
health continues to be a priority for Wirral Children’s workforce. An Advanced Social Work
and Support Worker Post have been recruited and linked into relevant partner agencies.
New support workers have been recruited to support children and young people whose lives
may be affected by parental substance misuse. Pathways to reduce the number of Hospital
admissions are under review along with the current specialist substance misuse treatment
plan and needs assessment. Life Education Centres have been commissioned to deliver
workshops to Wirral primary school assemblies with the emphasis on targeting parents and
a range of activities are on offer through young people’s substance misuse services.
Wirral’s health service in schools programme has gone from strength to strength since it was
launched in November 2009 with over 25 secondary schools actively hosting the service and

Page 86

18

the annual target number of young people supported through the programme was exceeded.
Each participating schools has a School Nurse and Youth Worker on site at the weekly clinic
and additional services to enhance the programme around smoking cessation, mental health
and contraception provision are being commissioned from 2011/13.
Wirral PCT funding has supported the implementation of the Multi-Systemic Therapy (MST)
programme across Wirral and increased the number of clinical posts within CAMHS service
for children with a learning disability, in an attempt to target more vulnerable groups who are
harder to reach. 24 hour cover remains in place via the Acute hospital for those children and
young people admitted to hospital who require emergency psychiatric provision based on
presenting need.
In 2011/12 there will be wide ranging changes in the health landscape. The primary aim of
the White Paper, Healthy Lives, Healthy People is to help people live longer, healthier and
more fulfilling lives, and improve the health of the poorest fastest. It sets out to describe the
future of Public Health within Local Authorities, giving it a higher priority and dedicated
resources through the allocation of ring-fenced public health funding from within the overall
NHS budget. Local authorities are to have a new role in improving the health and wellbeing
of their population taking on primary responsibility for health improvement and the
establishment of a Health and Wellbeing Board. The being healthy outcome group will be
well placed to influence the commissioning of services to improve outcomes for the health
and wellbeing of children and young people and reduce inequalities and child poverty across
Wirral.

Our new priorities
Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

Inequalities in the
health of children
and young
people are
reduced.

1. Ensure all children’s centres have fully
integrated plans to reduce the inequalities
in oral health:
• Continue the Fluoride Milk Programme
and the Bright Smiles Programme.

NI 112 Under 18
conception rate.
VSB08 Teenage
Pregnancy.

2. Protect children from the harmful effects of
tobacco:
• Reduce the proportion of women who
continue to smoke throughout
pregnancy.
• Ensure all Children’s Centres have fully
integrated plans on smoking cessation.
• Train smoking cessation advisors within
children’s centres.
3. Ensure breastfeeding remains integral part of
obesity programme:
• Develop pathway to ensure peer support
programme is embedded in ante natal
clinics within children’s centres.
4. Review pilot to increase uptake of Healthy
Start vitamin supplements amongst eligible
women and children and implement
recommendations.

NI 55 Obesity among
primary school age
children in Reception Year.
NI 56 Obesity among
primary school age
children in Year 6.
Proportion of women who
continue to smoke
throughout pregnancy.
NI 51 Effectiveness of child
and adolescent mental
health (CAMHS) services.
The Operating Framework
for the NHS in England
2011/12.

5. Develop CAMHS to include:

Page 87

19

Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

• Appropriate accommodation for 16 – 17
year olds who require in-patient
placements.
• 24 hour cover in partnership with the
Acute Hospital.
6. Ensure all children are referred for a health
Assessment at the point of becoming looked
after and have a clear health plan that is fully
implemented.
7. The Cheshire and Merseyside Regional
Protocol for the Health of Looked After
Children is followed in all cases.
8. Healthier Homes strategy to be implemented
across all providers of residential care and
foster care.
The harmful
consequences of
risk taking
behaviour are
reduced.

1.

2.

Implement the Children and Young
People’s Substance Misuse Plan which
addresses issues around drugs and
alcohol.
• Develop a package of interventions for
families at risk of substance misuse to
improve parenting skills.
• Refresh pathways to reduce the number
of Hospital Admissions, including
Accident and Emergency Department
(A&E) attendance and improve links to
Young Peoples Services.
• Provide resources to A&E, out of hours to
engage young people at point of contact
within A&E.
• Ensure safeguarding of children of drug
using parents by regular liaison between
adult drug treatment services and Young
Peoples Services in line with key
recommendations within “Working
Together for the Whole Family”.
• Develop a social marketing campaign to
divert young people with less-severe
substance misuse problems away from
developing more severe problems and
substance-related harm.
Implement the Teenage Pregnancy
Strategic Action Plan.
• Monitor progress and performance of
‘The Family Nurse Partnership’ across
Wirral for vulnerable first time teenage
parents.
• Monitor and evaluate targeted support for
teenage parents delivered through
Children’s Centres.
• Monitor and evaluate collaborative work
streams between teenage pregnancy
and the drug and alcohol strategy,

Page 88

NI 39 Alcohol harm-related
hospital admission rates.
NI 112 Under 18
conception rate.
Narrow the gap in
educational achievement
between children from low
income and disadvantaged
backgrounds and their
peers (NIs 102, 104, 105).
NI 113 Prevalence of
Chlamydia in under 20
year olds.
NI 70 Reduce emergency
hospital admissions
caused by unintentional
and deliberate injuries to
children and young people
(Also reported through
Staying Safe).
The Operating Framework
for the NHS in England
2011/12.

20

Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

including partners involved in HSIS to
ensure the relationship between alcohol
misuse and poor sexual health outcomes
is recognised and acted upon by
professionals.
• Monitor the Chlamydia positivity rate and
maintain and develop targeted outreach
service.
3.

Implement the Sexual Health Plan including
increasing the proportion of eligible young
people screened for Chlamydia.
• Increase availability and access to young
people friendly sexual health and
contraceptive services through HSIS and
EHC in Pharmacies.

4.

All children and
families are
encouraged and
supported to
achieve and
maintain a
healthy weight
and lifestyle.

Monitor the home safety equipment
scheme and develop an action plan to
include actions for each Children’s Centre
aimed at reducing local accidental injury
rates.
To achieve a reduction in the prevalence of
overweight and obese children through the
implementation of the childhood obesity steering
group action plan to
1. Monitor the weight management providers
to ensure key performance targets are met,
including provision of a service for pregnant
women.
2.

Ensure Body Mass Index (BMI) data from
childhood screening programme (aged 22½ years) is collated and used as a
measure to inform appropriate
commissioning of services.

3.

Ensure Wirral’s ‘Taste for Healthy Food’
Policy is cascaded across all public venues
and residential settings.

4.

Deliver Healthy Eating Groups to parents
with very young children through Children’s
Centres, together with advice on choosing
healthier lifestyles based on the ‘Change 4
Life’ programme and link in with the ‘Start 4
Life’ campaign.

5.

Ensure all Children’s Centres and Early
Years practitioners have access to the
Health, Exercise, Nutrition for the really
young programme (HENRY) Core Training.

6.

Promote the Health Promoting Early Years
Programme across all early years’ settings.

7.

Deliver the enhanced National Child
Measurement Programme and ensure a

Page 89

NI 55 Obesity among
primary school age
children in Reception Year.
NI 56 Obesity among
primary school age
children in Year 6.
NI 57 Participation in
sporting activities.
NI 53 Prevalence of breast
feeding at 6 – 8 weeks
from birth.
The Operating Framework
for the NHS in England
2011/12

21

Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

robust pathway in place from identification
to engagement in specialist weight
management interventions
Implement key targets within the Breastfeeding
Action Plan:
8. Deliver the breastfeeding strategic action
plan to increase initiation and prevalence of
breastfeeding at 6 – 8 weeks and support
Hospital and Community settings to
achieve the UNICEF Baby Friendly
Initiative.
The Child Health
Strategy is
effectively
implemented.

1.

2.

Review the Healthy Child Programmes
(Pregnancy 0–5 years and 5–19 years
programmes) in line with the public health
white paper intentions, and implement the
revised programme within the
commissioning framework from 2012
onwards.

NI 55 Obesity among
primary school age children
in Reception Year.

Ensure recruitment of health visitors in line
with the Coalition Government’s call to
increase family nurse partnership provision
to improve pregnancy outcomes, child
health and development and parents’
economic self-sufficiency.

NI 58 Emotional health of
looked after children.

3. Improve services for disabled children:
• Review and redesign children’s therapy
services and wheelchairs and equipment
services to meet ‘Aiming High for Disabled
Children’ strategy.
• Review current ‘short breaks’ provision and
reshape as necessary to meet expressed
needs of parents/carers and children/young
people.
• Liaise with GP consortia to consider the
commissioning of parenting support and
consultation and engagement services for
families with disabled children.
• Implement Wirral Transition Protocol (for
young people with disability moving to adult
health services) including review and
revision of service specifications to ensure
appropriate engagement of adult health
services.
• Develop and implement diagnosis and care
pathway for children, young people and
adults with ADHD and ASD.

Page 90

NI 56 Obesity among
primary school age
children in Year 6.

NI 51 Effectiveness of child
and adolescent mental
health (CAMHS) services.
The Operating Framework
for the NHS in England
2011/12

22

staying safe
“We want to support children earlier, closer to their communities and wherever
possible by supporting families.”
This section is about ensuring that all children grow up in a safe caring environment free
from harm and neglect.

where we are now
Improvements in safeguarding in Wirral are evident, as recognised through Ofsted
inspections. The Ofsted unannounced inspection of front-line child protection services in July
2010 found much strong practice and no areas requiring urgent action. ‘Good’ grades with
some outstanding features were awarded to both Safeguarding and Looked After Children’s
services in the announced inspection in January 2011. The Local Safeguarding Children
Board (LSCB) are targeting areas of concern and through their performance sub-committee
are conducting an multi-agency audit focusing on cases which feature parental mental health
and neglect to improve practice in these areas.
The Council has invested considerably in front-line social work practice to strengthen
safeguarding practice and allow for improvements in decision making and collaborative work
with partners. However, there is room for further embedding of improvements, particularly
our focus on children living in neglectful circumstances. We recognise there are children
living in families where neglect has been and continues to be a feature of their life and the
outcomes are often poorer for this group of children.
A strong continued focus on early intervention and prevention activity is imperative in order
to improve life chances and to enable us to save costs in the longer term. More children are
receiving effective support through the Team Around the Child (TAC) approach resulting
from training, new integrated working guidance and auditing practice. The range of early
intervention and preventative services is extensive including the short break provision for
children with disabilities and their families. Through our new Joint Commissioning Group
clear needs analysis will further target the most vulnerable children, making sure they
receive timely and appropriate support when they first need it.
Our numbers of looked after children are higher than our comparator authorities and we
must continue to work to safely reduce them. Increasing numbers of children in care are
living in family placements, we will strengthen our focus on securing children in families
where they belong, outside the care system where this is safe, so that outcomes are
improved and resources are more effectively targeted. We must also continue to make
improvements in the local arrangements for adoption, fostering and private fostering and
reduce reliance on costly residential placements wherever possible.
The quality of social care services provided to children is improving; development plans will
focus on making services even more child-centred, supporting each child to be safe and
achieve their unique potential. The Children in Care Council Promise ensures that there will
be a single conversation directly with children regarding the quality and provision of service
afforded to them. In light of the new Children in Care regulations we have increased capacity
to ensure that Independent Reviewing Officers will spend more time with children to ensure
that the partnership is providing the optimum service for children in care.
Policy changes, particularly the Munro Review, will have a significant impact on partnership
practice regarding children in need. This review will also provide a driver to increase the time

Page 91

23

in direct work with children through reducing bureaucracy, and making sure we learn lessons
from serious child care incidents more effectively.

our new priorities
Priority
Vulnerable
children, young
people and
families receive
targeted, early
intervention and
support which
meets their needs
and improves their
life chances.

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

1. 11 Co-located area teams will deliver multiagency support to children involved in the
Common Assessment Framework (CAF) and
Team Around the Child (TAC) processes to
support early identification of children’s needs.
2. Lead professionals across all partners will be
trained to conduct the CAF and TAC
processes.
3. Central referral for family support developed
with partners and providers to ensure families
get the right support at level 3 and 4. The
project will deliver more effective family
support.
4. Further investment will be delivered in Family
Group Conferencing to support children on the
edge of care to remain with their family
resulting in fewer looked after children.
5. Adolescent Crisis Team pilot intervention
project working with identified young people on
the edge of care at early stage to provide
support to prevent them becoming looked after.

NI 68 Percentage of
referrals that progress to
initial assessment.
NI 60 Percentage of core
assessments carried out
within 35 days.
Local 1405 Percentage
of initial assessments
carried out within 10
working days.
NI 51 Effectiveness of
child and adolescent
mental health (CAMHS)
services.
Local 1400 Reducing the
number of looked after
children.
Reducing the number of
first time entrants
(FTE’s) into the youth
justice system.

6. The Family Intervention Service (FIP) and
Children and Young People’s Department joint
working protocol will reduce agency overlap
between hard to reach families and provide
support to prevent homelessness.

Reducing re-offending.

7. Young people with specific difficulties and their
families can access direct support to prevent
family breakdown through the Children and
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
Children in Need team.

Effectiveness of family
support (service user
feedback).

8. Effective needs analysis including intelligence
from CAF and TAC processes will inform the
commissioning of preventative programmes.

Reducing custody
numbers.

Provision of short breaks
for disabled children
delivered.

9. Increased accessibility and capacity of short
breaks for disabled children. 300 short breaks
will provided in 2011/12 based on the provision
being in place from the expected date.
10. The Integrated Youth Support Strategy will
align and target services more effectively. For
detail see Positive Contribution section.

Page 92

24

Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

There are
improved
outcomes for
children in care
and care leavers.

1. Review of in house residential provision and
implement the findings.

NI 61 Timeliness of
adoptions.

2. Complete the review of local foster care provision
by:
• Developing a ‘Sufficiency Plan’ that identifies
need and the quality and capacity of provision
locally.
• Develop the work of the Looked After Children’s
monitoring group to ensure that children’s care
plans are discharges in a timely way and that
children and young people achieve permanence.
• Implement the ‘Move on Scheme’ to increase
capacity within ‘Fostering Futures’.
• Implement the revised Special Guardianship
policy.
• Implement the Foster Care recruitment strategy
in order to increase the number and variety of
foster families and carers.
• Through the Foster Carer Task Force review
foster carer payments and implement the
proposals.
• Monitor the impact of the new foster carer
marketing strategy.

NI 62 Stability of
placements (number of
placements).

3. Complete the review of Independent residential
provision by:
• Developing a ‘Sufficiency Plan’ that identifies
need and the quality and capacity of provision
locally.
• Develop the work of the Looked After Children’s
monitoring group with continuous review of
residential placements for effectiveness and
value for money.
• Implementing the recommendations of the
review of ‘Stop Gap’ Services.
4. Implement the Corporate Parenting Strategy and
Action Plan to ensure that::
• Partners deliver the Children in Care ‘Promise’.
• The opportunities presented by the children in
care council are promoted to looked after
children.
5. Implement the recommendations of the National
Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence and
Social Care Institute for Excellence (NICE:SCIE)
audit for looked after children.
6. Improvements in care planned are delivered
through:
• Records of assessments, plans and reviews
reflect a focus on children’s views and wishes
and the cultural and identity needs of children
and families and provide a clear picture of their
life story and reasons for decisions.

Page 93

NI 63 Stability of
placements (length of
placements).
NI 66 LAC reviews
completed within
timescales.
NI 99 LAC reaching L4
English and KS2.
NI 100 LAC reaching L4
Maths at KS2.
NI 101 LAC achieving 5+
A*-C GCSE (including
English and maths).
NI 147 Care leavers in
suitable accommodation.
Reduce the use of
Agency Foster Care
Provision.
Local 1400 Reduce the
number of looked after
children.
Increase in the number
of special guardianship
orders.
Increase in the number
of approved carers.
Reduce the use of
independent sector
residential provision
Ofsted Unannounced
and Announced
Inspections.
NI148 Care leavers in
education, employment
and training.

25

Priority

How we will deliver
•

•

There are
improved
outcomes for
children and
young people in
need of
protection.

How we will be judged

Improve the consistency of the quality of
personal education plans for the youngest
children in care and the pathway plans for care
leavers.
Improve the information, advice and guidance
and the breadth of the 14-19 curriculum
provision so that more care leavers remain in
education, training and employment.

1. Implement the findings of the Governments
response to the Munro Review including serious
case reviews.
2. Ensure consistent thresholds for safeguarding
services are set and reviewed by the LSCB.
3. LSCB will review safeguarding supervision
across the partnership with an aim to developing
a common approach.
4. Implementation and monitoring of the refreshed
Private Fostering policy.
5. LSCB are embedding through the performance
sub-committee a multi-agency audit tool on 12
cases which feature parental mental health and
neglect using the neglect graded care profile.
6. LSCB and Adult Safeguarding Partnership Board
develop joint working with a view to improving
‘think family’ approach. Key priorities are parental
mental health and transitions to adulthood.

SCR’s continued to be
evaluated by Osted as
adequate or good.
Findings from Ofsted
unannounced and
announced Inspections.
Audits report that there is
effective supervision and
key issues.
Increased use of the
graded care profile and
increased referral for
parental mental health.
NI 64 Child Protection
Plans lasting 2 years or
more.
NI 65 Child Protection
Plans for a second or
subsequent time.
NI 67 Child protection
cases reviewed within
timescales.

Children live in
communities
where they feel
safe, and where
harmful
behaviour is
actively
addressed and
reduced.

1. To strengthen human resources provision across
the partnership the Local Authority Designated
Officer (LADO) will implement the refreshed
allegations against staff procedure; reported to
the LSCB on a quarterly basis.
2. Through the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment
Conference (MARAC) process the Family Safety
Unit (FSU) will support victims of domestic abuse
and fast track children into investigation and
support mechanisms.
3. Dedicated commissioned services from Barnados
continue to provide interviews for all young
people who run away and refer safeguarding
cases when appropriate.
4. For 2011-12 the Council will continue to
commission the services of Bullybusters, a
confidential helpline service for victims of bullying
and their families. The Council’s anti-bullying
policy will be disseminated in schools.

Page 94

NI 71 Young Runaways.
NI 48 Children Killed or
Seriously Injured in Road
Traffic Accidents.
NI 70 Reduce
emergency hospital
admissions caused by
unintentional and
deliberate injuries to
children and young
people.
Reducing the number of
first time entrants (FTE’s)
into the youth justice
system.

26

Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

5. The Integrated Youth Support Strategy which
includes Youth Offending and Anti-Social
Behaviour services will align and target services
more effectively. For detail see Positive
Contribution section.
6. To continue to address road safety issues the
partnership road safety action plan will be
refreshed for 2011-12 with a focus on reducing
the number of children killed or seriously injured
on roads.
7. Continue to deliver the confidential online
counselling service through Kooth.com.
8. Review of hospital admissions 0-18 due to injury
to be carried out and implementation of the
findings of the review including improved
understanding of the cause of admissions to
influence commissioning of services.

Page 95

Reducing re-offending.
Reducing custody
numbers.
Local 1701 Reported
incidents of anti-social
behaviour.

27

enjoying and achieving
“We want to raise the achievement of all our young people and to narrow the gap in
attainment experienced by our most disadvantaged children.”
This section is about ensuing that all young people are able to make the most of and enjoy
the wealth of educational opportunities available. It is about supporting all children to reach
their potential and ensuring the most vulnerable receive special attention.

Where we are now
Educational standards for students of all ages in Wirral are high, they continue to improve
and for most National Indicators we perform in line with or better than national and statistical
neighbour figures. The quality of educational provision for the children and young people in
Wirral is high as evidenced by the Ofsted profile of inspections for primary, secondary and
special schools. All schools achieved the Extended Schools Full Core Offer.
Improved educational standards are dependent on many factors. One of the most important
is the quality of leadership and management in schools and settings. A successful
programme of leadership and management development is in place in schools which has
been used nationally as an example of best practice.
Another factor is high quality teaching and learning and schools continue to raise standards
in this area. Behaviour and attendance programmes have been effective with increased
attendance and a reduction in permanent exclusions in secondary schools. As funding
transfers to schools, we will provide a high quality traded school improvement service
designed to meet the support needs of schools. Partnership and sharing good practice will
be a fundamental aspect of that programme.
We have continued to make progress with both the Primary and Secondary school places
reviews. As a consequence we have reduced the number of surplus places meaning that
increased funding is used to support our children in schools rather than supporting empty
school places.
We have successfully implemented the Children’s Centres OFSTED framework and
inspections of Children’s Centres have been good or outstanding. Capital funding has
enabled 114 private, voluntary or independent settings to improve outdoor learning
environments and provision improving quality in early years foundation learning. There is
free entitlement to 15 hours per week childcare for 3 and 4 year olds and funding for 2 year
olds has been introduced with clear evidence of impact. Providing effective, high quality
universal and targeted services for 0-5 year olds through the Sure Start programme will
remain a high priority.
Foundation Learning programmes at Key Stage 4 have started to show demonstrable
impact. Ten Diploma lines were implemented. We will follow the outcomes of the Wolf review
and continue to promote an effective Key Stage 4 curriculum. We will continue to challenge
underperformance at post-16.
We will respond positively to the implications of the Schools’ White Paper and subsequent
Education Bill. We will implement the new schools system in line with government policy,
supporting schools converting to Academy status and we will develop and implement a high
quality traded school improvement services to support schools and settings to provide high
quality education.

Page 96

28

Narrowing the gap in attainment between those affected by disadvantage and other children
in Wirral is a high priority. This is particularly the case at Key Stage 4 where the gap is wider
in Wirral that the national and statistical neighbour figures. We will continue to focus on
reducing the achievement gap for vulnerable groups of children such as those with special
educational needs and children in care.

Our new priorities
Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

Schools and
settings are
supported to
improve
educational
provision and
attainment.

Implement the new schools system in line with
government policy, including supporting schools
converting to Academy status, and continue to
review and improve special school provision.

Successful conversion to
Academy status.

1. Support schools to convert to Academy status,
agree protocols for sharing and reporting
performance and agree the services that these
schools will buy-back.
2. Support schools in their clustering
arrangements.
3. Implement a programme to review and improve
Special School provision.
Develop and implement high quality traded school
improvement services to support schools and
settings to provide high quality education.
4. Ensure that schools and other stakeholders are
fully aware of the implications of the Schools
White Paper, the transfer of school
improvement grants from the LA to schools and
the implications of schools converting to
Academies.
5. In consultation with head teachers and
governors, design and market a school
improvement traded service that generates
income to fully cover all costs and meets the
needs of schools.
6. Further improve capacity within and across
schools by developing a framework for schoolto-school support, where appropriate with
external partners.
7. Liaise with relevant partners in the Learn
Together Partnership to review identified
services, Governor Support Service; Primary
Assessment; Home Education; Newly Qualified
Teachers, and, if cost effective, develop
protocols and a framework for sharing services
across agreed LAs.
8. Support the co-ordination of the Schools Sports
Partnership programme in line with the Schools
Forum decision of January 2011. Support the
increase of inter- and intra-competitions taking
place in schools and encourage schools to use
the Olympic and Paralymypic values to develop
pupil's personal and social education.

Page 97

Feedback from schools
converting to Academy
status.
High uptake of school
improvement services
offered by the LA.
NI 89 Reduction of number of
schools judged as requiring
special measures and
improvement in time taken to
come out of the category
Reduction in number of
schools below floor
standards
NI 86 Number of schools
judges to have good or
outstanding standards of
behaviour.
An agreed framework for
school-to-school support is in
place.
Revised School Improvement
Strategy and ‘Banding’
policies are in place and
effectively communicated.
NI 72 Achievement of at least
78 points across the Early
Years Foundation Stage.
NI 73 Achievement at level 4
or above in both English and
maths at Key Stage 2.
NI 75 5+ GCSE A*-C (Inc
English and maths).
NI 92 Narrowing the Gap at

29

Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

9. Support secondary schools to implement
curriculum changes in line with expected new
secondary review, including vocational
education and roll-out the curriculum offer of
Foundation Learning programme at KS4 in line
with Foundation Learning Implementation Plan.
10. Take account of Alison Wolf’s review of 14-19
vocational education. Implement any curriculum
changes as advised by the DfE.

Early Years Foundation
Stage.
NI 114 Permanent exclusions
from School.

Raise standards in schools and settings, with a
particular focus on schools below the floor
standard, on schools in danger of falling into an
OFSTED category and on supporting “satisfactory”
schools to become good or better.
11. Revise the School Improvement Strategy in the
light of the Schools White Paper, the changing
roles of the LA and schools and the
development of school improvement traded
services. Revise the ‘banding’ system in line
with national policy and consult with schools on
the uses and implications of the new system of
categorising schools.
12. Provide advice and guidance for schools on the
implementation of the revised OFSTED
inspection framework (September 2011).
13. Identify and support schools below floor
standards through monitoring and challenge
and through intervention from primary English
and Maths Intervention Consultants and
seconded secondary staff.
14. Ensure schools below floor standards, Schools
Causing Concern or in an OFSTED category
make sufficient progress to be removed in the
shortest possible time.
15. Implement a revised SIP-like programme as an
entitlement for schools that are judged as
satisfactory, band 3 or below.
16. Continue to increase the accuracy of
assessment and consistency of moderation at
transition points.
17. Implement the proposed new reading test for 6
year olds.
18. Review, streamline and improve
communications between CYPD and its
schools and partners utilising effective IT
systems.

Outcomes for
young
children and
families,
especially
the most
vulnerable,
are improved

1. Review the Early Years and Children’s Centre
Strategy to ensure Best Value and alignment to
corporate objectives for Child Poverty.
2. Further develop the use of data so that
priorities, resources, support and performance
management are more targeted and cost
effective.
3. Further develop Parenting and Family Support:

Page 98

NI 72 Achievement of at least
78 points across the Early
Years Foundation Stage.
NI 92 narrowing the gap
between the lowest achieving
20% in Early Years
Foundation Stage profile and

30

Priority

How we will deliver

through
effective
early years
support and
intervention.

4.
5.

6.

7.

8.
9.

10.

How we will be judged

• Promote improved outcomes for young
children.
• Promote future good behaviour in older
children.
• Through the outreach model, continue to
develop family support in the home.
• Support the improvement of the home
learning environment.
Continue to develop support for the most
vulnerable children.
Improve Early Years & Childcare settings
resulting in more good or better OFSTED
outcomes and no inadequate judgements.
Further improve early communication and
language development through more effective
speech and language services and through
continued CLLD and ECAT programmes
Improve access to information through
community based provision specifically
Children’s Centres and community settings.
Ensure Local Authority retained function duties
are met
Improve the number of Early Years settings and
Schools delivering flexibility in relation to the 15
hour free entitlement.
Review the current strategic approach to the
development of and support for childcare new
places and their sustainability.

the rest.
NI118 Take up of formal
childcare by low income
working families.
NI 109 Number of Children’s
Centres.
Numbers of children and
families accessing Sure Start
Children’s Centres (SSCC)
services.
The proportion of children
accessing SSCC services
from disadvantaged
backgrounds.
Number of EY settings
judged as inadequate.
Number of EY settings
delivering flexibility in relation
to the 15 hour free
entitlement.
Improvement in the number
of early years settings
achieving good or better
OFSTED judgements.
Demonstrable reduction in
behavioural management
issues being identified as
reason for CAF & TAC.
Increase the number of
children appropriately
referred to Speech and
Language therapy service.
Reduction in the number of
children at risk of language
delay.
Progress towards achieving
15% childcare places
penetration rate in target
areas.

The
outcomes of
Wirral
Council’s
consultation
are
implemented

Music Service
1. In consultation with stakeholders, and taking
into account the outcome of the National
Review of Music Services, review and
restructure the Music Service so that it operates
within the budget whilst maintaining and further
improving the quality and range of Music

Page 99

A new operational structure
is in place which ensures that
provision does not exceed
the allocated budget.
A new marketing strategy is

31

Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

to ensure
cost effective
and high
quality
services.

Service provision.
2. Implement the action plan and develop robust
systems within the service in response to the
MSEP service evaluation.

established and there is an
increase the number of
pupils using the services.

Looked After Children Education Service
3. Review and restructure the Looked After
Children Education Service so that it focuses
on championing improving outcomes for LAC.
4. Improve further procedures for monitoring the
performance of LAC and challenging where
there is underperformance.
5. Provide high quality advice and training for
schools and Designated Teachers.
Oaklands Outdoor Education Service
6. Review the Oaklands Outdoor Education
Centre to that it generates sufficient income to
fully cover all costs.

There is
improved
provision,
choice and
outcomes for
children and
young people
with Special
Educational
Needs and/or
disability.

Deploy resources in the interests of all Wirral’s
children and young people with SEND with the
emphasis being that they should be educated in
local provision.
1. Develop with Gilbrook School a behaviour
support service in line with the Schools Forum
report of January 2011.
2. Revise the process for commissioning places in
Wirral’s special schools in line with the Schools
Forum decision of January 2011.
3. Review and revise Orrets Meadow provision in
line with the recommendations of the Overview
and Scrutiny Report of January 2010 about
Literacy.
4. Support capital plans/projects at Stanley, Clare
Mount, Foxfield and Meadowside schools.
Improve the early identification of SEND to meet the
needs of the most vulnerable children and young
people.
5. Review and revise Local Authority
arrangements for early years support work with
the children and families with the most complex
needs.
6. Revise Local Authority criteria for access to
specialist provision and services.
7. Develop partnership working and planning at
key transition points for the 14-19 cohort with
SEND/Learners with Learning Difficulties and
Disabilities.
8. Respond to the forthcoming Green paper on
SEND and SEN issues in the new schools
system by revising local arrangements as
necessary.

There are
improved

Narrowing the Gap
1. Narrow the attainment gap at Key Stage 4

Page 100

Monitoring and evaluation of
provision demonstrates it is
of good quality and pupils
have access to quality
learning.
NI 99 LAC reaching L4+
English at KS2.
NI 100 LAC reaching L4+
maths at KS2.
NI 101 LAC achieving 5+ A*C GCSE (including English
and maths).

New support service in place
Revised commissioning
process in place and
changes made to pupil
numbers funded and /or new
work commissioned.
NI 103a SEN statements
within 26 weeks (Excluding
exceptions).
NI 103b SEN statements
within 26 weeks (Including
exceptions).
NI 104 SEN/Non SEN gap at
KS2 English and maths.
NI 105 SEN/Non SEN gap at
KS4 English and maths.
Information and new
arrangements criteria are
published.

NI 92 narrowing the gap
between the lowest achieving

32

Priority
outcomes for
children and
young people
where
poverty and
disadvantage
affect their
achievement.

How we will deliver
2.

3.

4.

How we will be judged

between FSM and non-FSM pupils by building
on the successes from the ‘100 Club’ project.
Focus Lifelong and Family Learning provision
to engage and motivate disadvantaged
families, encourage achievement and
progression and strengthen communities.
Ensure provision post-16 enables progression
from KS4 at all ability levels and takes account
of both learner aspirations and local skills
needs.
Coordinate, monitor and evaluate Year 3 of 1-1
Tuition.

Attendance
5. Work in partnership with schools, academies
and other agencies to reduce Persistent
Absence and improve school attendance.
6. Utilise a multi-disciplinary approach to support
the school attendance of Looked After
Children.
English as an Additional Language
7. Develop the Minority Ethnic Achievement
Service (MEAS) as a capacity-building service
to respond to local priorities and in response to
the survey on Traded Services undertaken
with head teachers and governors.
Looked After Children
8. Work with schools to raise standards of
Looked After Children so their outcomes are
comparable to their peers.
9. Support capacity building in schools through a
high quality professional development
programme for Designated Teachers.
10. Rigorously track and monitor the progress of
LAC and challenge where there is
underachievement.
11. Ensuring that the educational needs of Looked
after Children are identified at an early stage
and that appropriate support put in place which
increases levels of attainment. Support the
effective co-ordination of response to pupils in
difficulties.
12. Ensure that close collaboration between the
LACES, Pathways Team, Connexions and
education providers improves the employability
of care leavers.

Page 101

20% in Early Years
Foundation Stage profile and
the rest.
NI 102 Achievement gap
between pupils eligible for
free school meals and their
peers achieving the expected
level at KS2 and 4.
NI 87 proportion of pupils
who are Persistently Absent
in secondary schools.
Proportion of Children In
Care who miss 25 days or
more of school.
NI 107 Key Stage 2
attainment for Black and
minority ethnic groups.
NI 108 Key Stage 4
attainment for BME Groups.
NI 99 Children in care
reaching level 4 in English at
Key Stage 2.
NI 100 Children in care
reaching level 4 in Maths at
Key Stage 2.
NI 101 Looked After Children
achieving 5 A*-C GCSE’s.
NI 148 % care leavers in
education, employment or
training at age 19.
Effective tracking in place for
all children in care 0-19.
Proportion of Designated
Teachers accessing training.
NI 106 Young People from
low income backgrounds
progressing to University.

33

positive contribution
“We want to engage all young people more fully in issues affecting their lives and
particularly those at risk of disaffection.”
This section concerns the ways young people are supported to make a positive contribution
to their communities. It is about involving all young people at every stage in the decisions
that affect them and young people themselves making the decisions. It also includes
provision of opportunities to do as well as to learn, helping them to develop their selfconfidence, resilience and a sense of purpose and ensuring that there are no barriers to their
involvement in these positive activities.

Where we are now
Since our last plan we have developed our youth provision through the opening of four state
of the art Youth Hubs offering a wide range of activities with extended opening times. This is
reaping benefits through a provision of a greater variety of activities and better provision of
advice and support services through the new delivery model. Our Play Strategy and
successful initiatives such as the extended Duke of Edinburgh scheme and services
commissioned in response to local need have also enabled more children and young people
to become involved in a wider range of positive activities.
Our new website Teen Wirral ensures that children and young people can find out when
activities are on offer across Wirral. It also offers advice to young people about issues that
concern them, signposts them to further information and allows an accessible route for
young people to have their say.
Our Youth Offending Team has made excellent progress with a reduction in the number of
first time entrants into the criminal justice system and reduced re-offending rates.
Intervention planning has been key to this such as the use of Restorative Justice practices
as an alternative to prosecution and has also lead to a reduction in the number of school
exclusions. Initiatives are also in place to support young offender to access education,
employment or training and to find accommodation.
The National Treatment Agency has assessed our Young Persons Substance Misuse Plan
as “Fit for Purpose” with steady and consistent performance from support services. Waiting
times are excellent with 100% of referrals seen within agreed timescales, with the majority of
young people’s needs being effectively met.
In 2010 Ofsted assessed that we have a number of successful arrangements for involving
children and young people from a range of backgrounds in reviewing and planning services.
This area has been extended with the formation of pupil panels in Special schools to ensure
the involvement of young people with learning difficulties and disabilities in the decision
making process. We are determined to continue development in this area to ensure that the
work supporting young people to make a positive contribution continues to thrive.
We continue to work to improve opportunities for children and young people in care to
influence policy. The Children in Care Council effectively engaged through consultation with
young people and developed the Wirral Promise which sets standards for the Council’s
engagement with children in care. A successful Lottery application means that children in
care will continue to have access to leisure opportunities and the take up of activities
remains high.

Page 102

34

We are facing the challenges created by reduction in public funding in this area by clearly
defining our priority areas and developing innovative solutions to maximise use of resources.
2011-12 will see a re-design of Integrated Youth Support which will involve detailed
evaluation of opportunities in delivering services differently through working with voluntary
community and faith organisations and the private sector. We will look to ensure that this
project is a means of extending the reach of this work to more vulnerable young people.

Our new priorities
Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

Fewer children
and young people
are involved in
offending and anti
social behaviour.

1. A comprehensive review of Integrated
Youth Support will include:
• Evaluation of need including local
consultation.
• Development of key shared priorities.
• Restructure of management to ensure
effective operational services.
• Identifying earlier those at risk of
multiple poor outcomes and of engaging
in risky behaviours to ensure that
targeted prevention services are
provided.

Reducing the number of first
time entrants (FTE’s) into the
youth justice system.

2. Improve and develop Commissioning:
• Effective use of intelligence to target
funding at prioritised specific needs of
vulnerable young people.
• Use the Triage approach to identify
young people in need of assessment
and identify those requiring support to
deal with anti-social behaviour.
• More effective and efficient targeted
challenge and support for young people
involved in ASB and youth offending.
• Review the Challenge & Support
process to young people are referred at
as early a stage as possible and a range
of diversionary and supportive
interventions are available.

NI 86 Number of secondary
schools judged as having
Outstanding Behaviour.

3. Drug and Alcohol Services will
incorporate preventative strategies as part
of its work programme:
• Screening and early intervention; 100%
of looked after children will be
screened.
• Engagement of families through links
with Children’s Centres; weekly clinics
to operate from 4 Children’s Centres.
• Improved education and support for
primary school children.
• Families provided with Substance
Misuse support.

Reducing re-offending.
Reducing custody numbers.
Local 1701 Reported
incidents of anti-social
behaviour.

Establishment of a reliable
measure of anti-social
behaviour involving children
and young people and
monitor performance against
this.

Reduction in total number of
young people reporting either
frequent use of drugs, or
alcohol or both.
NI 39 Alcohol harm-related
hospital admission rates.
Number of young people
moving out of treatment.

2. Development of the Restorative Justice

Page 103

35

Priority

How we will deliver
Project.
• The YOS will continue to train staff from
partner agencies in Restorative
Conferencing in conjunction with the
school exclusions officer.
• Develop a framework to monitor the
impact of Restorative Justice (RJ) and
share good practice between agencies.
3. Development of the Multi-Systemic
Therapy (MST) project:
• MST therapists will work in close
partnership with the young person’s
family and community to strengthen
protective factors known to assist in
reducing the risk of future offending and
anti-social behaviour and edge of care.
• The three therapists will work with four
families over a 3-5 month basis.
• A working strategy will be developed to
monitor the impact of MST on
completion.
• Post-therapy review will include drug
and alcohol testing.

Children and
young people have
access to a range
of appropriate play
and developmental
opportunities
which meets their
needs.

The Early Intervention Grant will be used to
commission activities that provide
vulnerable young people with
developmental opportunities.
• Young people will be members of
commissioning panel.
• Planning meetings with providers will
focus on specific interventions in priority
areas.
• Future commissioning of Play and Youth
Service Providers will seek to expand the
range of providers by encouraging
organisations to develop consortium
bids.
• The Play Builder Programme will be
expanded to increase the number of
children involved in play in outside
facilities.
• Short break and activity taster sessions
will be provided for disabled children and
children with Learning Difficulties and
Disabilities (LDD) to increase take up.

How we will be judged

Framework completed and
good practice shared.

MST completed with 18
families.
Positive post contact
evaluations recorded.

NI 57 Children and young
people’s participation in high
quality PE and sport.
Local 1700a Participation in
and outcomes from youth
work: Participation.
Local 1700b Participation in
and outcomes from youth
work: Recorded Outcomes.
Local 1700c Participation in
and outcomes from youth
work: Accredited Outcomes.
Contracts reflect targeted
provision in areas of need.
Increase in young people
taking up play and other
developmental opportunities
An increase in the number of
providers and nature of
opportunities available.

Children and
Young People are
actively engaged
in community and
democratic

1. Young people at Youth District Forums
will set priorities for the development of
District Plans.
2. Young people will be members of
commissioning panels for the Early

Page 104

Local 1700a Participation in
and outcomes from youth
work: Participation.
Local 1700b Participation in

36

Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

decision making
process.

Intervention grant.
3. The success of children and young
people will be regularly communicated
via Teen Wirral.
4. The requirement to promote positive
images of young people will be included
in contracts of newly commissioned
services.
5. For our looked after children beyond
Wirral, we will set Healthier Homes
Standards to be met by residential
providers.
6. We will engage young people as
verifiers to drive and monitor the “You’re
Welcome” assessment process for
health organisations.

and outcomes from youth
work: Recorded Outcomes.
Local 1700c Participation in
and outcomes from youth
work: Accredited Outcomes.
Representatives from 4
districts will be members of
commissioning panels for the
Early Intervention Grant.
Teen Wirral Website monthly
report on the successes of
young people.
50% of Wirral residential
settings for Looked After
Children will achieve the
Healthier Homes Standard by
January 2012.
A minimum of 10
organisations will be engaged
in or have achieved “You’re
Welcome” status.

Page 105

37

social and economic wellbeing
“We want to equip our young people better for adult life and particularly to narrow the
gap experienced by our most disadvantaged young people in their prospects.”
This section is about preparing young people with the skills they need to cope with the
challenges of the modern world. We want them to be happy confident individuals equipped
to make the most of opportunities such as further training, education or employment and to
achieve their potential.

Where we are now
Significant progress has been made with young people Not in Education, Employment or
Training (NEET) current levels are lower than the same time in the previous year despite the
ongoing global recession. The 2010 Year 11 activity survey resulted in the highest ever rates
of young people going into learning, and the September Guarantee target for an offer of
learning for young people in Wirral were exceeded. Through partnership working particular
progress has been achieved for young people with learning difficulties or disabilities, the
number taking up further education opportunities has increased by 33% in 2010/11.
Effective partnerships have been demonstrated by the success of the Working
Neighbourhood Funded ‘Wirral Apprentice’ programme. This programme supports
employers by fully funding apprentices for 2 years, matched by a pledge of permanency from
the employer. It has resulted in appointments of individuals 22% of whom were previously
NEET. The programme has been extended with new apprenticeships funded via the
European Social Fund and targeted towards Wirral residents aged 16–1; or 19-24 and NEET
or unemployed.
Significant progress has been made in implementing 14-19 reform in Wirral. A full strategic
analysis of Wirral learning and training provision 16-19 was carried out during 2010 and was
published in the form of a Commissioning Statement. The curriculum challenge has been to
further develop Diploma opportunities for young people, but also to deliver a foundation
learning curriculum at key stage 4 and prepare for implementation post-16. Key to the future
direction of 14-19 vocational education will be the outcome of the Wolf review which is due
to report back in March 2011 and implementation of the Education Bill.
Too few of our care leavers are in education, training or employment, particularly by age 19
and too many young people drop out of their chosen courses. Young people will receive
impartial information, advice and guidance is available to all young people to support
effective decision making and targeted support is available to the most vulnerable.
Wirral is an active participant in the Liverpool City Region (LCR) Employment and Skills
agenda and has contributed to the development of the strategy and commissioning
framework, which identifies key growth areas in terms of jobs and income.
In 2010-11 economic pressures and the reduction in government funded initiatives mean
that providing education, employment or training to all young people remains a challenge. A
clear focus will be maintained on vulnerable groups such as care leavers, young offenders,
those with LDD and teenage parents to ensure the gap between the most able and most
vulnerable does not continue to widen. A further key area for development will be Children’s
Trust involvement in the development of a Local Strategic Partnership Child Poverty needs
assessment and strategy and a revised Housing Strategy.

Page 106

38

Our new priorities
Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

Increased
numbers of
young people
participating and
achieving their
potential.

1. Continue to progress towards full participation
by 2025 for young people aged 18. This will
be done through the commissioning of a
range of high quality learning opportunities
and courses through the implementation of
the:
• 14-19 Plan.
• 14-19 Quality Assurance Framework.
• School Sixth Form Quality Monitoring &
Evaluation Framework.
2. Support vulnerable groups to access post-16
learning opportunities, including, further
education and apprenticeships.
3. Facilitate progression from further education
to higher education for those vulnerable
learners where appropriate.
4. Secure further funding from the Young
Peoples Learning Agency (YPLA) for the
delivery of the Young Parents to be
Programme.
5. Work with the National Apprenticeship Service
to create a more diverse range of
apprenticeship opportunities.
6. Provide young people with confidence and
skills, and information to travel independently
using the ‘travel trainers’ programme.
7. Develop the Learning for Living and Work
Framework for learners with LDD and/or SEN
designed to develop a fit for purpose funding
system that is learner focussed.

NI 79 Achievement of a
level 2 qualification by the
age of 19.

The numbers of
16-18 vulnerable
young people
NEET are
reduced.

1. In recognition of the current economic climate
and global recession we will refresh the:
• Borough EET Strategy
• IYS Strategy
• 14-19 Plan
With a specific focus and monitoring of the
progress of vulnerable groups and
appropriate preventative and targeted
intervention including:
• Looked After Children
• Teenage mothers
• Young Offenders
• Young People with SEN/LDD
• Those with substance misuse issues
2. Ensure Wirral young people receive impartial
and robust information, advice and guidance
(IAG) by ensuring Wirral schools and
providers achieve the National standards for
IAG.
3. Extend the employability programmes for
NEET young people (subject to a successful
ESF bid) and specifically vulnerable groups

Page 107

NI 80 Achievement of a
level 3 qualification by the
age of 19.
NI 81 Inequality gap at level
3 aged 19.
NI 82 Inequality gap at level
2 aged 19.
NI 91 Participation of 17
year olds in education or
training.
NI 117 Reduce the
percentage of 16-18 year
olds not in education
employment or training
(NEET).
NI 148 Care leavers in
Education, employment and
training.

NI 11716-18 year olds not
in education employment or
training (NEET).
NI 148 Care leavers in
Education, employment and
training.
Young Offenders
engagement in suitable
education employment and
training.

39

Priority

How we will deliver

How we will be judged

and implement the Wirral Apprenticeship
Programme.
4. Aim to secure further European Social Fund
funding to continue the 14-19 Strategic
Partnership’s priority to reduce NEET.
5. Ensure breadth of commissioned learning
provision is aligned with the attainment profile
of Wirral young people.
6. Provision commissioned must have clearly
identified progression routes in to further
learning or employment.

Reduce child
poverty and
homelessness.

1. Implementation of the CES Employment and
Skills Strategy, WEDS priorities and 14-19
Plan including the ‘whole family’ approach to
addressing worklessness acknowledging the
current economic climate and impact of the
recession.
2. Our multi-agency approach to tackling
poverty has focused on a ‘whole family’
approach to worklessness including
improving the reach of children’s centres to
vulnerable families. In 2010/11 this will
continue to be developed through Children’s
Trust involvement in the development of a
Partnership Child and Family Poverty
strategy and a revised Housing Strategy.
3. Increase the number of households
containing children and young people that are
referred to Health through Warmth for heating
and insulation grants, thereby reducing fuel
poverty amongst this group.

Page 108

NI 116 Proportion of
children in poverty.
NI 118 Take up of formal
childcare by low-income
working families.
NI 147 Care leavers in
suitable accommodation.
Implementation of the Child
and Family Poverty
Strategy.

40

managing our services
This section is about how we will design and manage our services to achieve the priorities
we have outlined in previous sections. We will ensure that effective use is made of public
resources for the benefit of children, young people and families.

Safeguarding
Protecting our children and young people from harm is a key priority for the whole
partnership and is led by the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). The LSCB has a
clear vision that places safeguarding at the centre of the Children’s Trust’s overall
commitment to supporting children and the families it serves. The Director of Children’s
Services and the Lead Member for Children’s Services have clear roles and responsibilities
as champions for children, young people and their families. The Director reports directly to
the Council Chief Executive and Leader of the Council.
The LSCB promotes high standards in safeguarding work across the partnership and has
the responsibility to hold organisations to account to ensure these standards are met. A
protocol is embedded in the Children’s Trust Memorandum of Understanding which clearly
outlines the working arrangements between the LSCB and the Children’s Trust. The LSCB
Business Plan is refreshed annually and is integrated with the Children and Young People’s
Plan through the work of the Staying Safe Strategy Group.
The LSCB has a robust performance framework which informs on a range of partnership
activity in targeted areas and details information on the application of thresholds for services.
This ranges from the referral rates, the child protection plan rate and the number of young
people looked after who run away and the volume of return interviews undertaken. Full
information regarding safeguarding activity completed in 2010/11 is outlined in our LSCB
annual review published alongside this new plan. The key areas where improvements were
made included:
• Improvements to the infra-structure of the LSCB; appointing an Independent Chair, Lay
Members and a Business Manager.
• Appointing a Common Assessment Framework (CAF) Quality Assurance Manager who
has devised and implemented robust systems for CAF, to embed the CAF as a key
element in supporting children and families.
• Leading on the national Social Care Institute of Excellence (SCIE) pilot of review of
Serious Case Review process and subsequently submitting findings on the Munro
Review ‘Call for Evidence’
• Undertaking a review of the response by the police and Social Care on domestic
violence contacts with revised procedures.
• Undertaking a number of themed audits and reviews to monitor and improve services
to safeguard children.
• Establishing a number of task specific sub groups of the LSCB including e-Safety, Risk
Governance Management and the Executive Group. These have played a crucial role
in achieving the aims of the LSCB.
Safeguarding in 2011-12 will be subject to potentially wide-ranging changes through the
publication in April 2011 of the national Munro Review of Child Protection. Wirral Children’s
Trust and the LSCB will work together to ensure the recommendations from the review are
successfully carried out. In addition to this large scale undertaking other key areas for
development in 2011/12 include:
• To continue to improve the functioning and accountability of the Board.

Page 109

41

•
•

•
•

•
•
•

To improve learning from Serious Case Reviews and Critical Incidents by making use of
and developing SCIE model as a review framework.
To evaluate the extent to which lessons identified in previous or current reviews have
been learnt in practice; specifically relating to issues of parental mental ill-health, child
sexual abuse, domestic abuse and neglect.
Continue to monitor thresholds across the partnership for Common Assessment
Framework, Child in Need, Team Around the Child and Child Protection.
To closely monitor the effects of budgetary pressures and potential organisational
restructuring of services, acting as necessary to continue to effectively safeguard and
promote the welfare of children.
To improve communication processes between the LSCB, its sub-committees, the wider
workforce and general public.
To strengthen joint working arrangements between the LSCB and the Safeguarding
Adults Board.
To maintain representation and contribution to Multi Agency Public Protection Panels.

integration of services
Wirral’s Children’s Trust supports Lord Laming’s view (Victoria Climbié Enquiry, 2003) that:
“I am in no doubt that effective support for children and families cannot be achieved by a
single agency acting alone. It depends on agencies working together. It is a multi-disciplinary
task.”
In order to be responsive to local need Wirral has organised services linked to district and
areas with the development of area teams incorporating co-located services. Provision of a
range of services in one place will provides benefits including positive outcomes for service
users, enhanced processes of professionals working together and synergy of service
delivery leading to greater efficiency and effectiveness. Wirral’s co-location project has been
short-listed for a Local Government Chronicle Children’s Services award.
A good start in life is essential if children are to fulfil their potential and provision of integrated
high quality early years provision and family support services is a priority for Wirral. We
have 16 children’s centres, 3 satellite centres and various outreach points with footprints
based on areas of poverty. They ensure that all parents and carers with children under 5
years old can access integrated services that are responsive to local need. ‘Wirral’s Children
First’ Strategic Board ensures a consistent and integrated approach to early years priorities
and outreach through strategic development and sharing of good practice.
The drawing together of the Youth Service, Youth Offending Service and Anti Social
Behaviour Team into an Integrated Youth Support Service (IYSS) offers advantages at
strategic, management and operational levels. This service allows for enhanced strategic
planning and enables joint key priorities to be identified in areas such as offending, teenage
pregnancy, alcohol and substance misuse. It will result in a refined management structure
which offers both efficiency savings and the opportunity for managers to work outside
previous service boundaries sharing expertise and taking advantage of opportunities for
enhanced service delivery. Benefits will include; a fully integrated Youth Outreach Service,
full advantage being taken of the district model of youth provision with locality planning and
improved coordination of positive activities for young people within youth Hubs, youth clubs
and voluntary, community and faith sector youth projects. A coordinated offer of activities,
advertised on the Teen Wirral website setting out a positive range of “things to do and places
to go”, including Wirral Youth Theatre activities and the Duke of Edinburgh Award Scheme
with these being set alongside other leisure services and voluntary sector activities.

Page 110

42

Effective workforce development underpins our integrated approach. We lead the Greater
Merseyside Learn Together Partnership in developing innovative training in multi-disciplinary
working with local universities. We owe it to our staff to make sure they have the skills they
need and that their individual professional specialisms are understood and respected. Wirral
Children’s Workforce Strategy and a programme of integrated workforce development is in
place. A common induction programme delivered by the Voluntary, Community and Faith
Sector is designed to ensure that all will have the skills and specialist knowledge relevant to
their professional practice.

integrated processes
All partners agree that the implementation of integrated processes is crucial to address
unmet needs and help children access the right services earlier.
We have clearly defined structures and governance arrangements for the Children’s Trust
and the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board. They provide an effective and transparent
framework and clarity of roles and responsibilities to sustain and improve outcomes for all
our children and young people. The Boards have collaborated on a protocol which outlines
how they will work together and maintain challenge and support.
The Integrated Preventative Services Board oversees the development of integrated
working. We have published our guidance which is for the use of all those working with
children, young people and their families and includes information on key processes
including the Common Assessment Framework (CAF) and Team around the Child (TAC).
The CAF enables information to follow the child between services in a common format.
Robust and effective processes are in place to collect, monitor and quality assure CAF
activity across the partnership. This data is effectively used to commission early intervention
services. Team around the Child (TAC) working allows all agencies and the child and their
family to be involved in working together to support the family, led by a Lead Professional.
The Lead Professional role is effectively embedded across the partnership. It reduces
overlap and inconsistency in the services received by children and families through a single
point of contact for the child or family co-ordinating the delivery of agreed actions.
Use of the integrated working framework and CAF and TAC processes effectively assists
practitioners to understand and respond to the needs of the child and their family and allows
a preventative approach through early identification of additional needs.

commissioning
Commissioning is the process by which local needs are met and involves both specifying
and securing high quality provision. It is vital in the effective management and development
of services to meet the needs of and improve outcomes for children and young people. It
ensures that spending decisions are directly informed by the priorities and aspirations of the
Children and Young People’s Plan and represent best value.
The Wirral Children’s Trust Board will be the key driver to ensure the effective
commissioning of all services to children and young people in Wirral. To deliver this work
effective joint commissioning is essential. The benefits of joint commissioning are that it will
help agencies together to:
• Target services to give the greatest impact on outcomes
• Avoid duplication of services
• Ensure value for money & efficiency

Page 111

43

•
•
•

Develop coordinated services
Share expertise and best practice
Share intelligence about needs

We have established an operational Joint Commissioning Group which imposes the
discipline of the commissioning cycle i.e. assessing demand, reviewing present service
configuration, assessing available budgets, implementing service redesign, monitoring
performance and adjusting service provision to improve the match between capacity and
demand. The group has developed a work plan to support continued improvement of joint
commissioning practices. Joint Commissioning operates with regard to our published
Strategic Joint Commissioning Framework for Children and Young People in Wirral. There
is a clear focus on the commissioning of preventative services for vulnerable groups.

resources
This plan identifies the priorities for improving the lives of children and young people in
Wirral and provides a clear focus for all who work in this field. The partnership continues to
work towards greater budget co-ordination and wherever possible supplement resources
through bidding opportunities. Effective value for money and efficient use of resources is a
key activity for us in order to effectively deliver our priorities and create better outcomes for
children and young people.
<Information under development>

performance management
Multi-agency strategy groups have been established to facilitate progress in each of the five
Every Child Matters outcome area. All CYPP priorities are owned by the multi-agency
strategy groups and are operationally performance managed by the Children’s Trust
Executive. The Council performance management system PIMS can be accessed by partner
organisations to regularly update information and to facilitate streamlined reporting.
Performance on outcomes is reported quarterly to the Children’s Trust Board. The Board’s
role is to support practitioners in delivering outstanding performance and to challenge
underperformance. Wherever the information suggests that action needs to be taken to
ensure progress is maintained against our priorities the Children’s Trust Board will see that
this is done.
In addition to the CYPP there are many detailed plans and projects underlying the CYPP
priorities. The Children’s Trust Board can focus special attention and debate on a specific
theme or area. The board will analyse the relevant information presented and where
appropriate make recommendations or facilitate activity related to that area.
Performance is also reported on a quarterly basis to Wirral Council Cabinet. One of the
goals in the Council’s Corporate Plan is to provide “better life chances for children, young
people and families”. The Director of Children’s Services reports to each meeting of the
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee where quarterly performance
management is reported.
A range of inspections of schools, services and settings are carried out by Ofsted. For each
individual inspection when recommendations are made we will ensure that they are acted on
swiftly. Our progress against the priorities in this plan will also be challenged by Ofsted
through the annual Children’s Services Assessment. We value the input of independent

Page 112

44

external inspectors such as Ofsted. We listen carefully to what they tell us about where
improvements are required and act on their recommendations.
As we write this plan a national review of performance indicators is underway which will
impact on how we can benchmark our progress against national performance and that in
other similar areas. In outlining our priorities we have indicated how we will be measured in
reference to performance indicators currently available, although we are aware there may be
some changes. To mitigate these changes, at a local level we are reviewing our own
indicators to ensure that we can effectively monitor our progress in delivering outcomes in
our priority areas whilst ensuring that an efficient and streamlined approach is utilised.

equality and diversity
Wirral Children’s Trust has a commitment to contributing to a fairer society by ensuring that
unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation is eliminated, equality of opportunity is
advanced and good relations are fostered between different groups. A comprehensive
equality impact assessment involving all partners and young people took place in 2009. This
assessment has been updated to take account of the new public duties of the Equality Act
2010 to take account of the ‘protected characteristics’ of disability, gender reassignment,
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.
The resulting equality action plan has enabled children’s services in Wirral to highlight the
ongoing work that is undertaken as well providing a focus on areas of equality that need
addressing. Throughout the life of our last plan we made considerable achievements in
many areas to promote equality of opportunity and to remove barriers to services.
Feedback from the announced inspection of safeguarding and looked after children
identified adequate practice in Equality and Diversity in both areas in regard to case note
recording. A challenge for 2011-12 is to ensure that our policies and guidance are fully
disseminated and put into practice in our social care assessment processes.
Through our strategy groups we will continue to make progress on any areas identified and
the implementation of our action plan is carefully monitored by Wirral Children’s Trust
Executive. A refreshed equality impact assessment for 2011-12 is published alongside this
new plan and can be retrieved from Wirral Council Children’s Trust website.

in conclusion
We hope you have enjoyed reading this plan; we have enjoyed writing it. It provides us with
an opportunity to self-assess the way we work, evaluate our effectiveness and put things in
place to make improvements. It allows us to clearly focus our priorities to address need;
identified from our intelligence but also importantly from what people tell us and their ideas
for improvement. It also allows us to dream a little; to envisage what we could do if we work
together innovatively with passion, focus and energy; the children and young people of
Wirral deserve no less.
Our new priorities are set out in summary form on the following page which can be printed
as a poster.

Page 113

45

Wirral Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-12
our vision
“To enable Wirral’s children, young people and families to access services quickly in order to be
secure, healthy, have fun and achieve their full potential.”

our principles
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Every child matters
Keeping our children safe through effective safeguarding
Improving outcomes for children, young people and their families
Organising around children and young people, taking account of their views
Operating across the partnership as a single integrated Children’s Service
Continuing to build on excellent partnership working
Integrated strategy and governance
Integrated delivery and processes
Early intervention and prevention
Targeted support for vulnerable groups
Equal value and common standards
Fitness for purpose utilising new approaches and technology to improve our efficiency and
service
Responsibility and accountability.

our priorities
Being Healthy

Staying Safe

Enjoying &
Achieving

Making a
Positive
Contribution

Social and
Economic Well
Being

Inequalities in the
health of children
and young people
are reduced.

Vulnerable children,
young people and
families receive
targeted, early
intervention which
meets their needs
and improves their
life chances.

Schools and settings
are supported to
improve educational
provision and
attainment.

Fewer children
and young people
are involved in
offending and anti
social behaviour.

Increased numbers
of young people
participating and
achieving their
potential.

Outcomes for young
children and families,
especially the most
vulnerable, are
improved through
effective early years
support and
intervention.

Children and
young people
have access to a
range of
appropriate play
and
developmental
opportunities
which meet their
needs.

The numbers of 1618 vulnerable young
people NEET are
reduced.

The harmful
consequences of
risk taking
behaviour are
reduced.
All children and
families are
encouraged and
supported to
achieve and
maintain a healthy
weight and lifestyle.
The Child Health
Strategy is
effectively
implemented.

There are improved
outcomes for
children in care and
care leavers.
There are improved
outcomes for
children and young
people in need of
protection.
Children live in
communities where
they feel safe, and
where harmful
behaviour is actively
addressed and
reduced.

The outcomes of
Wirral Council’s
consultation are
implemented to
ensure cost effective
and high quality
services.
There is improved
provision, choice and
outcomes for children
and young people
with Special
Educational Needs
and/or disability.

Page 114

Reduce child
poverty and
homelessness.

Children and
young people are
actively engaged
in community and
democratic
decision making
processes.

46

There are improved
outcomes for children
and young people
where poverty and
disadvantage affect
their achievement.

Page 115

47

Appendix 1: The Structure of Wirral Children’s Trust

Local Strategic Partnership

Partner Agency Decision
Making (Cabinet, PCT Board)

Local Safeguarding
Children Board

Wirral Children’s Trust Board

Wirral Children’s Trust Executive

Page 116

Joint Commissioning

District Boards

Integrated Preventative
Services Board

Children’s Workforce
Strategic Group

SEWB
Strategy Group

14-19 Partnership

Staying Safe
Strategy Group
Being Healthy
Strategy Group

Childhood Obesity
Teenage Pregnancy
Family Nurse Partnership
Steering Groups

Enjoy and Achieve
Strategy Group

Children’s First Strategic Board
Better Communication Group
Looked After Children Group

Positive Contribution
Strategy Group

Children and Young
People’s Participation

Aiming High for
Disabled Children
Executive Group

Appendix 2: Wirral Young People Engagement Structure
<Graphics Team - Group to add to main layer - Healthy Schools Panels; change Four Area Youth Forums to Four District Youth Forums>

Page 117
49

Appendix 3: Performance Framework
A national review of performance information and indicators is underway; in 2010-11 a number of national indicators were discontinued. This
framework references performance indicators currently available. There will be further changes to the national framework during 2011-12; in
addition new local indicators will be developed to ensure we can effectively monitor our progress in delivering outcomes in our priority areas.
Actual

Targets

Performance Indicator Title
2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

-

25

14.5

-

15.6

6.2

Indicator
under
review

15

15

16

16

16

16

16

-

28

28

-

29.9

35.1

35.1

NI 55 - Obesity in Reception aged Children

9.1

9.6

9.3

-

9.37

9.5

NI 56 - Obesity in Year 6 aged Children

19.7

19.1

20.6

-

20.4

20.9

Targets
set by
NHS

71

71

82

-

-

84

90

-

15.3

12.2

-

NI 60 - Percentage of core assessments for children's social care
that were carried out within 35 working days of their
commencement

89.8

79.1

75.9

-

80

80

80

NI 61 - Timeliness of adoption

55.6

61.1

87.5

-

68

80

80

NI 62 - Stability of placements: number of placements (lower is
better)

12.5

10.2

6.5

-

10

9

9

NI 48 - Children killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents
(% annual change, based on 3-year rolling average)

Page 118

NI 51 - Effectiveness of CaMHS
NI 53 - Prevalence of Breastfeeding at 6 - 8 weeks from birth

NI 57 - Participation in Sporting Activities
NI 58 - Emotional Health of Children in Care (lower is better)

Historical
Performance

Target setting from 2012/13

50

Actual

Targets

Performance Indicator Title

Page 119

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

NI 63 - Stability of placements: length of placement

62.6

67

64.5

-

70

72

70

NI 64 - Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years or more (lower is
better)

3.4

4.8

1.7

-

5

4

4

NI 65 - Child Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time
(lower is better)

14.5

11.2

17.1

-

15

14

15

NI 66 - LAC cases which were reviewed within required
timescales.

95.2

96.3

94

-

100

100

100

NI 67 - Child Protection cases which were reviewed within
required timescales

100.0

99.2

99.3

-

100

100

100

NI 68 - Percentage of referrals to children's social care going on to
initial assessment

65.9

64.3

74.7

-

72

75

90

NI 70 - Reduce emergency admissions to hospital relating to
unintentional and deliberate injuries to children (lower is better)

159.6

145.8

122.6

-

129.8

-

12

14

-

14

15

15

NI 72 - Achievement of at least 78 points across the Early Years
Foundation Stage

46

49

52

58

57

57

57

NI 73 - Achievement at level 4 or above in both English and maths
at Key Stage 2

72

75

74.2

75

77

78

79

NI 75 - 5+ GCSE A*-C (Inc English and maths)

48.4

50.2

53.8

58.6

55.2

57

60.7

NI 79 - Achievement of level 2 at 19

71.2

74.7

75.7

-

-

-

82

NI 71 - Young Runaways

Historical
Performance

Targets set by
NHS

51

Actual

Targets

Performance Indicator Title

Page 120

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

NI 80 - Achievement of level 3 at 19

43.9

48.3

47

-

-

-

54

NI 81 - Inequality gap at level 3 aged 19 (lower is better)

33.5

33.6

31.8

-

-

-

28

NI 82 - Inequality gap at level 2 aged 19

47.4

59.5

57.5

-

-

-

64

NI 86 - Secondary schools judged as having good or outstanding
standards of behaviour

86.4

86.4

90.9

-

88

90

90

NI 87 - Secondary Schools Persistent Absence (Lower is better)

7.1

4.9

4.5

-

6.4

5.5

4

NI 89a - Number of Schools judged as requiring Special Measures
(lower is better)

-

-

1

-

0

0

0

NI 89b - Average time taken for Schools to come out of Category
(lower is better)

-

24

-

-

0

0

0

79

79

83

-

-

-

85

34.3

31.9

31.3

27.6

30.2

29

27.6

NI 99 - LAC reaching L4 English at KS2

41

62

59

51.9

44

53

18

NI 100 - LAC reaching L4 maths at KS2

52

62

50

55.6

44

56

15

NI 101 - LAC achieving 5+ A*-C ( Including English & maths)

7.9

10.5

7.4

7.8

7.4

6.25

5

NI 102a - FSM/Non FSM gap at KS2 English and maths (lower is
better)

23.7

21.7

24.5

21.6

21

21

17.9

NI 91 - Participation of 17 year olds in Education or Training
NI 92 - Narrowing the Gap at FSP (Lower is better)

Historical
Performance

N/A

52

Actual

Targets

Performance Indicator Title

Page 121

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

NI 102b - FSM/Non FSM gap at KS4 English and maths (lower is
better)

36.5

37.6

36.9

34.9

-

35.8

30.2

NI 103a - SEN statements within 26 weeks (Excluding exceptions)

-

97

100

95.6

98

100

100

NI 103b - SEN statements within 26 weeks (Including exceptions)

-

91

99.2

94.8

92

94

96

NI 104 - SEN/Non SEN gap at KS2 English and Maths (lower is
better)

55.9

51.2

52.4

47.7

0

50

46

NI 105 - SEN/Non SEN gap at KS4 English and Maths (lower is
better)

44.1

46.4

49.7

52.3

0

41

47

31

29

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-3.5

-8.3

6

-

16

No groups with more than 30 pupils

-

-

-

NI 106 - Young People from low income backgrounds progressing
to University (Lower is better)
NI 107b - Key Stage 2 attainment for Black and minority ethnic
groups (Any Other White Background) (lower is better)
NI 108 - Key Stage 4 attainment for BME Groups (lower is better)
NI 109 - Delivery of Sure Start Centres

-

95

100

-

100

100

100

NI 111 - First Time Entrants into the Youth Justice System (lower
is better)

1620

1370

-

-

1570

1500

Indicator
under
review

NI 112 - Reduction in the Under 18 Conception Rate (lower is
better)

-5.6

-6.3

-21

-

-28

-39

-50

Historical
Performance

-

53

Actual

Targets

Performance Indicator Title
2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

-

21.6

24.9

-

17

25

Indicator
under
review

NI 114 - Permanent exclusions from School (lower is better)

0.1

0.08

0.07

-

0.07

0.07

0.07

NI 116 - Proportion of Children in Poverty (lower is better)

24.3

24.2

-

-

-

-

-

NI 117 - 16 to 18 year olds who are not in education, employment
or training (NEET) (lower is better)

9.5

9.1

9.1

8.2

7.1

6.9

7.9

NI 118 - Take up of Formal Childcare by Low-income working
families

21.1

22.3

-

-

-

-

-

NI 147 - Care Leavers in Suitable Accommodation

91.1

91.4

89.6

-

95

95

95

40

55.2

54.2

-

-

-

58

Local 1268 - Percentage of schools achieving healthy school
status in the National Healthy School Programme

61.4

100

100

-

100

-

-

Local 1400 - Number of looked after children (lower is better)

607

626

629

668

590

565

645

Local 1700a - Participation in and outcomes from youth work:
Participation

20

21

18

-

21

22

23

Local 1700b - Participation in and outcomes from youth work:
Recorded Outcomes

61

72

73

-

63

64

65

Local 1700c - Participation in and outcomes from youth work:
Accredited Outcomes

22

23

21

-

25

28

30

NI 113 - Prevalence of Chlamydia (lower is better)

Page 122

NI 148 - Care Leavers in EET

Historical
Performance

54

Actual

Targets

Performance Indicator Title
2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

Local 1701 - Number of reported incidents of anti-social behaviour
(lower is better)

18414

15524

14125

-

17558

13949

13601

Local 1702 - Reduce the level of vehicle nuisance (lower is better)

-

1442

1312

-

1420

1400

1380

Historical
Performance

Page 123
55

Glossary
Aiming High for
Disabled Children
(AHDC)
Body Mass Index
(BMI)

Aiming High for Disabled Children and their families is a national programme
designed to transform services for disabled children and their families.

Brook

Provides free and confidential sexual health advice and contraception to young
people.
A national initiative to support families in healthy eating and activities.
A charter developed by children and young people to support all organisations
to build participation into their strategic planning and service delivery and to help
ensure that children and young people will play an increasingly important role in
Wirral organisations.
A range of services available which provide help and treatment to children and
young people who are experiencing emotional or behavioural difficulties, or
mental health problems, disorders and illnesses.
A child is subject to a child protection plan if they are considered to be at
continuing risk of significant harm.
Child Tax Credit is for people who are responsible for at least one child or
qualifying young person. Child Tax Credit is paid direct to the person who is
mainly responsible for caring for the child or children.
Generally refers to a person under the age of 18. Also includes any person aged
18, 19 or 20 whom a local authority has looked after at any time after attaining
the age of 16, or who has a learning disability.
The single, strategic, overarching plan for all services affecting children and
young people.

Change4Life
Charter of
Participation

Child & Adolescent
Mental Health
Services (CAMHS)
Child protection
plan
Child Tax Credit

Children and
young people
Children and
Young People’s
Plan (CYPP)
Children in Care
Council

Children in need
Children’s Centre

Connexions

Commissioning

Common
Assessment
Framework (CAF)
Early Years
Foundation Stage
Profile (EYFSP)
Equality Impact
Assessment (EIA)
Every Child
Matters (ECM)

Body Mass Index is a measure based on height and weight, which is used to
identify whether an adult is over/under weight or obese.

Children in Care act as a reference group for the Council to scrutinise policy
issues and other developments that will affect children in care. The Council has
direct access to the Director of Children’s Services and the Lead Member to
discuss any issues affecting children in care.
Children are deemed “in need” if they are unable to experience positive
outcomes without interventionist services or support.
Children’s centres are developed in line with the needs of the local community
so no one children’s centre is the same. However, there is a core set of services
they must provide, including, child and family health services, and advice on
parenting, local childcare options and access to specialist services for families.
Greater Merseyside Connexions Partnership (Connexions) has been
commissioned by the Local Authority to provide information, advice and
guidance and other services to young people.
Commissioning is about ensuring effective and efficient services are in place to
meet the identified needs of communities and individuals. It involves the full
process from needs assessment, planning, implementing, analysis and
evaluation.
A nationally standardised approach to conducting an assessment of the needs
of a child or young person and deciding how those needs should be met.
Early learning for 3-5 year olds.

An Equality Impact Assessment is a tool for identifying the potential impact of
policies and services on the community. It is about ensuring needs are met and
that equality is promoted.
This is the Government’s agenda for ensuring that organisations involved with
providing services to children work more closely together and share information,
to protect children and young people from harm and help them achieve what

Page 124

56

Every Child
Matters
outcomes
Further education
(FE)
FSM
GCSE
GP
Health Services in
Schools (HSiS)
Healthy Schools
Status (HSS)
HENRY
Index of Multiple
Deprivation (IMD)
Joint Strategic
Needs
Assessment
(JSNA)
Key Stages (KS)

Lead Professional
(LP)
Learn Together
Partnership (LTP)
Learning
Difficulties and
Disabilities (LDD)
Level 2/Level 3
qualification
Local
Safeguarding
Children Board
(LSCB)
Local Strategic
Partnership
Looked after (also
known as in care)

Multi Systemic
Therapy (MST)

Multi agency
Narrowing the Gap
National Child
Measurement

they want in life.
Underpinning the ECM agenda is the aim that every child, whatever their
background or their circumstances, has the support they need to: Be Healthy,
Stay Safe, Enjoy & Achieve, Make a Positive Contribution, and Achieve
Economic Well-Being.
Post-statutory education primarily for 16-19 year olds.
Free School Meals.
General Certificate in Secondary Education.
General Practitioner.
Health services hosted in Wirral secondary schools. Each school has a school
nurse and a youth worker attending.
Healthy Schools Status is the standard a school works towards, under the
Healthy Schools agenda. Core themes include physical activity, healthy eating
and emotional well-being.
Health, Exercise, Nutrition for the really young programme
The Index of multiple deprivation is a Deprivation index, created by the
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG).
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment is undertaken in partnership across
health, social care and other partners to identify the needs of communities to
inform the commissioning, planning and improvement of services.
The age groups within which the educational progress of children is monitored
through National Assessment Tests: KS1 (age 5-7), KS2 (age 7-11), KS4 (age
14-16). KS3 tests were discontinued in2009.
A lead professional role acts to reduce overlap and inconsistency in the services
received by children and families through a single point of contact for the child
or family co-ordinating the delivery of agreed actions.
The Learn Together Partnership is a collaborative of Cheshire East, Cheshire
West and Chester, Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton, Warrington
and Wirral Children and Young People’s Services.
Some children, young people or adults have learning difficulties and /or
disabilities. Children with learning difficulties or disabilities have a wide variety of
support and services available.
Level 2 qualifications refer to GCSEs at grades A*-C and equivalent vocational
qualifications. Level 3 refers to A Levels and equivalent.
The local safeguarding children board is a multi-agency partnership with the aim
of safeguarding all children and protecting them from harm.

The aim of the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) to bring together the key
organisations in a local area with the aim of delivering a better quality of life for
local people
Sometimes a child in need may be assessed as needing to becoming looked
after/in care in order to provide them with better opportunities to meet the five
ECM outcomes. This is either as part of a voluntary agreement with the child’s
parents, or via court order (in which case the local authority has parental
responsibility). In most cases, it involves the child living away from home with
foster carers or in a residential setting, as appropriate.
Multi Systemic Therapy (MST) (so-named because it addresses the different
systems in a adolescent's life) is an intensive, family-focused and communitybased treatment program for chronic and violent youth. The evidence-based
therapy is goal oriented and aims at helping caregivers manage and nurture
their challenging adolescents more effectively.
Working across a number of agencies to achieve an outcome.
Reducing the differences between different groups of children and young people
in terms of achievement, opportunity and quality of life.
The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) is part of the programme
of work to implement the Healthy Weight, Healthy Lives strategy, and is

Page 125

57

Programme
(NCMP)

National Indicator
Set (NIS)
Needs assessment
NICE
NHS
NI
Not in education,
employment or
training (NEET)
Ofsted

Outcome
Outcomes-based

Participation
Primary Care Trust
(PCT)
Physical Education
(PE)
Performance
management
Priorities

Programme

Project

Restorative Justice
(RJ)

SCIE
Serious Case
Reviews

Special
Educational Need
(SEN)
Special
Educational Needs
and Disability
(SEND)
Sure Start

overseen by the Cross-Government Obesity Unit. Children in Reception Year
(ages four and five) and Year 6 (ages 10 and 11) are weighed and measured at
school. The information is then used to help the NHS plan and provide better
health services for children.
The National Indicator Set is the identified set of measures used by central
government to assess the performance and progress of local areas. It is
currently under national review.
An analysis of what children, young people and their families need in order to
achieve the five ECM outcomes.
National Institute for Clinical Excellence
National Health Service.
National Indicator.
Young people not in education, employment or training are at risk of further
negative outcomes and as such, services aim to reduce the number of young
people with this status.
Ofsted is the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills.
They regulate and inspect services, schools and settings to achieve excellence
in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for learners
of all ages.
An outcome is the end result which we are aiming towards.
Outcomes-based refers to an approach by which we start with the outcome we
want to achieve, and then state how we are going to achieve it and how we will
know when it has been achieved.
Participation refers to the full and active involvement of children, young people
and families in the development and improvement of services.
Primary Care Trust.
Physical Education.
The set of processes adopted by an organisation to ensure it attains its key
objectives and targets.
Priorities are the identified areas on which we will focus resource and effort.
They are based on a number of key drivers and are agreed by the Children’s
Trust.
A programme is made up of a specific set of projects (see below) identified by
an organisation that together will deliver some defined objective, or set of
objectives, for the organisation.
A project is a temporary organisation that is needed to produce a unique and
pre-defined outcome or result at a pre-specified time and using pre-determined
resources.
An approach to justice that focuses on the needs of victims and offenders,
instead of satisfying abstract legal principles or punishing the offender. Victims
take an active role in the process, while offenders are encouraged to take
responsibility for their actions.
Social Care Institute for Excellence
Serous case reviews are conducted by the Local Safeguarding Children Board when
a child dies, and abuse or neglect are known, or suspected to be a factor. The
purpose of serious case reviews is to establish whether lessons can be learned from
the case about the way local professionals and organisations work together to
safeguard and promote the welfare of children, to act upon these lessons and as a
consequence improve inter-agency working.
A child with special educational need is one who will require something
additional to or different from what is provided for other children of the same age
in order to make progress. This may involve obtaining a statement of this need.
Some children and young people have both special educational needs and/or a
disability.

The Government’s programme to deliver the best start in life for every child,

Page 126

58

Targeted Service

Team Around the
Child (TAC)
Teen Wirral

UNICEF
Universal Service
Wirral Children’s
Trust (WCT)
Wirral Involvement
Schools Council
Youth Offending
Service (YOS)

bringing together education, childcare, health and family support. It covers
children from conception through to age 4, and up to age 16 for those with
special educational needs and disabilities.
A service specifically targeted at individuals or groups requiring specialist
support or intervention. The aim is to support children, young people and
families for appropriate periods of time and then where possible to meet their
need within universal provision.
A team made up of professionals from across the children and young people’s
workforce convened together to meet the needs of the child or young person.
Wirral Council’s website for young people aged 13 plus providing a range of
information regarding youth activities and advice and support.
http://www.teenwirral.com/
United Nations Children's Fund with a mandate to address the long-term needs
of children and women in developing countries everywhere.
Services designed to meet the needs of all children and young people.
Wirral Children’s Trust refers to the partnership between statutory and voluntary
agencies within the area.
A schools council for children in special schools
A Youth Offending Service (YOS) is a multi-agency team that is coordinated by
a local authority, which is overseen by the Youth Justice Board. It deals with
young offenders, sets up community services and reparation plans, and
attempts to prevent youth recidivism and incarceration.

<Partner Logos>

Page 127

59

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 128

Agenda Item 7
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 18th MARCH 2011
Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report

1.

Background

1.1

This Annual Report sets out the progress and achievements of Wirral Safeguarding
Children Board over the last year. It also prioritises actions and initiatives for 20112012.

2.

Background Papers
Draft Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report and Business Plan 2011/12

3.

Recommendations
1) That the Board note the draft Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report
and Business Plan 2011/12

Report Author:
Dennis Charlton
Independent Chair
Wirral Safeguarding Children Board

Page 129

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 130

Wirral Local Safeguarding Children Board

Annual Report and Business Plan 2011-12

Draft
To be tabled at LSCB on 15th March 2011
To be tabled at Children’s Trust on 18th March 2011

Page 131

Contents

1.

CHAIR’S WELCOME ....................................................................................................................... 4

2.

LOCAL AND NATIONAL CONTEXT............................................................................................ 5
Wirral Borough..................................................................................................................................... 5
The Local and National Context in Safeguarding Children.................................................................. 5

3.

LSCB PURPOSE AND STRUCTURE ............................................................................................. 7
Purpose ................................................................................................................................................. 7
Structure................................................................................................................................................ 7

4.

GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY .................................................................................. 9
Relationship between the LSCB and the Children’s Trust .................................................................... 9
Roles and Responsibilities of Members................................................................................................. 9
Reporting Mechanisms.......................................................................................................................... 9
Accountable Body ............................................................................................................................... 10

5.

LSCB PROGRESS AND ACHIEVEMENTS ................................................................................ 11
Report of the Outgoing LSCB Chair ................................................................................................... 11
Improvements to the Infra-structure of the LSCB 2008-2010............................................................. 12
Assuring the Quality of Multi-Agency Safeguarding Work................................................................. 13

6.

AGENCY REPORTS 2008-10 ......................................................................................................... 15
Children’s Social Care ....................................................................................................................... 15
Merseyside Police ............................................................................................................................... 19
Working in partnership with the LSCB ............................................................................................... 19
Safeguarding Training ........................................................................................................................ 19
Key Achievements ............................................................................................................................... 20
Wirral Schools and Further Education Providers .............................................................................. 21
Merseyside Probation Service ............................................................................................................ 23
Greater Merseyside Connexions Partnership ..................................................................................... 25
Link Forum ......................................................................................................................................... 27
NHS Wirral Provider Services Report ................................................................................................ 28
NHS Wirral Commissioning Directorate Report ................................................................................ 31
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership- NHS Foundation Trust................................................................. 33

7.

CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANEL REPORT......................................................................... 35
Cases reviewed by Wirral CDOP ....................................................................................................... 35
Key Developments 2009/10................................................................................................................. 36
Key issues for development 2011/12................................................................................................... 37

8.

SERIOUS CASE REVIEWS............................................................................................................ 38
Guidance for Serious Case Reviews (SCR)......................................................................................... 38
The Process......................................................................................................................................... 38
Lessons Learned ................................................................................................................................. 39

9.

MULTI-AGENCY SAFEGUARDING TRAINING REPORT ................................................... 41
Review of Training 2009-10................................................................................................................ 41
Overview of training for 2011-12 ....................................................................................................... 42

2

Page 132

10.

LOCAL AUTHORITY DESIGNATED OFFICER (LADO) REPORT ................................. 44
The Role of the LADO......................................................................................................................... 44
Data Collection................................................................................................................................... 45
Key Developments 2009-10 ................................................................................................................ 46
Planned developments 2011/12 .......................................................................................................... 46

11.

COMMON ASSESSMENT FRAMEWORK ACTIVITY REPORT ...................................... 47

12.

CHILD PROTECTION PERFORMANCE DATA .................................................................. 51
Referrals.............................................................................................................................................. 51
Initial Assessments.............................................................................................................................. 52
Core assessments ................................................................................................................................ 52
Initial child protection conferences and reviews ................................................................................ 53
Children with child protection plans................................................................................................... 55
Notifications of children missing from home or care.......................................................................... 58

13.

FINANCIAL REPORT................................................................................................................ 59

14.

LSCB PRIORITIES 2011/12....................................................................................................... 60

15.

LSCB BUSINESS PLAN 2011-12 ............................................................................................... 61

3

Page 133

1. Chair’s Welcome
The last year has seen significant challenges for Wirral Safeguarding Children Board.
Nationally there have been serious concerns, evidenced through a number of high profile
cases, about safeguarding arrangements for some children.
This has led, in turn, to many agencies reconsidering the focus and effectiveness of their
child protection practice.
There has also been, on a national basis, a significant rise in the numbers of children in
the care of local authority whilst at the same time financial constraints, experienced by all
organisations, because of the global economic position.
There are, however, some positive indicators for the future as Wirral Safeguarding
Children Board responds to these pressures.
The restructuring of Wirral Safeguarding Board will allow the Board to manage the
business more effectively and to ensure that there is a significant focus on front line
performance and practice.
Similarly the restructuring of the Board should assist in stimulating even wider multi
agency involvement.
There are likely to be additional challenges for 2011-2012. The Government intention to
introduce new national guidance for the safeguarding and protection of children by April
201,may well mean that we have to reconsider priorities and approaches for the future.
In my first year as Independent Chair of Wirral Safeguarding Children Board, despite all
of the changes and uncertainties, I have been heartened by the contribution and energy of
Board members. There is a real and very tangible commitment by all agencies to protect
and safeguard children in Wirral. Agencies clearly wish to find effective ways of working
together and that is seen through many of the initiatives outlined in this Annual Report.
This Annual Report sets out the progress and achievements of Wirral Safeguarding
Children Board over the last year. It also prioritises actions and initiatives for 2011-2012.
The Annual Report is very much a working document and I hope that both professionals
and members of the public will find the Report interesting and informative in outlining
the progress, aspirations and arrangements for safeguarding children in Wirral

Dennis Charlton
Independent Chair
Wirral Safeguarding Children Board

4

Page 134

2. Local and National Context
Wirral Borough
Wirral’s population has declined from over 355,000 during the 1970s to 308,500 in mid2009. The population is skewed towards older age groups, with a lower proportion of
younger adults (approximately 67,000) and a higher proportion of older people than the
averages for the rest of England and the North West. The fastest falling population
categories are the 24 years and under age groups.
Wirral covers an area of approximately 60 square miles and its major urban centres are to
the east on the Mersey coast, with a high proportion of the population living in
Birkenhead and Wallasey areas. It is well served by a motorway network and is
connected to mainline rail routes.
Wirral is a borough of enormous opportunity but it is also a place of sharp contrasts, with
the overall picture masking stark inequalities for local people. Many of our citizens enjoy
an excellent quality of life, with good housing, schools and a high quality living
environment. In certain parts of the borough, however, there are significant levels of
deprivation. Some of the 3% most deprived areas in the country fall within the urban
areas of Birkenhead and parts of Wallasey. Within Wirral, localities range from the 26th
most deprived in the country (around St James Church in Birkenhead) to one of the most
affluent, or least deprived - in South West Heswall less than 6 miles away.

The Local and National Context in Safeguarding Children
Protecting Wirral’s children and young people is a key priority, not only for the LSCB,
but for all the agencies which provide services for children and for the dedicated
professionals who work directly with them and their families.
Safeguarding children includes protecting them from maltreatment, preventing their
health and development from being impaired and ensuring that they are growing up in
safe circumstances with adults who care for them. Child protection is the aspect of
safeguarding which focuses on making safe those children who are, or who are likely to
be, suffering significant harm.
Safeguarding children requires that agencies and professionals work effectively together.
This has been the standard for many years when children and young people are the
subjects of child protection plans, and this model has been extended locally to ensure that
agencies and professionals also work together in a co-ordinated way when working with
children and families who are experiencing difficulties that they can’t manage alone.

5

Page 135

Agencies and professionals working in this way make use of the Common Assessment
Framework to determine how they can support children and families and work in a ‘Team
around the Child’ to provide the right kind of services to tackle problems and to prevent
them getting worse. Detailed information about how local agencies and professionals
worked to safeguard children and young people in the borough is contained in the body
of this report.
In May 2010, the general election led to a change of administration both nationally and
locally. In June 2010, the Secretary of State for Education, the Right Honourable
Michael Gove, MP, asked Professor Eileen Munro of the London School of Economics
and Political Science to conduct an independent review of children protection in England.
The premise for this review is that, although protecting children from abuse and neglect
has been high on the political agenda for many decades, reforms have not led to the
expected improvements in frontline practice. Indeed, there is evidence that previous
reforms have created new, unforeseen complications in terms of professionals’ ability to
exercise their professional judgement and to act in the best interests of the child.
Professor Munro’s final report will be published in April 2011, and its recommendations
for change will be considered and implemented by the LSCB.
In addition, it is important to recognise that the context, both nationally and locally, is
one of financial constraint across public services, increasing demand for children’s social
care and radical plans for the way in which the government is approaching public
services, including a major restructuring of the National Health Service.

6

Page 136

3. LSCB Purpose and Structure
Purpose
The LSCB is the key statutory mechanism for co-ordinating the work of each person and
agency represented on the Board to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, and
for ensuring their effectiveness in doing so. Working Together to Safeguard Children
(2010) outlines the scope of the LSCB, covering three main areas:
• Activity that affects all children and aims to identify and prevent maltreatment or
impairment of health or development, and ensure that children are growing up in
circumstances consistent with safe and effective care
• Proactive work that aims to target particular groups
• Responsive work to protect children who are suffering, or are likely to suffer,
significant harm

Structure
Wirral LSCB is served by an Executive Group and nine committees, each with a specific
area of responsibility. The primary function of each committee is to assist the LSCB to
achieve its priorities and fulfil its statutory duties.

Local Safeguarding Children
Board
Executive
Group

Staying
Safe

Risk
Governance

Child
Death
Overview

Performance

Children with
Disabilities

Training

Serious Case
Review Panel

Figure 1.1: Wirral LSCB and its Committees

7

Page 137

Policy,
Practice &
Procedures
e-Safety

The Executive Group comprises the Director of Children’s Services, the Chair of each
committee and senior representatives from agencies belonging to the LSCB. Its function
is to co-ordinate and support the work of the committees in order to drive forward the
business of the LSCB.
The Staying Safe Strategy Group serves both the LSCB and the Children’s Trust. Its
function is to promote the availability of safeguarding services in Wirral and to ensure
that all agencies understand their accountability in relation to safeguarding practice.
The Child Death Overview Panel collects, collates and evaluates information about the
deaths of children in Wirral, seeking to identify learning through preventable or
modifiable factors.
The Performance Committee monitors and evaluates the effectiveness of multi-agency
safeguarding practice and has a responsibility for undertaking Critical Incident Reviews.
The Training Committee plan, designs, delivers and evaluated multi-agency LSCB
training as well as monitoring the effectiveness of single-agency training across the
borough.
The e-Safety Committee monitors child safety issues related to Information
Communication Technology, advising in respect of education, training and expectations
of agencies and employees.
The Serious Case Review Panel makes recommendations to the LSCB Chair on the
need for SCRs. They are responsible for overseeing the production, publication and
quality assurance of SCRs. If a SCR is agreed by the Independent Chair, the SCR
committee is formed which is made up of core members of the Panel as well as Quality
Assurance senior officers from the agencies involved.
The Risk Governance Group utilises multi-agency partnerships to monitor and support
cases where children and young people are identified as posing a high risk to others.
The Children with Disabilities Committee ensures that the needs of those with complex
needs are considered and accommodated in all aspects of safeguarding.
The Policy, Practice and Procedures Committee has responsibility for providing staff
with guidance in line with national and local requirements.

8

Page 138

4. Governance and Accountability
Whilst Wirral LSCB has a role in co-ordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of local
agencies in safeguarding children, it is not accountable for their operational work. Each
member agency retains its own existing lines of accountability within its service. This
means that each organisation is responsible for ensuring that its work is informed by
Wirral LSCB and that safeguarding activity in undertaken in line with its guidance. The
LSCB monitors the quality and effectiveness of safeguarding in individual organisations
and in the way that organisations work together.

Relationship between the LSCB and the Children’s Trust
The Children’s Trust aims to meet the needs of children in relation to the five outcomes
of Every Child Matters. The work of the LSCB to safeguard children contributes to the
wider goals of the Children’s Trust, with particular focus on the Staying Safe outcome.
The Children’s Trust has a role in the planning and development of services for children
and young people, whereas the function of the LSCB is to co-ordinate and ensure the
effectiveness of these services.
The LSCB is not subordinate to or subsumed by the Children’s Trust, it has a separate
identity and an independent voice which allows it to challenge and scrutinise the
effectiveness of the work of the Children’s Trust and its partners. During 2009 a
Memorandum of Understanding was agreed to clarify and strengthen the relationship
between the two bodies.

Roles and Responsibilities of Members
The Director of Children’s Services and the Lead Elected Member for Children’s
Services have crucial roles in improving outcomes for children and young people in
Wirral: the Director of Children’s Services has lead organisational responsibility and the
Lead Member is politically accountable for ensuring that the local authority fulfils its
legal responsibilities for safeguarding children. The Director of Children’s Services is a
member both of Wirral Children’s Trust and of the LSCB. The Lead Member is Chair of
Wirral Children’s Trust and is a ‘participant observer’ of the LSCB, a role which is
defined by Working Together to Safeguard Children (2010).
All members of the LSCB are accountable to its Independent Chair for their contribution
to the work of the Board, whether they are local authority officers, professionals or lay
members. Professional members of the Board both represent and ‘hold to account’ their
own organisations.

Reporting Mechanisms
The LSCB Committees report to the Executive Group on a quarterly basis. Each chair
provides details of progress against targets, activity undertaken in priority areas and
9

Page 139

identifies issues for resolution. Recommendations presented by the committee chairs are
considered by the Executive Group in light of the over-arching priorities of the LSCB.
The Executive Group reports to the LSCB on the work undertaken by the committees to
safeguard local children.

Accountable Body
Wirral Council acts as the Accountable Body for the LSCB providing an administrative
and financial role, which involves:
• Human Resource management and administration of financial dealings
• Ensuring that funds are spent in accordance with the plan agreed by the LSCB
• Systems for monitoring performance and audit are in place and effectively
maintained
As the Accountable Body, Wirral Council does not have decision making power in terms
of the work of the LSCB, other than by means of its representation on the Board.

10

Page 140

5. LSCB Progress and Achievements

Report of the Outgoing LSCB Chair
Howard Cooper was the Director of Children’s Services in Wirral from 2006, he was also
the Chair of the LSCB from its inception in 2006 until the appointment of an Independent
Chair in 2010. Mr Cooper reflects on the progress made and the achievements of the
Board:
“The LSCB, at its inception, replaced the Area Child Protection Committee and
dramatically broadened what had been its role in relation to child protection to a focus
on children’s safety in all its respects. At that point, I could see that collaboration and
communication between agencies was reasonably effective already but I felt that we were
still some way from having a really integrated approach.
My early ambitions for the LSCB fell into three main areas.
My first ambition was to make genuine progress from cooperation and collaboration to
achieving an integrated understanding of how we can make children safer and what kind
of impact we could make. As a Board we were enabled to do this, by the prominence
given to integrated work in the statutory guidance. This emphasis struck a chord with me
to the extent that I would say that it is the best thing that has happened in my working life
with children.
My second ambition was to consolidate the shift of focus from child protection to
safeguarding, leading to a better understanding of how a broad impact on the safety of
all children would improve their lives both during their childhood and as adults, in
addition to ensuring that children were protected from direct harm from abuse and
violence. For me, avoiding neglect is an under-addressed and absolutely key issue,
locally and nationally. What stands in the way for many of our most vulnerable children
is how their families deal with the problems they face in their lives and the way in which
this impacts on their capacity to provide care for their children.
Thirdly, I wanted us to focus on more than ‘fire-fighting’, after a child has suffered abuse
and to look more at what we could do improve underlying systems, processes and
workforce knowledge and skills to ensure that children are safe. I wanted to see change
being driven by making improvements to how we all work with children today and not
only to be a response when things have gone wrong. So, although the LSCB’s
responsibility for children who live with abuse and violence was still key, I wanted the
Board, and the Children’s Trust, to change the context in which children live and to try to
reduce the likelihood of them being abused or hurt at all.

11

Page 141

I think that we have made considerable progress in Wirral since the Children Act 2004,
the Act which fundamentally changed how agencies work together. This is evident both
in the Children’s Trust and at the LSCB, but it is not just at that level that changes have
taken place.
When I am talking to different professionals and organisations, the quality of the
discussion has profoundly altered. For example, schools are more involved, both in CAF
(Common Assessment Framework) and ‘Team Around the Child’; health visitors and
community midwives see partners’ input as being absolutely central to how they work in
teams like Children’s Centres; and CAMHS (Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Services) are now working with children’s social care and in education to provide mental
health support to children in families, where previously these children might have
become looked after by the local authority. Police officers are more engaged in dealing
with the impact on children of adult crime and we have also been able to develop a better
understanding between children’s justice and social care, so that criminal justice
agencies are more alert and know better what to do to safeguard children, even when
children are not themselves the subjects of violence. An example of how this better
understanding has resulted in better actions would be through the use of Multi-Agency
Risk Assessment Conferences, which are part of the community response to domestic
abuse.
I am pleased that there now seems to be a greater coherence in the approach to meeting
children’s needs, and CAF has played a central but not exclusive part in this. This has
meant that there is more protection in place for those children who are often most
vulnerable as they fall just below one of the various ‘thresholds’.
I think we have become more open with one another about our work with children. For
example, as part of the wider Merseyside response to the death of Baby Peter Connolly,
we took part in an audit and review of sixty-six cases across the region to see how the
children in those families had been served by local professionals and organisations. AS
a result, we now have a common ‘escalation procedure’ and have improved how we
manage those cases where children move between local authority areas.
Although there is much yet to do, I am most proud of the extent to which the LSCB has
contributed to bringing safeguarding children to the top of everyone’s agenda and that
we are now in the position that all agencies are unlikely to retreat from their commitment
to integrated working and to the essential importance of safeguarding children.

Improvements to the Infra-structure of the LSCB 2008-2010
The membership of the LSCB by partner agency accords with statutory requirements and
has increased to include representation from Housing, Further Education and Adult
Social Services. The LSCB has also appointed two Lay Members to the Board and is
confident that they perspective they offer will further enhance its work.
12

Page 142

In 2010 the Board appointed an Independent Chair. The Independent Chair has a crucial
role in making certain that the LSCB operates independently and is able to hold
organisations to account. Also in 2010 the Lead Elected Member joined the LSCB as a
participating observer in line with the revised guidance of Working Together to
Safeguard Children (2010). Another step taken to ensure that the Board makes progress
against its priority areas is the introduction of an Executive Group. The purpose of the
Executive Group is to monitor and support the work of the committees. It offers a link
between the Board and the committees and encourages the committees to work in a more
co-ordinated fashion.
In addition to the changes to the structure of the Board and its Committees already
described, the LSCB has this year appointed a Business Manager to co-ordinate the many
varied strands of the work of the LSCB and to ensure that the Chair and Board members
are enabled to fulfil their responsibilities. The Board has also benefitted from the
services of a CAF manager to assure the quality of the safeguarding work of agencies in
this crucial area of the Board’s responsibilities and from the work of the Local Authority
Designated Officer (LADO) who deals with allegations against professionals, foster
carers and other adults working with children. These latter two posts have been funded
on a temporary basis by the LSCB.
The establishment of the Child Death Overview Panel was supported by funds from
central government which provided for the appointment of a dedicated administrator to
ensure that the required information is collected and collated, exercising strict
confidentiality in the process.

Assuring the Quality of Multi-Agency Safeguarding Work
Wirral LSCB has given priority to its role in monitoring the effectiveness of the way in
which professionals and partner agencies work together to promote the welfare of local
children and to keep them safe. The Board has employed a number of strategies to assist
in this function. These include:
• Regular scrutiny of key child protection data each quarter
• Establishing a monthly quality assurance process for CAF
• Implementing the Quality Assurance task group and monthly reports to improve
the quality of CAFs
• Case file audits
• Reports on the functioning of child protection processes, specifically the
thresholds for Initial Assessment and Core Assessment
• Undertaking a Domestic Violence review in 2009/10 with revised threshold
procedures
• Reviewed the effectiveness of multi-agency training
• Reviewing the purpose and functioning of the Board’s committees through a
review of each committee’s effectiveness

13

Page 143

•
•
•

•
•
•

•

Conducting an audit of the Board’s effectiveness through ‘Challenge and
Improvement’
Introducing an escalation procedure across the partnership on thresholds for
services
Undertaking a review with Senior Police colleagues of 66 case files across 5
Merseyside LSCB’s on the compliance with Working Together standards and
practice in these cases
Board members agreed to conduct another cycle of Section 11 audits on agency’s
compliance with the duty to co-operate
Improving lessons learned from SCR’s by participating in the SCIE pilot project
work and submitting the findings to the Munro Review ‘call for evidence’
The Ofsted unannounced inspection from July 2010 found much strong practice
and no areas requiring urgent action. ‘Good’ grades with several ‘outstanding’
features were awarded to both Safeguarding and Looked After Children services
in January 2011. Our partnership working was seen by Ofsted to be ‘outstanding’
with highly effective strategic leadership.
The Ofsted inspection considered that the LSCB was robust in auditing the work
of agencies and their compliance in SCR action plans

14

Page 144

6. Agency Reports 2008-10

Children’s Social Care
Working in partnership with the LSCB
Julia Hassall, Head of Branch Children’s Social Care is the lead officer responsible for
Children’s Social Care in the Council and represents Social Care on the Local
Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB). Julia also Chairs the Staying Safe Strategy
Group, is a member of the Risk Governance Committee, and the Serious Case Overview
Committee, as the Quality Assurance Officer to consider Individual Serious Case
Reviews. The Strategic Service Manager, Safeguarding serves on the LSCB, chairs the
SCR criteria Panel in addition to the Policy, Practice and Procedure Committee.
Each of the LSCB Committees has Children’s Social Care membership, with a
designated District Manager taking lead responsibility for the Social Care Branch on the
Policy, Practice and Procedure Committee: Child Death Overview Panel: and the
Training Committee. The Social Care Branch is represented at the Performance
Committee by the Quality Assurance Manager, and the Branch is represented at the
newly established Disability Committee by the Children with a Disability Service
Manager. The Strategic Service Manager, Children and Families, is a member of the
Serious Case Review Panel and the Staying Safe Group.
During 2010 the new elected member Safeguarding Reference Group has been
established, which has had its inaugural meeting in November 2010. The Head of Branch,
Children’s Social Care and the Strategic Service Manager, Safeguarding represent the
Department at this Committee, and also attends the recently formed LSCB Executive.
Children’s Social Care has contributed £70,000 annually to the LSCB during the past two
financial years.

Safeguarding Training
The last year has been notable in that more focused training and development has taken
place in respect of child protection work for Children’s Social Care staff members. This
has included:
A structured training programme for all newly qualified social workers, with mandatory
training which has included essential children protection training; bespoke training on
15

Page 145

undertaking assessments and working with families where chronic neglect is a feature.
This has been supported by an additional dedicated training officer, recruited in 2009.
Refresher training for all Children’s Social Care Fieldwork Managers in Child Protection
work, informed by the findings of a current Serious Case Review, was delivered by the
two Strategic Service Managers, Safeguarding and Children and Families, with the LSCB
Training Officer. 186 social workers and Managers have received this training, delivered
through six full day sessions between September and December 2010.
In February 2010 the Children’s Social Care Conference, held at the Floral Pavilion, for
all Children’s Social Care employees received input and focused workshop training on
Neglect, delivered by Researchers / Trainers from Salford University.
Learning from case file audits
There has been an ongoing process of learning through case file auditing for example,
through Themed Audits held three times last year in respect of Children subject to repeat
child protection registrations, Children in need and Children in care; monthly trigger
reporting by Independent Reviewing Officers, with required follow up by individual
Teams, and multiagency auditing through the Staying Safe Group, in the early part of
2010 on threshold application between children in the Team Around the Child process
and the interface with Children’s Social Care. An independent Audit has also been
undertaken in the two Assessment Teams involved in the most recent Serious Case
Reviews, randomly sampling a percentage of all cases opened and closed during a
specified period and all cases during the same period of children currently aged 5 years or
under.

Key Achievements
•

The Council invested over £750,000 into the core Children’s Social Care budget
to improve safeguarding activity in 2009. This included investment in Area
Teams; more social workers; a new field work front line management structure;
increased investment to support the infrastructure and Council investment to
support more robust LSCB systems and processes.

•

In line with the investment above, 7.5 permanent Area Team Leaders were
recruited and in post from February 2010, and the equivalent number of
Information Sharing Co-ordinators were recruited to Area Teams. Plans are being
implemented to co-locate all Area Teams by August 2011, supported by the
inward Council investment from the Co-location Fund.

•

A permanent Practice Manager for the Central Advice and Duty Team has been
recruited and eight of the eleven locality Practice Managers are permanently in
post, with the other three posts covered by experienced agency Managers.

16

Page 146

•

Five of the seven new Principal Team Managers have been recruited, with a focus
on driving up the standard of children’s plans, improving performance through
supervision, and specifically reducing drift and delay.

•

There has been Increased investment in IRO posts to create additional capacity to
implement the new regulations (April 2011) for looked after children.

•

There is improved compliance in using the Integrated Children’s System (ICS),
supported by the ICS Project Manager and temporary Data Officers.

•

All social worker vacancies have been covered by agency social workers during
the past year, and an additional Care Management Team has been established in
Birkenhead to improve managerial oversight and spans of control. The rolling
monthly social work recruitment process has continued, overseen by a responsible
District Manager and vacancies are kept to a minimum.

•

The first Unannounced Inspection of Contact, Referral and Assessment services,
on 21/22 July 2010 was positive, with many strengths identified, including the
systems in place at the Central Advice and Duty Team, and weekly monitoring
arrangements. There were four areas for development and no priority actions.
Preparation for the inspection was used as a lever to drive up improvements in
practice.

•

Systems for monitoring and recording Common Assessment Framework (CAF)
and Team Around the Child activity have continued to be strengthened under the
leadership of a new officer recruited by the LSCB. The Integrated Working Guide
has been refreshed and the monthly Quality Assurance audit continues to drive up
practice standards and has informed the refreshed training plan.

Key Developments for 2011/12
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Complete the review of the Child in Need systems and process;
Implement improved electronic child protection and Children’s Social Care
procedures (Tri x)
Continue to learn from SCR’s and Critical Incidents and fully implement the
findings from the SCIE pilot project
Deliver improved consistency in practice across Care Management Teams,
through consistent implementation of Team Plans;
Roll out the learning from the CWDC Remodelling Social Work Delivery Pilot to
inform best practice across all co-located Area Teams;
Implement a training plan for 2011/12 which specifies mandatory training for job
roles;

17

Page 147

•

•

Promote reflective supervision through revision of the Supervision Policy; peer
development opportunities and training of all Managers in expectations, with
external input, and audit consistent application;
Increase the pace and urgency in delivering children and young people’s plans, to
improve their opportunity to grow up securely attached to permanent carers for
their childhood.

18

Page 148

Merseyside Police

Working in partnership with the LSCB
Superintendent Michael Cloherty, is responsible for operational activity in the Wirral
Basic Command Unit (BCU), and represents Wirral Area Command Unit on the LSCB.
Detective Inspector David Grisenthwaite is responsible for the Family Crime
Investigation Unit (FCIU) based at Bebington. He represents Wirral BCU on three
LSCB committees: Policy, Practice and Procedure; Training, and Performance. DI
Grisenthwaite also sits on the Serious Case Review Panel. Both officers regularly attend
the Wirral Child Death Overview Panel. Police attendance at the Board and at committee
meetings has been regular. These officers have similar responsibilities in respect of
Wirral’s Safeguarding Adults Board.
Merseyside Police are routinely involved in Serious Case Reviews and Critical Incident
Reviews. In order to ensure the objectivity and transparency of the Police involvement in
these processes, the agency’s Individual Management Review reports (IMRs) are
undertaken by FCIUs from command areas other than Wirral. This process is coordinated across Merseyside by the Force Crime Operations Unit (FCOU). This also
means that the Detective Inspector at the FCIU Wirral completes Individual Management
Reports relating to SCRs in the Sefton Command Area.
The response to SCR recommendations is co-ordinated through the Protecting Vulnerable
Persons function of the FCOU. The Wirral FCIU reports on Wirral Critical Incident
Reviews to the wider force.
The Wirral Area Command Unit has contributed £10,000 annually to the LSCB
respectively for the past two financial years.

Safeguarding Training
The FCIU is responsible for the recording and investigating allegations of child abuse,
domestic abuse and offences against vulnerable adults. More recently the Unit has been
expanded to include the Sigma Unit, which is responsible for investigating hate crime.
The FCIU consists of a detective inspector, three detective sergeants and fourteen
investigators. There is an office manager for the Child Protection Team and the
Domestic Violence Team respectively, supported by four police staff. All child abuse
investigators are Home Office accredited investigators and receive further training
through the Specialist Child Abuse Investigator Development Programme, a nationally
accredited qualification provided by the National Police Improvement Agency (NPIA).
Domestic Abuse Investigators, if not already accredited investigators, are following the
Trainee Investigator Programme towards the qualifications required of child abuse
19

Page 149

investigators mentioned above. The objective is to develop staff so they are able to
investigate all the categories of crime dealt with under the FCIU remit. Five FCIU staff
members are trained as Family Liaison Officers.
Officers and police staff colleagues are nominated to attend courses provided by Wirral
LSCB, which are relevant to their role.

Key Achievements
A continuous achievement for the Wirral FCIU has been consistency in convicting a
large number of child abusers and securing significant terms of imprisonment for those
offenders. This has been achieved through the integration of professional investigation,
allied to an ethos of total victim care and support during, and often beyond, the criminal
justice process. The FCIU works effectively with the Public Protection Unit, Sex
Offender Unit and the Family Safety Unit.
During the past 12 months FCIU staff have:
• dealt with 3640 incidents of domestic abuse,
• responded to 618 child protection referrals, and,
• attended 208 Wirral child protection conferences.
Wirral patrol inspectors have initiated 18 Police Protection Orders during the same
period, to ensure that children can be removed quickly from dangerous situations to a
safe place.
The role of the FCIU domestic violence team has been fully integrated in to the MultiAgency Risk Assessment Committee (MARAC), chaired inter alia by DI Grisenthwaite.
Effective partnership working has been maintained with the Wirral Domestic Violence
Co-ordinator, and the Family Safety Unit (FSU), working as part of the Crime and
Disorder Reduction Partnership. All victims of domestic violence are assessed by the
FCIU and those assessed as ‘high risk’ are referred automatically to the FSU who then
initiate a bespoke ‘wrap round’ safety package for victims and their children. 40% of the
referrals to the FSU are from the FCIU. A pilot scheme is currently evaluating the
attachment of an Independent Domestic Violence Advisor from the Family Safety Unit to
the Family Crime Investigation Unit.

20

Page 150

Wirral Schools and Further Education Providers
Working in partnership with the LSCB
Schools are represented on the LSCB by three head-teachers: Su Lowy, Jill Billinge and
Gordon Fair. Ms Lowy is Head-teacher of Hayfield School and she represents special
schools. She attends Special School Heads (WISPHA) consultation group and her local
Primary Heads’ Cluster group. Ms Lowy is a champion of children with disabilities and
has helped to establish the Children with Disabilities Committee. Ms Lowy helped
provide the safeguarding audit for use in primary schools, and continues to advise
colleagues on safeguarding procedures.
Jill Billinge is Head-teacher at Devonshire Park and she represents primary schools. Ms
Billinge is Chair of the Primary Head-teachers’ Consultation Group, which has identified
their specific concern in terms of additional capacity required to participate fully in the
formal safeguarding processes, such as Team Around the Child, Child in Need meetings
and child protection conferences and core groups.
Gordon Fair is a former secondary Head-teacher who has been working, in recent years,
as a Consultant Leader in Wirral. His post is part-funded by secondary schools. He is a
member of the Wirral Association of Secondary Head-teachers (WASH) whose
membership has been expanded to include the further education college, the sixth form
college and the Academies in Wirral. Mr Fair has contributed to the development the
safeguarding ‘audit tool’ for use in secondary schools and regularly reports back to
schools on issues related to safeguarding.
Mr Fair also sits on the Serious Case Review committee and has been part of two serious
case reviews in 2009/2010.

Safeguarding Training
Between September 2009 and November 2010, 172 senior staff from schools completed
the Designated Person Child Protection Training.
Whole School Training in safeguarding children has continued and all requests have been
met or agreed including a number of bookings for 2011. In addition, to ensure
consistency for those schools which prefer to deliver their training internally, the LSCB
Safeguarding Training Officer provides appropriate training materials. This training pack
is updated regularly and accessed by schools.
School staff took advantage of 225 training places offered by the LSCB from September
2009-October 2010, to promote best safeguarding practice. Two further safeguarding
sessions have recently been arranged for Teaching Assistants and staff who are appointed
between whole school training sessions are encourage to order and make use of the
Safeguarding DVD available from the LSCB Safeguarding Training Officer.
21

Page 151

Safer Recruitment training will be provided by the LSCB in 2011/12, and has been
previously been available as an on-line package through the LSCB website.

Key Achievements
In 2010 representation on the LSCB was gained for Further Education, Training
Providers and Sixth Form Colleges. The representative is Wirral Metropolitan College
Deputy Principal Barry Leatham-Jones who is also the Senior Designated Person for
Safeguarding matters at the College. This is an exciting progression for the LSCB as
safeguarding issues for older young people are becoming more prevalent. The college
have taken many steps to improve safeguarding for their students.
In February 2010 the College appointed a full-time Safeguarding Manager, Lorraine
Gardner who in addition to taking forward the College’s strategy for safeguarding
internally and building stronger ‘multi-agency’ links externally will also join the LSCB eSafety Committee.
The College’s business is predominantly vocational, post-compulsory, education and
training for young people, adults and employers. It works closely with many school
partnerships and with an annual 16-18 client population of around 2,000 learners (as well
as some 11,000 adult learners) is well placed to bring a unique insight to the work of the
LSCB.
The College’s safeguarding strategy, based on “Working Together to Safeguard
Children” and “Safeguarding Children and Safer Recruitment in Education”,
encompasses Child Protection, Child Concern and Safe Recruitment.
The College has 600+ staff, 98% of whom (including Governors) have undergone
safeguarding awareness training during the last 12 months.
As part of its emphasis on Every Child Matters the College regularly involves its students
in activities which contributes to their own awareness raising and provides valuable
intelligence about what concerns them and how they feel. For example, most recently in
the planning, co-ordination and delivery of dramatic performances and giving more
personal views through the MiPod Diary room, as part of Anti-bullying week.

22

Page 152

Merseyside Probation Service
Working in partnership with the LSCB
Merseyside Probation Trust (MPT) is responsible for the supervision of adult offenders
who are subject either to a Community or Suspended Sentence Order or have received a
custodial sentence of 12 months or more. Some of these offenders may pose a direct risk
of serious harm to children, whilst other offenders may live in households where the
children are subject to a child protection plan; have been assessed as being in need, or
may be suffering from neglect. Offender managers are aware that it is their responsibility
to work alongside their colleagues in other agencies to promote children’s well being and
safeguard their welfare.
MPT is one of the three responsible authorities for Multi-Agency Public Protection
Arrangements (MAPPA) for those offenders who are considered to pose the greatest risk
of harm to others. The agency works with a wide range of partners who are identified as
having a ‘duty to cooperate’ to ensure the process of risk assessment and management in
these difficult cases is as robust as possible. In Wirral, the Local Authority Designated
Officer (LADO) attends most Multi Agency Public Protection Panels to help ensure that
safeguarding needs are identified and appropriate steps taken by the necessary agencies to
reduce or manage any known risk.
The Assistant Chief Officer is a member of the LSCB and Executive Group. The Risk
Governance Management Group, Training Committee and Policy, Practice and
Procedures Committees are attended by representatives from Merseyside Probation
Service.
Merseyside Probation Service has made a contribution of £5,000 annually to the LSCB
for the last two years.

Safeguarding Training
In 2011/12, as well as attending internal safeguarding training, there will be renewed
attention paid to involvement in LSCB training initiatives for staff and managers of all
grades. The management team of MPT in Wirral is giving consideration to a number of
initiatives linked to improving safeguarding responsibilities, including improved
awareness of the role of the Community Alcohol and Drugs Team; ensuring that the
escalation process is embedded; and, reviewing how the key lessons from SCRs are
disseminated to the wider staff group.

23

Page 153

Key Achievements
During 2009/10, Merseyside Probation Trust has restructured the way in which it delivers
its services to ensure greater local focus and improved continuity of offender
management. Practice advice has been issued to staff with respect to the need to monitor
who lives in a household where there are children present, paying particular attention to
identifying the presence of men who either reside in the household or who are regular
visitors: this follows from a findings of a significant number of serious case reviews
nationally where ‘hidden males’ have posed an unrecognised risk to children. The
Trust’s safeguarding policy and practice requirements are currently being re-written to
reflect the changes to Working Together 2010. The LSCB Manager has had opportunity
to critically review the proposed changes.
Merseyside Probation Trust were one of the key agencies that participated in the SCIE
pilot, a project which aimed to improve the lessons learned from SCRs through better
multi agency collaboration.

24

Page 154

Greater Merseyside Connexions Partnership
Working in partnership with the LSCB
Connexions is represented on the LSCB in Wirral by the Director of Services to
Education and Training. Nominated staff also link with appropriate committees and
Connexions is a member organisation of the Children and Young People’s Executive, the
Staying Safe Strategy Group, Training Committee, Performance Committee and
participates in Serious Case Reviews as required.
Safeguarding is a priority for the Greater Merseyside Connexions Partnership (GMCP)
and is a key feature in the role of every member of staff. The Connexions Leadership
Team is responsible for overseeing all policies. The Audit and Risk Sub-Committee of
the Connexions Trust Board oversees all aspects of the Safeguarding Policy and Strategy.
The Chief Executive is responsible for ensuring that GMCP fulfils its responsibility to
protect adult clients and its duty under Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 to safeguard
and promote the welfare of children, in accordance with government guidance. The
Chief Executive is also responsible for ensuring that GMCP is represented on, and works
in accordance with the policies and objectives of, the LSCBs and works in accordance
with local interagency adult protection policies and procedures.
The Director for Services to Education or Training in Wirral and the Services to
Adults Manager are responsible for:
• The quality of safeguarding and protection work in their area;
• The effective management of safeguarding and protection work in their area;
• Developing effective working relationships with local social care services; and,
• Referral criteria and arrangements.
Operational Managers are accountable to the Director for Services to Education and
Training or the Services to Adults Manager for the work of their teams in safeguarding
and protecting both children and adults. They are responsible for:
• Ensuring that everyone in the team has attended training concerning the
Safeguarding and Protection Policy and Procedures and understands, and works
according to, their defined role and responsibilities;
• Organising their availability so that they are accessible at all times during normal
working hours if there is a need for advice or for support to be provided in
relation to a child protection concern. This includes ensuring that appropriate oncall cover is in place, in line with Connexions policy and procedures concerning
on-call arrangements;
• Deciding what action is required, having considered the information presented
about the case;
• Making any referral to Adult or Children’s Social Care Services; and,

25

Page 155

•

Liaising with the Social Care Services with regard to any consequent actions and
for attending meetings or assisting with further information as appropriate.

Personal Advisors work directly with children, young people and adults and are
accountable to their Operational Manager. Personal Advisors are responsible for:
• Being aware of, and alert to, the risk factors and signs and indicators of abuse and
neglect;
• Ensuring that when a disclosure is made that they support and assist the person
making the disclosure appropriately;
• When a concern of abuse or neglect arises as an allegation, or as the result of an
observation or disclosure, recording the information and bringing the matter to the
attention of the Operational Manager; and,
• Assisting any consequent actions by children’s or adult social care or other
agencies, by attending meetings or contributing information, as required.
GMCP in Wirral has made a contribution of £5,000 per annum to the LSCB; a sum which
is reviewed annually.

Safeguarding Training
GMCP ensures representation at the development days for the LSCB and Connexions
staff have participated in multi-agency training, as appropriate.
It is Connexions policy to ensure that all employees receive appropriate training and
support to ensure that they safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young
people and protect adult clients from abuse and neglect. Single agency training delivered
includes the following:
• Induction training, delivered by means of a bespoke e-learning package, which
provides a basic awareness of safeguarding issues, policy and procedures. This is
undertaken by all levels of staff and monitored through Staff Supervision;
• Frontline staff, including Personal Advisors, complete a more in depth e-learning
programme and attend a one day in house training day on safeguarding. This is
delivered by members of the Wirral Management Team, who have attended a
Training Workshop and Refresher Training to support their delivery of this
training.
• Refresher training in safeguarding is then scheduled to ensure currency of
knowledge. Refresher training took place for Wirral staff during May 2010.

Key Achievements
Connexions records all safeguarding actions in the Connexions Centre Safeguarding logs
and these are forwarded to the Director of Services to Education and Training and
reviewed monthly at Performance Management Team meetings.
Wirral also operates as a ‘safeguarding hub’ with Sefton Connexions in order to review
and share good practice.
26

Page 156

Link Forum
Working in partnership with the LSCB
The Link Forum is an independent body that plays an active role in influencing the shape
and delivery of services on the Wirral for children and young people. The one area they
have in common is the provision of care, support and activities to children and young
people from 0 to 19. Many organisations are represented on the Link Forum including,
uniformed organisations, family support groups, drug and alcohol services, play
provision, youth clubs, information, advice and guidance groups.
A Link Forum member contributes to:
• Quarterly LSCB meetings
• LSCB Development Days
• LSCB Training Committee
• LSCB e-Safety Committee
• LSCB Children with Disabilities Committee
• Representation and contribution to Serious Case Reviews is also provided as
necessary
Link Forum makes contributions ‘in-kind’ to LSCB. Time is provided by host
organisations to attend meetings and development days; for reading; report writing; and,
feedback to the Link Forum. Link Forum also encourages Voluntary, Community and
Faith Sector (VCF) organisations to complete the Safeguarding Audits, co-ordinates their
responses, promotes multi-agency training in safeguarding and provides other
information required by the Board.

Safeguarding Training
VCF organisation have benefitted from attending LSCB multi agency training, such as:
• Train the Trainer in Child Protection
• Chairing a Team Around the Child Meeting
• Information Sharing
• CAF training
• Role of the Lead Professional
• Safeguarding Children Module on the Common Induction Programme
• The Effects of Neglect and Use of the Assessment Tool
• Working Together to Safeguard Children Levels 1 & 2
• The Effects of Domestic Abuse on Children
• Train the Trainer in Safeguarding Children-Policy into Practice
The Link Forum has also been involved in the delivery of multi agency safeguarding
training via the Safeguarding Children module on the Common Induction Programme.

27

Page 157

NHS Wirral Provider Services Report
Working in partnership with the LSCB
NHS Wirral Provider Services Safeguarding Service sits within the Primary Care &
Provider Services Directorate of NHS Wirral and is part of the portfolio of the Clinical
Director of Provider Services. The service links to Commissioning and with Wirral
University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
The role of NHS Wirral Provider Services Safeguarding Service is to support all staff
irrespective of background/role in the organisation regarding all aspects of safeguarding.
This includes safeguarding training, identification of potential abuse or neglect and taking
appropriate action. This service is operationally managed by the Head of Safeguarding
Service and accountable to the Clinical Director of Provider Services. The Clinical
Director of Provider Services is the LSCB representative.
Within the Provider Services arm of NHS Wirral there are a number of staff with specific
roles and responsibilities, summarised as follows:
Head of Safeguarding
Named Nurse-Safeguarding Children

Named GP- Safeguarding Children

Named Nurse-Looked After Children
(LAC)

Support Nurse- Looked After Children
(LAC)
Safeguarding Practitioner- Lead for
Safeguarding Adults/Domestic Abuse
Safeguarding Practitioner-Lead for Mental
Capacity Act (MCA) /Deprivation of
Liberty Safeguards (DOLS)
Administration Team

Provides operational and strategic
leadership to staff within the service
Provides advice, training, support and child
protection supervision to all NHS Wirral
Provider Service staff
Provides extensive input into raising
awareness amongst GP’s of child
protection issues and requirements and is
the point of contact for GP’s with queries
and concerns
Responsible for ensuring that the minimum
statutory requirements for children in care
are met, as laid out in the Children Act
(2002) and Promoting the Health of
Looked After Children (2002/2009)
Works with the Named Nurse-LAC to
ensure that best practice is achieved
Provides an advisory and support function
to the multi-disciplinary
team/clients/carers/external agencies
Works in partnership across the health
economy to establish strategic priorities,
agree and implement a programme of work
which ensures the implementation of MCA
Supports and facilitates all aspects of
safeguarding work
28

Page 158

There are regular safeguarding meetings at various levels in order to ensure effective
communication across the organisation. In addition this supports the embedding of
safeguarding into all services delivered by NHS Wirral Provider Services and facilitates a
co-ordinated approach which meets local and national safeguarding
guidance/requirements.
In addition, NHS Wirral Provider Services is represented at the following meetings:
• The LSBC, the Executive Group and each of the 9 committees
• Safeguarding Adults Partnership Board (SAPB) and sub groups
• LAC Network meetings
• Named Nurse, Safeguarding Children regional network meetings
• Multi Agency Risk Assessment Committee (MARAC)
• Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA)

Safeguarding Training
The Safeguarding Training strategy was reviewed during 2009 to ensure that it met the
requirements of national/regional guidance along with NICE guidance, Statutory
Guidance on Promoting the Health and Well-being of Looked After Children (2009).
The Safeguarding Training strategy is currently under further review to reflect the
requirements of
• Working Together to Safeguard Children (2010)
• Safeguarding Children and Young People: roles and competencies for health care
staff ( 2010)
• Safeguarding Children – “A review of arrangements in the NHS for safeguarding
children” (Care Quality Commission, July 2009)
NHS Wirral Provider Services staff attendance at safeguarding training 2009/10 is as
follows:

Training Session
Domestic Abuse training
MARAC process training
Safeguarding Adults training
Safeguarding Adults & Domestic Abuse combined
training sessions
Safeguarding Children training
Essential Learning (programme included
Safeguarding Children & Domestic Abuse)

Number
310
73
40
410
8
310

The Essential Learning programme, which is mandatory training for all practitioners with
direct patient contact, has a whole day dedicated to safeguarding so that staff are clear in
their responsibility relating to safeguarding patients of all ages.

29

Page 159

Key Achievements
All Named Nurses within NHS Wirral Provider Services Safeguarding Service are
competent to meet the supervision requirements identified within NHS Wirral’s
Safeguarding Supervision policy. These practitioners have received certificated Child
Protection Supervision training and accreditation via NSPCC. Staff undertaking child
protection supervision sessions attend NSCPCC training on a 3 yearly basis The NHS
Wirral Supervision Policy has been reviewed and updated to incorporate all elements of
safeguarding supervision for both children and adults.
Part of the child protection supervision process involves completion of an audit tool
relating to all children subject to a child protection plan. The audit tool was originally
created in order to respond to a piece of work requested via the Local Safeguarding
Children Board (LSCB) as a result of the Haringey enquiry. The audit is now ongoing
and data is analysed weekly in order to report any trends to the Local Authority and also
to escalate individual cases if required.
Following a Serious Case Review, NHS Wirral allocated funding specifically to update
the training package delivered to GP practices. The training programme was updated to
ensure that it reflects the most recent national and local best practice guidelines,
incorporates case studies to encourage discussion regarding subtle signs of child abuse
and meets the recommendations of the latest local serious case review along with
requirements of the Care Quality Commission (CQC) report published July 2009 entitled
“A Review of arrangements in the NHS for safeguarding children” in July 2009. A
central register of GP attendance at the training is being compiled and GPs will receive a
certificate of attendance at the first stage of the training and a certificate of competency
after completion of a cd-rom package. Safeguarding training attendance/certification has
formed part of the GP Appraisal process and QAF visits.

Learning from Serious Case Reviews and organisational incidents is shared and action
taken to reduce the likelihood of incidents reoccurring. Examples of key changes made as
a result of Serious Case Reviews are listed below:
• Paediatric competency’s introduced in Unplanned Care
• All Under 1s seen by a medical professional in Unplanned Care
• HV record keeping has been reviewed and training delivered to ensure
compliance with record keeping standards
• GP safeguarding training package was reviewed and mechanism put in place to
evidence GP attendance and competency
NHS Wirral Provider Services have introduced a root cause analysis (RCA) approach to
investigating all incidents which have a safeguarding element (relating to children or
adults). Safeguarding Practitioners have received RCA training to enable them to
undertake this approach which also assists when compiling chronology information part
of a Serious Case Review.

30

Page 160

NHS Wirral Commissioning Directorate Report
Working in Partnership with the LSCB
The role of the Commissioning Directorate (including Strategic Partnerships) within NHS
Wirral is to work with the Local Authority to improve the health and wellbeing of their
local population including children and young people. The PCT has to ensure that all
providers, from whom they commission services, are aware of their Safeguarding
responsibilities and have policies and procedures in place to safeguard and promote the
welfare of children. These should be in line with and informed by LSCB procedures.
The role of the Designated Nurse within the Commissioning Directorate of NHS Wirral
is to ensure that commissioners and providers are fully aware of their Safeguarding
Children responsibilities to promote and safeguard the welfare of children and that these
responsibilities are included within contracts and form part of the monitoring process.
The Designated Nurse also works closely with the Designated Doctor to provide advice
and support to Health staff across Wirral’s Health Economy. This includes involvement
in all Serious Case Review work as well as involvement in reviews of Critical Incidents.
In 2010, the Designated Nurse and Doctor have been involved with two Serious Case
Reviews and two Critical Incident reviews. The Designated Nurse will monitor the
recommendations from the Serious Case Reviews and the Critical Incident reviews to
ensure that the Health elements of the reviews are completed within the appropriate
timescales.
The Designated Nurse and Doctor continue to participate in Wirral’s LSCB and on
several of the LSCB sub-groups. This gives the designated professionals the opportunity
to provide skilled advice to the LSCB on health issues.

Safeguarding Training
A key feature of training has been the development of supervision in relation to
safeguarding. The Designated Nurse meets with the Named Nurses from NHS Wirral
Provider Services, Wirral University Teaching Hospital and Cheshire and Wirral
Partnership Trust and provides Safeguarding supervision at 8-12 week intervals. The
Designated Nurse is currently undertaking a 5 day Supervision course with staff from
Wirral University Teaching Hospital. This is an accredited course run by the NSPCC
which will update the skills of the Designated Nurse. The course will also ensure that
Wirral University Teaching Hospital is able to meet its responsibilities for delivering
effective Safeguarding supervision to its staff.

31

Page 161

Key Achievements
In 2010, the Strategic Health Authority worked with the Designated Nurses across the
North West to produce a Safeguarding Policy which now forms part of all new contracts.
This policy is to be audited on an annual basis to ensure that providers are meeting their
responsibilities as per the Children Act of 2004 and the current guidance in Working
Together to Safeguard Children (DCSF March 2010).
The Designated Nurse has undertaken significant developments in networking, both
locally and nationally and this will continue throughout 2011 to ensure that Safeguarding
Children issues are not “lost” within the changes that will take place in Wirral over the
course of the next twelve months. This will be particularly important as Wirral’s GP
consortia will commence work in January 2011 and they need to be fully aware of their
Safeguarding Children responsibilities in all future commissioning work.

32

Page 162

Cheshire and Wirral Partnership- NHS Foundation Trust
Working in partnership with the LSCB
Cheshire & Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CWP) continues support the work
of Wirral LSCB. Representation at Board level is made by the Director of Nursing,
Therapies and Patient Partnership. CWP is appropriately monitored for Safeguarding by
LSCBs, Care Quality Commission, National Health Service Litigation Authority
(NHSLA) and Monitor (Foundation trust Monitoring Body), in relation to their
responsibility to ensure that the needs of children are considered in delivering care to
families under Sec 11 Children Act (2004).
Trust-wide work for safeguarding children continues to be undertaken by a safeguarding
team, which include three Named Doctors (one for each constituent LSCB), one Lead
Nurse (incorporates the role of Named Nurse) and two Safeguarding Practitioners one for
Children and one for Adults. The Safeguarding Children Practitioner’s role is very much
centred on the day-to-day advice on safeguarding children. The team continues to provide
information, supervision and advice on the effects of abuse and neglect of children. The
team also delivers Level 1 and 2 safeguarding training. The package has been ratified by
constituent LSCBs. The Team represents CWP on several of the LSCB committees.
The assurance of CWP’s integration of Safeguarding into Clinical Practice is overseen by
a Trustwide Safeguarding Strategic Group for children and adults. This group is chaired
by the Director of Nursing, Therapies and Patient Partnership or the Deputy Director of
Nursing. Each Service Line is represented by its General Manager to ensure that
safeguarding is central to each service. It is here that the work with partner agencies such
as LSCBs and Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARACs) is reported back
as well as policy or procedure issues that affect all services. External or internal audits
including action plans are monitored and ratified by this group.

Safeguarding Training
As well as an utilising an e-learning package, the team continues to deliver face-to-face
basic awareness (Level 1) on all induction sessions and Level 2 mandatory training. The
package has been ratified by constituent LSCBs as “Excellent and very informative”. The
Safeguarding Lead and Safeguarding Children Practitioner have attended additional
‘training for trainers’ to enhance delivery. Children and Adolescent Mental Health
Service (CAMHS) clinical staff are also are required to attend Level 3 training annually.
Present Training figures
Staff
in
Post

Total
number of
Staff

%
attended

33

Page 163

Trained
Level
1

2652

2652

100%

Level
2

1904

1110

58%

Level
3

257

190

75%

Includes all staff who received handbook up to April 2009 and
from May 2009 new starters who have received induction
including CD of presentations which includes Safeguarding
level 1
This is likely to be understated as the Trust has difficulty
validating training that staff completes external to CWP and the
3 yearly compliance requirement of level 2. We have recently
significantly increased the training investment to meet our
targets and project a 100% compliance by 2012.
This is specific to CAMHS. Remaining staff are booked on
future sessions - both internal and external - which will bring
the figure to 100% by 2011.

Key Achievements
The Safeguarding team has:
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Continued to provide advice and support to healthcare professionals in an ever
increasing market place;
Responded to changes Government legislation, reports and guidance such as
review of Baby Peter, the Independent Safeguarding Authority Vetting and
Barring scheme ;
Reviewed the role of the Trust safeguarding Children Group;
Led and reviewed the Clinical Service Units Safeguarding Groups;
Continued membership of Cheshire East and West Domestic Abuse Strategic
Group;
Continued membership of NHS North West ‘Mental Health Safeguarding
Children Group’;
Continued membership of Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conferences for
Domestic Violence (MARAC) for Cheshire and Wirral.

34

Page 164

7. Child Death Overview Panel Report
Child death review processes became mandatory in April 2008, thus arrangements have
been in place for just 24+ months. The panel is responsible for over-viewing the
processes to respond to unexpected deaths and for reviewing information on all child
deaths that occur within the Wirral LSCB area. The purpose is to:
• Assess preventability of all child deaths
• Collect information which enables local patterns/trends to be identified
• Compare statistical data with other neighbouring areas, and the North West
• Make recommendations and monitor actions and where possible to prevent future
child deaths.
Child death is a very sensitive issue and of crucial importance. The panel is committed to
learning from any such death in order to identify preventable factors at both local and
national level, and to inform action that can be taken to reduce the number of child deaths
in the future. Four principles underpin the CDOP work:
• Every child death is a tragedy.
• Learning lessons to prevent future child deaths.
• A multi-agency approach.
• Possible action to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.

Cases reviewed by Wirral CDOP
•

•

•
•

16 deaths were reported to the Wirral CDOP during 09-10. However, as the
review of neonatal deaths did not commence until November 2009, a full year’s
report on all child deaths is not possible.
Of these 16 deaths – 11 child death reviews were completed in the reporting
period, 4 cases were still open (and as yet uncategorised) and one case was not
reviewed as it did not fulfil the CDOP criteria.
Of these 16 children, 9 were male, and 7 were female.
14 of these 16 children were under the age of 5 years.

Categorisations for the cause of death are as follows:
Category
Malignancy
Chronic Medical Condition

Number of children
1
2

Chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies

3

Perinatal/neonatal event
Infection

2

35

Page 165

Infection
Sudden Unexpected Unexplained death
As yet uncategorised
Not for CDOP review.
TOTAL
•

•

2
1
4
1
16

In terms of categorising the preventability of deaths, the CDOP forms in 09/10
used the terminology – preventable, potentially preventable and not preventable.
During the reporting period, 3 deaths were classified as potentially preventable,
and 8 were categorised as not preventable.
The potentially preventable child deaths were categorised as follows:
o 1 due to infection,
o 2 due to perinatal/ neonatal events.
These three deaths were all in children under 1 year of age.

Key Developments 2009/10
• The revision of Working Together to Safeguard Children in 2010 included new
guidance on the processes to be followed by the CDOP when a child dies. Key changes
include:
o revised definitions of preventable deaths and unexpected deaths;
o clarity on the roles of coroners and registrars;
o guidance on responding appropriately to the death of a child with a life
limiting illness;
o clarification on the level of involvement parents and family members
should have in the process and the type of support they will need;
o clarification that CDOP processes do not apply to still births or legal
planned terminations;
o revised and more substantial guidance on the requirements for rapid
response arrangements for all stages of the process
Wirral CDOP has incorporated these changes into its processes and functions.
• Data collection accords with the reporting information required from the Department
for Education.
• Since November 2009, Wirral CDOP reviews all neonatal deaths in addition to child
deaths.
•

Contact with bereaved parents has increased and benefitted from the introduction of a
letter and leaflet for parents which ensures they are aware of the CDOP process and
helped to understand its purpose. It has been agreed that it is not appropriate to send
this letter to the parents of a neonate.

36

Page 166

•

A database for recording child death information has been established and is
maintained by a dedicated CDOP Administrator. The database is updated as
necessary to meet CDOP and reporting requirements.

•

Wirral CDOP continues to meet regularly and attendance is good from all agencies: it
also benefits from its links with the Merseyside CDOP group and the Regional (North
West) CDOP Steering Group. Given the relatively low numbers of child deaths on
the Wirral, the LSCB is informed by the work of colleagues in other boroughs, the
data in the North West Child Death report, and national data.

•

2009/10 has provided the opportunity to build on the firm foundations of the first
year, so as to strengthen the links between Serious Case Reviews, the CDOP process,
and other Board activities, to ensure that all learning and appropriate actions are taken
in a timely manner. This is work which is strengthened through the introduction of
the Executive Group.

Key issues for development 2011/12
•

•
•

•

•
•
•

The CDOP Nurse post should be resourced and implemented. Contact with
bereaved parents has increased, and at present the main contact point for parents
is the CDOP Chair.
Utilising the new national leaflet on child deaths needs to be considered to further
improve communication with parents.
Work has been undertaken since the introduction of CDOPs to raise awareness of
its existence and function; however this continues to provide challenge and will
remain a priority for 2011/12.
With the change in preventability categorisation to modifiable factors/non modifiable
factors, consideration should be given to the categorisation of neonatal deaths. Given
that this is a relatively new development for Wirral CDOP, and the complex nature of
many of these deaths, this will be a difficult but necessary task.
Opportunities for benchmarking the categorisation of cases should be taken at a local and
regional level.
2010/11 will be the third year of reporting and it will be appropriate to look at Wirral
trends. However, this will need to be undertaken with great caution given the small
numbers involved, and should be done within the context of North West data.
Improving the collection of information continues to feature as an issue both for Wirral
CDOP and at a regional level. The panel will continue to evaluate its effectiveness and
liaise with neighbouring CDOPs to work together to establish a more robust process
which complies with statutory guidance.

37

Page 167

8. Serious Case Reviews

Guidance for Serious Case Reviews (SCR)
Working Together (2010) sets out the criteria for undertaking a Serious Case Review
(SCR); the procedural requirements and timescales which should be adhered to when a
case is being considered. SCRs are conducted when a child dies, and abuse or neglect is
known or suspected to be a factor in the death. Additionally the LSCB will always
consider whether a SCR should be conducted in other significant circumstances. Those
cases which do not meet the criteria for a SCR may become subject to a Critical Incident
Review, a non-statutory process to gain understanding and learning from ‘near misses’.
Wirral LSCB agreed that the SCIE framework for conducting a Critical Incident should
be used with a case that was subject to adult and children’s services involvement. The
learning from this case was presented to the LSCB in December 2010 and the Adults
Safeguarding Partnership Board in January 2011.
The purpose of serious case reviews is to establish whether lessons can be learned from
the case about the way local professionals and organisations work together to safeguard
and promote the welfare of children, to act upon these lessons and as a consequence
improve inter-agency working. To ensure that the review is conducted in a non-biased
way, an Independent Chair and Independent Overview Author are appointed to each case.
It is the responsibility of the LSCB Chair to decide whether a case warrants initial
discussion at the Serious Case Review Panel. The panel, Chaired by the Strategic Service
Manager for Safeguarding is made up of representatives from partner agencies, and
additional members can be added if required in a particular case. Once the LSCB Chair
has instructed the panel to meet, the case files are secured in order to help inform the
panel’s decision making process.
The Serious Case Review Panel meet within 7 days of the request by the LSCB Chair and
make a recommendation within 4 weeks as to what action is necessary and if a SCR is to
take place. If a SCR is to take place the Terms of Reference are drawn up and the LSCB
Chair will inform Ofsted that the case is to become the subject of a SCR.

The Process
The process of SCRs involves gathering Individual Management Reviews from each
agency involved, producing a case chronology which covers the agreed review period,
producing an Overview Report with recommendations for service improvements and an
Executive Summary for publication. The Overview Report should be completed within 4
months and presented to the LSCB for approval before being forwarded to Ofsted, in the
required format, for grading.

38

Page 168

The publication of SCRs is a serious and complex issue. Published SCRs are
appropriately redacted and anonymised to protect the privacy and welfare of vulnerable
children and their families. In future it will be a requirement to publish the Overview
Report in its entirety rather than just the Executive Summary. It is believed that this will
encourage further transparency of services and processes.

Lessons Learned
SCRs are of little value unless lessons are learned from them. In order to maximise the
opportunity to improve the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements, an action plan,
which contains the recommendations specific to each case, is produced and monitored by
the Executive Group.
Three SCRs have been completed between 2008 and 2010. Contributions have been
made by Children’s Social Care, Merseyside Police, housing associations, Greater
Merseyside Connexions Partnership, education, Wirral NHS and PCT, and many other
partners. An action plan has been produced for each SCR. The action plans are
monitored by the Executive Group of the LSCB and are intended to ensure the
implementation of recommendations made through the SCR process. Examples of
positive changes which have arisen through SCRs are:
•
•

•
•

•
•

Wirral NHS has reviewed its ‘Paediatric Competency’ framework;
Merseyside Police has reviewed its Child Protection Policy in relation to
Public Protection Orders, to ensure that health professionals are provided with
the necessary information;
A single point of access to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service from
Children’s Social Care has been established;
The LSCB has revised existing training on parental mental health and its
impact on children, ensuring that all relevant practitioners are able to
recognise and respond appropriately;
All Health Visiting teams are informed by telephone of attendance at walk-in
centres for children under the age of 12 months
The LSCB has adopted a formal risk management approach across all
agencies, identifying young people with highest risk of harm or serious
offending, quantifying risk by considering the history of each young person
and developing specific plans to mitigate this risk and establish cross-agency
monitoring mechanisms.

Significant efforts have been made by LSCB partners to ensure that SCRs are effective in
bringing about positive change from lessons learned. Members of the Serious Case
Review Panel and Independent Authors have received bespoke training in 2009-10, from
the Social Care Institute of Excellence (SCIE).

39

Page 169

SCIE Pilot
Wirral LSCB has recently participated in a pilot project led by the Social Care Institute
for Excellence (SCIE) into a ‘systems approach’ to SCRs. One of three LSCBs in the
North West of England invited to participate; the project was commissioned by the
Government to explore a more effective review method. This has been a valuable
learning opportunity for the Serious Case Review Panel and has already influenced the
approach taken in Critical Incident Reviews as well as making a contribution to the ‘call
for evidence’ for the Munro Review.

40

Page 170

9. Multi-Agency Safeguarding Training Report
Steve Withington joined the Children and Young People’s Department as Safeguarding
Training Officer for the Wirral LSCB following the retirement of Shelagh Hozack. This
post is responsible for the co-ordination and organisation of the multi-agency training
programme.

Review of Training 2009-10
A number of courses were cancelled as there was no trainer in post and due to the
commissioned trainer for two courses withdrawing. The courses that have run were well
received with good attendance. Issues raised in evaluation have been considered and
changes have been made to reflect Working Together 2010, Lessons from Serious Case
Reviews and other research.
Multi agency attendance at LSCB training courses was as follows:
AGENCY
Children’s Social Care
Schools
Education Welfare Service
Children’s Centres Staff
NHS Wirral
Foster Carers
Third Sector Partners
Emergency Duty Team
Youth Offending Service
Police
Wirral Drugs Service
CAMHS
Family Intervention Project
Probation

NUMBER OF ATTENDANCES
276
225
51
56
44
36
25
17
13
12
12
7
3
1

Attendance at multi agency training is now an agenda item for the Executive Group. This
allows it to be monitored and provides evidence of which agencies need to be targeted to
widen participation in safeguarding training.

41

Page 171

Overview of training for 2011-12
The multi-agency training courses offered through the LSCB for 2011/12 are as follows:
· Working Together – Refresher
· Working Together to Safeguard Children Level 1
· Working Together to Safeguard Children Level 2
· Child Protection Case Conferences and Core Groups
· Effects of Domestic Abuse
· Safeguarding Children with Disabilities
· Missing/Young Runaways
· Effects of Parental Substance Misuse
· Safeguarding Children in Whom Illness is Fabricated or Induced
· Children Abused through Sexual Exploitation
· Working with Young People who Display Sexually Harmful Behaviour
· Sudden Unexplained Death in Infants/Children
· Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements
· Seeing and Interviewing the Child as part of Initial Assessment and S47 Enquiries
· Achieving Best Evidence in Criminal Proceedings
· Lessons from Serious Case Reviews
· School Designated Person Training
· ‘Think-U-Know’ Internet Safety
· Managing Allegations against Staff
· Safer Recruitment
· Neglect and the Graded Care Profile
· Child Death Overview
· Effects of Parental Mental Health on Children
· Risk Assessment and Critical Analysis in Safeguarding
· Critical/ Analytical Thinking
· Reflective Supervision in relation to Safeguarding
· Working Effectively with Resistant Families
· Working with Sexually Active Young People
· Sexual Abuse

Full details of the training programme and training applications can be accessed through
the LSCB website.
The plan, approved by the Training Committee, promotes a variety of courses reflecting
the issues raised in Serious Case Reviews including sexual abuse, domestic abuse,
alcohol and substance misuse, neglect and parental mental health. Within the constraints
of the budget the training will be delivered drawing more upon local expertise than
previously and a challenge is to increase the size of the training pool. This requires a
commitment from agencies to release staff.

42

Page 172

There has been an increase recently in attendance from agencies such as Adult Social
Care, Police Housing and Health. There are limited places on training and a multiagency mix is vital. This will be pursued by widely promoting the training programme
and encouraging “champions” in services who can attend and cascade information.
The Training Committee have developed a work plan for 2011/12 which focuses on
mapping current single agency safeguarding training and quality assuring both single
agency and multi agency training. The LSCB are committed to supporting partners to
provide staff with regular and up-to-date training and will be running a number of key
events throughout 2011/12 including a launch of and case study exercise of the Graded
Care Profile.

43

Page 173

10.Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) Report
The Role of the LADO
The role of the LADO is set out in Working Together to Safeguard Children (2010).
Appendix 5 outlines the procedures for managing allegations against people who work
with children in a position of trust.
The LADO should be alerted to all cases in which it is alleged that a person who works
with children has:
• behaved in a way that has harmed, or may have harmed, a child
• possibly committed a criminal offence against children, or related to a child
• behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates s/he is unsuitable to
work with children.
This applies to paid/unpaid employees, volunteers, casual/agency staff, and those selfemployed. The LADO is responsible for considering concerns, allegations or offences
emanating from within or outside of work.
LADO responsibilities include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Management and oversight of individual cases
Monitoring the progress of cases to ensure they are dealt with within agreed
timescales
Ensuring a consistent and thorough process for all adults working with children
and young people against whom allegations are made
Providing advice and guidance to Senior Managers within partner agencies
Liaising with Police in relation to allegations where it is suggested a criminal
offence may have been committed
Supporting Senior Managers to make a referral to the Independent Safeguarding
Authority (ISA) or appropriate regulatory body
Delivering training to agencies representatives in relation to the management of
allegations and also safer recruitment procedures
Representing the LSCB in MAPPAs (Multi Agency Public Protection Agreement
meetings) for offenders who are to be released into the community, and who pose
a risk to children and young people

44

Page 174

Data Collection
Data with regard to allegations against professionals has been collated by the LSCB since
August 2008. During this period the following statistics have been recorded:
Period
August – December 2006
January – December 2007
January – December 2008
January – December 2009
January 2010 to the present date

Number of Allegations Recorded
3
16
53
50
84

As can be seen from the figures above, there is a steady increase in the number of
allegations reported to the LADO. It is suggested that this does not reflect an increase in
instances of inappropriate behaviour, rather that awareness of the procedures and role of
the LADO has significantly improved. This reflects the commitment of local agencies to
work together to safeguard Wirral’s children and young people.
During 2010, allegations managed by the LADO have been categorised as follows:

4%
8%

8%
38%

Sexual
Physical
Emotional
Neglect
Other

42%

Figure 9.1: Categories of alleged abuse

Allegations that are recorded as other include those where the allegation reported
included either multiple concerns, or concerns relating to incidents that did not relate
directly to children and young people, but were perceived as being such that it would
suggest that the individual was not suitable to work with minors.

45

Page 175

Allegations recorded in 2010 have resulted in the following outcomes:

28

30

24

25
20

17

Unfounded
Unsubstantiated

15

Malicious

10
10

Founded
5

Not determined

5
0

Figure 9.2: Outcomes of investigations of allegations

Those recorded as not determined relate to current allegations which continue to be
investigated. Allegations, where police investigations are also taking place and cases are
being considered by the Crown Prosecution Service can result in allegations taking a
number of months to conclude.

Key Developments 2009-10
Significant improvements to the functioning of the LADO role include:
• Reviewing the Allegations Referral form to improve the management of
allegations
• Establishing and maintaining a database to track all allegations
• Developing a MAPPA database to manage the caseload of offenders who are
subject to Multi-Agency Public Protection Plans
• Updating and delivering Managing Allegations multi agency training
• Raising the profile of the role with across the partner agencies
• Delivered seminars and talks to referring agencies and foster carers

Planned developments 2011/12
•
•
•
•

Establish a Consultation/Initial Consideration database which will allow the
LSCB to monitor the training and support needs for partner agencies
Develop a LADO section within LSCB website allowing partners to access
relevant documentation, FAQs and flowcharts
Devise a format to collect statements from witnesses and those whom
allegations are made against
Support partner agencies in the development of relevant procedures to support
the safeguarding of children and young people, including Safer Recruitment
and Safer Working Practices

46

Page 176

11.Common Assessment Framework Activity Report

CAF Activity Reports are produced monthly and detail the CAF activity across Wirral for
the preceding four weeks. The purpose of each report is to monitor all CAF and TAC, as
well as ‘consultation’ activity across the 11 area teams. The report provides a wide range
of data which can identify areas of need, examples of good practice and inform the future
development of the CAF/TAC process across Wirral to maximise the positive outcomes
for local children and young people.
Data collected for 2010 shows:
• 941 CAFs were undertaken across Wirral
• Primary (21%) and Secondary (20%) schools author the most CAFs
• Most CAFs are completed in respect of children in the 5-10 age group (34%)
• 59% of CAFs have boys as the subject; 41% are girls
• Where ethnicity is stated, 97% of children and young people described themselves
as white British
• 16% of CAFs have a child with disabilities as its subject
• Agencies from across the Children’s Workforce are engaged with the CAF/TAC
process including statutory, voluntary, community and faith organisations

The CAF/TAC process is widely embedded across agencies in Wirral. The graph below
shows the number of CAFs completed by agency across all the areas. Social Care
transfer, which accounts for 16% of CAF/TAC activity refers to those children and young
people who move into TAC from being Children in Need. Well-developed processes
ensure that children move to the most appropriate level of need swiftly and smoothly.

47

Page 177

CAFs Completed (Jan-Oct 10) by Agency

WA SB T
Respo nse
P o st 16 P ro vider
P arent P artnership
CA M HS
Infant/ Nursery Scho o l
Family Suppo rt
Child and Family
A ctio n fo r Children
P o lice/P CSO
Co nnexio ns
YOS
Yo uth
FSW
ESW
FIP
No ne Specified
Children's Centres
VCF
So cial Care transfer*
Health
Seco ndary Scho o l
P rimary Scho o l

0

5

10

15

20

25

%

Agencies are asked to indicate which of the 5 Every Child Matters outcomes apply to
each completed CAF form. This data can then be analysed to inform what provision
should be made available to each child or young person.
Identified ECM Needs All Areas Jan-Oct 10

30
25
20
15
10
5
0
B e Healt hy

St ay Saf e

Enjo y and A chieve

M ake a Po sit ive
Co nt rib ut io n

48

Page 178

Enjo y Eco no mic
Wellb eing

The consultation process performs an important function by offering guidance to
agencies with queries about appropriate courses of action for children. All Area Teams
support their local agencies with Professional Consultations and it is an important tool for
identifying appropriate needs early. Between January and October 2010 2,494
consultations took place across the Area Teams.
Consultations Jan-Oct 2010 (by agency)
30
25

%

20
15
10
5
0

Schools (53%) are involved in the majority of consultations, with primary schools (28%)
being the biggest agency. Over 30 agencies took part in consultations.
From all the consultations which took place between January and October 2010, 19%
were about a child already in TAC, 20% were advised to complete a CAF and 6% were
advised to refer to Children’s Social Care.
An audit of CAF activity was undertaken in 2010 to enhance provision for support and
understand local needs. The information presented below is based on the small sample
currently available.
Reasons for undertaking a CAF (All Ages)
25
20
Girls

%

15

Boys
10
5

be
ha
v
pa iou
r
h
r
sc eal ent
ho th ing
i
o
ss
ad l
u at ue
ris lt m tain s
k
ta ent men
al
ki
he t
ch ng
ild be alt
m hav h
e
fa
m nta iou
i ly
lh r
e
b
do
m rea alth
es kd
sc
ho tic ow
ol vio n
at l en
te
n ce
an
ti- po d an
so or
c
ci ho e
al
u
be sin
ha g
dr
ug vio
s/
ur
a
fa
l
m coh
fin i ly
o
an is l
ci su
es
al
is
su
e
te
en ne s
pr gle
eg c
na t
nc
y

0

49

Page 179

The audit tells us that CAFs are taken for a variety (and combination) of reasons, and
these reasons vary between age and gender. The graph above shows that while behaviour
(23%) is the most common single reason why a CAF is completed; it is a far more
common reason in boys than in girls. For boys, behaviour, parenting, health and
attainment at school appear more often than other reasons on CAFs. For girls the most
common reasons are behaviour, parenting, health, adult mental health and risk taking
behaviour. Boys are 3 times more likely to have behaviour cited as a reason for CAF and
girls are 3 times more likely to have risk taking behaviour cited.

Key Achievements
Improving the quality of CAFs and monitoring the activity undertaken across the borough
has been a key priority for the LSCB in 2010. Key achievements are as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Reviewing and updating the Guide to Integrated Learning
Producing a new Summary Guide to Integrated Learning
Producing a Wirral CAF with accompanying guidance material
Providing regular updated CAF and TAC training sessions across the borough
Establishing a CAF webpage on the Wirral Council website including the new
guidance material
Developing a new Wirral quality assurance tool to support the audit of CAFs
Producing new monthly CAF Activity and CAF Quality Assurance reports
Developing a consultation pathway with Wirral Partnership homes
Presenting information and training to post 16 training providers

In addition, Wirral was invited to take part in the Pathways to Support project led by
Outcomes UK and Government Office North West. The processes and literature we have
developed to improve the quality of assessment were presented at the North West
conference in September.

Future Developments
Planned future developments for CAF/TAC in 2011/12 include:
• Reporting on the monthly CAF Audit investigating why CAFs are undertaken
• Review and promotion of the CAF/TAC training
• Highlighting the role of the Lead Professional for agencies
• Developing and publishing a quality assurance toolkit to facilitate practitioners
becoming part of the CAF QA process
• Trialling and roll out of a CAF/TAC distance travelled tool to measure the
progress made by children, young people and their families in the process
• Continuing work with post 16 agencies and young people to improve the
accessibility of CAF to this age group
• Further development of the CAF webpage to include a page specifically for
children and young people
50

Page 180

12.Child Protection Performance Data

Referrals
A referral is taken by children’s social care when a parent, professional or a member of
the public either expresses concern about a specific child’s welfare or makes what
appears to be an appropriate request for a service on behalf of a child. Not all contacts
with children’s social care become referrals. Professionals or members of the public
might also be given information about different services or advice about other ways to
deal with the problem: the giving of this information or advice would not necessarily be
recorded as a referral, but could be registered as a ‘contact’ relating to that child.

Table 11.1: Referral rates per 10,000 child population

During the year ending March 2010, Wirral children’s social care recorded 3,503
referrals. This approximates to a rate of 517 referrals for every 10,000 children in the
borough and is an increase of 10% when compared to the year before. Table 1
demonstrates how the rate of referral in 2009-2010 compares with the data from 20092009 for Wirral, for the authorities which the government considers to be most like
Wirral, with all of the authorities in the North West and with England as a whole.
It can be seen that the rate of referral in Wirral is similar to the rate for the North West
and for England generally. However, there is some considerable variation in the data
provided by Wirral’s comparator authorities. It is likely that some of the extreme
variation in statistics provided by particular authorities is due to there being different
interpretations of what constitutes a referral and what should be recorded as a contact.
The effect of this can be seen in Table 2. For example, Darlington had a referral rate of
1400 in the year 2008-2009. However, just over 20% of those recorded referrals
progressed to initial assessment, whereas in Wirral, the North West and in England in
2008-2009, over 60% of referrals led to initial assessments.
In Wirral, in 2009-2010, 75% of referrals were followed by an initial assessment.
51

Page 181

Table 11.2: Percentage of referrals going to initial assessments (national indicator)

Initial Assessments
The purpose of an initial assessment is to determine, quickly and accurately, whether a
child is ‘in need’ and the nature of the services he or she requires. Table 3 indicates the
percentage of initial assessments which were completed within 7 days of a referral being
initiated. From April 2010, the timescale nationally for completion of initial assessments
was extended from 7 working days to 10. It is anticipated that these extra three days will
allow local authorities to assure the quality of initial assessments, without sacrificing
timeliness.

Table11.3: Percentage Initial Assessments completed within 7 days (national indicator)

An initial assessment might conclude that the child’s needs are too complex to be
understood quickly or that the child appears to be suffering, or to be at risk of suffering,
abuse or neglect. In these circumstances, the local authority is required to make a more
in-depth assessment of the child and his or her family: this is known as a core assessment.

Core assessments
Core assessments can provide a sound evidence base for professional judgements as to
what types of services are most likely to bring about good outcomes for children with
complex needs or complicated family circumstances.
However, core assessments are also the means by which child protection enquiries are
carried out: these are often known as section 47 enquiries. In these cases, the objective of
the assessment is to determine whether action is required to safeguard the child as well as

52

Page 182

to ascertain whether services are required to promote his or her welfare. The number of
core assessments conducted in Wirral in 2009-2010 rose by 40% in the last year.

Table 11.4: Rates of core assessments by 10,000 child population

It is expected that core assessments will be completed within 35 working days of the
referral which began the process. Table 5 compares the performance of Wirral 20092010, with last year’s performance by comparator authorities and with regional and
national averages. 76% of core assessments were completed within 35 days during the
year, which is a slight drop from 2008-2009. However, the actual number of core
assessments completed within timescales rose from 540 to 744.

Table 11.5: Percentage of core assessments completed within 35 days (national indicator)

Initial child protection conferences and reviews
Child protection conferences and reviews bring together the child (where this is
appropriate), family members and those professionals most involved with child and
family, following child protection enquiries.
In some cases, child protection enquiries will indicate that there is no need to hold a child
protection conference. This is usually because the concerns that the child was being
abused or neglected were not substantiated or, less frequently, because agencies most
involved with the child and family agree that, despite the harm the child has suffered, a
plan to ensure the child’s future safety and welfare can be developed and implemented
without the need for a conference or child protection plan.
When concerns have been substantiated and the child is judged to be at continuing risk of
significant harm, an initial child protection conference must be convened. The aim of
the conference is to allow those professionals most involved with the child and family,
53

Page 183

and the family themselves, to evaluate the relevant information and to plan how best to
safeguard the child and to promote his or her welfare.
The timing of an initial child protection conference must balance the need for adequate
preparation and assessment of the child’s needs and circumstances with the necessity of
avoiding delay where a child is suffering, or is at risk of suffering, significant harm.
Consequently, there is an expectation that all initial child protection conferences will take
place within 15 days of the decision to start s47 child protection enquiries.
Table 6 demonstrates the relationship between the numbers of S47 enquiries started, the
number of initial child protection conferences held and the numbers of conferences held
within the 15 working days timescale.

Table 11.6: Rates per 10,000 child population of s47 enquiries, initial child protection conferences and of initial
child protection conferences held within 15 days of the relevant strategy discussion

The initial child protection conference decides whether there is evidence that the child
needs a child protection plan and, where this is the case, will make recommendations on
how professionals and the family can work together to safeguard the child. These
recommendations are developed by the professionals working most closely with the
family into a comprehensive plan.
The extent to which the plan has been successful in safeguarding the child is reviewed in
accordance with a nationally determined time frame. Each review considers whether the
plan should remain in place or should be changed. It is important that these reviews take
place as anticipated to help keep professionals and the family focussed on achieving the
necessary changes and to prevent drift.
Table 7 provides information about Wirral’s success in meeting this target.

Table 11.7: Percentage of child protection reviews conducted within required timescales (national indicator)

54

Page 184

Children with child protection plans
The number of children in Wirral with a child protection plan at the end of March 2010
was 237, a slight increase on the numbers of children with a child protection plan a year
earlier of 226. This means that there were 35 children with a child protection plan for
every 10,000 children in Wirral. Table 8 demonstrates that this rate accords exactly with
the regional and national averages at the end of March 2009, and with the average of
Wirral’s comparator authorities.

Table 11.8: Rate per 10,000 child population of children with a child protection plan at March 31 2010
compared with March 2009

However, the numbers of children with a child protection plan on a particular date does
not provide the full picture of the extent to which child protection plans are initiated and
ended. As can be seen in Table 9, the number of children with active child protection
plans at any one time is a result of the underlying rate at which the number of plans being
started is balanced by the rate of those coming to an end.
For example, 43% fewer plans were started in October 2009 than in April. However, this
resulted in only a 13% drop in the number of active child protection plans as the rate at
which plans had ended from April to July had been generally lower than the rate at which
they begun. During the school summer holiday period and into the autumn, the rate at
which plans were ending exceeded the rate at which new plans were beginning.

Table 11.9: Rate per 10,000 child population by month of children becoming the subject of child protection
plans, of child protection plans ending and of active child protection plans

55

Page 185

Child protection plans end when the likelihood of harm has been reduced and
professionals agree that the child can live safely without a child protection plan. Table
10 provides a summary of length of time that child protection plans were in place before
they were ended during 2009/10 and the preceding 3 years.
The proportion of child protection plans which ended within the first three months rose
significantly between 2007/08 and 2008/9. Some of these children will have moved to
foster placements during this time. The relative duration of child protection plans
remained almost identical between 2008/09 and 2009/10.

Table 11.10: The length of child protection plans

The purpose of child protection plans is to ensure that children do not suffer abuse or
neglect. Although some children will come into care while they have a child protection
plan, most children will continue to live with their parents. The rate at which parents can
affect the changes that need to be made, and to demonstrate that these can be maintained,
will vary from family to family. However, sustained change should be evident in less
than two years: where this cannot be achieved, the viability of the child remaining with
his or her parents or carers must be questioned.
The local authority provides information annually to the government about the numbers
of children whose plans lasted more than two years. From the number of child protection
plans which ended during the year, Table 10 compares the percentage of those plans
which lasted 2 years or more. In Wirral in 2009/10, only 9 of the 314 plans which ended
had been in place for 2 years or more. This compares favourably with performance in
this area nationally, regionally and against the average of comparator authorities.

Table 11.10: Percentage of child protection plans lasting 2 years or more (national indicator)

56

Page 186

Child protection plans should only be ended when the child is no longer suffering abuse
or neglect and the risk of further abuse or neglect has been reduced. This change can be
as a result of action taken as a result of the child protection plan, or the child and family’s
circumstances may have changed so that the child protection plan is no longer necessary.
However, a child who is no longer the subject of a child protection plan may still require
additional support and services and discontinuing the child protection plan should never
lead to the automatic withdrawal of help. One of the ways in which the government
measures the success of child protection work with families is by taking account of the
numbers of children who have a second or subsequent plan. Unfortunately, during
2009/10, 55 of the 325 children who became the subject of child protection plans had
previously had a plan.

Table 11.11: Percentage of child protection plans started in the year for children who have previously had such
a plan (national indicator)

Table 12 provides information about the ages of children who had a child protection plan
at the end of March for the last four years. Consistently, around 40% of children with a
child protection plan are 4 years old or under, around 30% are between the ages of 5 and
9 years old; the largest proportion of the remaining children are between 10 years old and
15, with 5% or fewer 16 years or older. In the latest summary of information about
children in England who have died or have been seriously injured by their parents or
carers, physical assault accounted for around 57% of cases, primarily inflicted on babies
aged under 1 year old, within a family context.

–
Table 11.12: Numbers of children with child protection plans by age

57

Page 187

Notifications of children missing from home or care
This section needs something about Barnardo’s right track project
During the year ending March 31 2010, there were 357 notifications of Wirral young
people missing from home or from care: the notifications were equally divided between
children who were missing from care and those who had gone missing from home.
Children and young people cite a variety of reasons for going missing or running away.
Table 13 illustrates the most commonly given reasons.

Table 11.13: Reasons given for each notification of missing

Table 14 indicates the numbers of young people who were interviewed by Barnardo’s on
their return, as part of the Right Track Project.

Table 14: Numbers of young people interviewed by Barnardo’s following their return going missing

58

Page 188

13.Financial Report
Expenditure
Staffing
Training
Serious Case Reviews
Advertising/marketing
Room Hire
Printing/Copying
General expenses
Total
Income
Children’s Social Care
CAFCASS
Merseyside Police
Wirral PCT
Connexions
Probation Service
Schools
Schools Budget
Child Death Grant
Total

2009-10

2010-11
145 092
17 147
12 718
12 616
17 915
5 895
3 988
215 371

2009-10

178 155
12 000
15 000
0
11 400
5 500
4 000
226 055
2010-11

70 000
500
10 000
30 000
5 000
3 500
0
0
0
119 000

70 000
550
10 000
30 000
5 000
5 000
20 000
20 000
56 100
216 650

The LSCB is supported financially by its member organisations and, when available, by
government grants. Managing the finances of the LSCB is a difficult process as although
Working Together to Safeguard Children (2010) states that contributions should be made
by partners, it does not specify a formula to do so. Rather, it is through negotiation and
the commitment of the individual members that the contributions made remain consistent.
The LSCB consider the budget on a quarterly basis. Planning spending is challenging as
the fees incurred by Serious Case Reviews can be variable and the requirement to
undertake a Serious Case Review is essentially unpredictable. The Regional Group for
LSCB Business Managers plan to devise a standard fee for the services needed for such
reviews in order allow better budget planning.
Balancing the finances is a delicate task as there are areas of expenditure which should
not be compromised. The training budget, for example, is used to facilitate the multi
agency training which is paramount to effective safeguarding. The room hire detailed
above refers to the cost of renting accommodation for Child Protection Conferences in
locations which are easily accessible to the parents/carers and families who need to attend
them.

59

Page 189

14.LSCB Priorities 2011/12
1. To continue to improve the functioning and accountability of the Board by:
•
•
•
•
•

•

publishing an annual report and business plan in line with requirements of
Working Together
implementing the recommendations from the review of the LSCB committees
ensuring membership of the LSCB accords with Working Together guidance,
including the appointment of Lay Members
implementing induction processes for new Board Members
undertaking annual audit of member agencies in fulfilling their responsibilities
to co-operate (Section 11 Children Act 2004) in relation to safeguarding
children
conducting accountability meetings with partner agencies

2. To improve learning from Serious Case Reviews and Critical Incidents by
making use of and developing SCIE model as a review framework.
3. To evaluate the extent to which lessons identified in previous or current
reviews have been learnt in practice, specifically relating to issues of parental
mental ill-health, child sexual abuse, domestic abuse and neglect.
4. To continue to monitor thresholds across the partnership for Common
Assessment Framework, Child in Need, Team Around the Child and Child
Protection.
5. To monitor closely the effects of budgetary pressures and potential
organisational restructuring of services, acting as necessary to continue to
effectively safeguard and promote the welfare of children.
6. To improve communication processes between the LSCB, its committees, the
wider workforce and general public.
7. To strengthen joint working arrangements between the LSCB and the
Safeguarding Adults Board.
8. To maintain representation and contribution to Multi Agency Public
Protection Panels.

Page 190

60

15.LSCB Business Plan 2011-12

1. Continue to improve the functioning and accountability of the LSCB

Page 191

ACTION
Publish an annual report and business plan in line with requirements of
Working Together

LEAD
Strategic Service Manager,
Safeguarding

TIMESCALE
March 2011

Implement the recommendations from the review of LSCB Committees

Executive Group Chair

March 2011

Ensure membership of the LSCB accords with Working Together guidance,
including the appointment of Lay Members

Chair LSCB

March 2011

Implement induction processes for new Board Members

LSCB Business Manager

March 2011

Undertake annual audit of member agencies in fulfilling their responsibilities to
co-operate in relation to safeguarding children (Section 11)

LSCB Business Manager

June 2011

Conduct accountability meetings with partner agencies

Chair LSCB

December 2011

61

LSCB Priorities 2011/2012

2. Improve learning from Serious Case Reviews and Critical Incidents by making use of and developing SCIE model as a
review framework

Page 192

ACTION
Complete exemplar critical case review using modified version of the SCIE
model, including recommendations and action plan

LEAD
Strategic Service Manager,
Safeguarding

TIMESCALE
February 2011

Evaluate the process through which the critical case review was undertaken

LSCB Business Manager

March 2011

Produce final report of critical case review and its evaluation for LSCB

Strategic Service Manager,
Safeguarding

March 2011

Devise draft procedure based on evaluation for conducting future critical case
reviews taking into account lessons learnt from examplar case

Chair Performance Committee

June 2011

LSCB to approve and implement revised procedures for conducting critical
case reviews

LSCB Chair

July 2011

62

LSCB Priorities 2011/2012

3. Evaluate the extent to which lessons identified in previous or current reviews have been learnt in practice; specifically
relating to issues of parental mental ill health, child sexual abuse, domestic abuse and neglect

Page 193

ACTION
Devise programme of thematic multi-agency audits to be conducted on behalf
of the LSCB
Undertake audits as proposed

LEAD
Chair Performance Committee

TIMESCALE
March 2011

LSCB Business Manager

As per programme to
ensure completion by
March 2012

Evaluate multi-agency safeguarding practice on the basis of thematic audits

Chair Performance Committee

Report to the LSCB

Chair Executive Group

As per programme,
within 6 weeks of
completion of individual
audits
Quarterly

Undertake a study of neglect and use of the Graded Care Profile reviewing
cases in practice

Policy, Practice and Procedure
Committee

63

December 2011

LSCB Priorities 2011/2012

4. Continue to monitor thresholds across the partnership for Common Assessment Framework, Child In Need, Team
around the Child and Child Protection

Page 194

ACTION
Collect and collate data in respect of CAF, CIN, TAC

LEAD
Chair CAF Quality Group

TIMESCALE
Ongoing

Report to LSCB in respect of performance in respect of CAF, CIN, TAC

Chair CAF Quality Group

Quarterly

Collect and collate data in accordance with key LSCB CP indicators

Strategic Service Manager,
Safeguarding

Ongoing

Report to the LSCB in respect of performance against key CP indicators

Strategic Service Manager,
Safeguarding

Quarterly

Produce annual report of performance in respect of CAF, CIN, TAC

Chair CAF Quality Group

June 2011

Produce annual report of performance in respect of key CP indicators

Strategic Service Manager,
Safeguarding

June 2011

Revise the procedures and processes in place for CIN

CIN Officer

December 2011

64

LSCB Priorities 2011/2012

5. Monitor closely the effects of budgetary pressures and potential organisational restructuring of services, acting as
necessary to continue to effectively safeguard and promote the welfare of children

Page 195

ACTION
Set out budgetary requirements for LSCB, based on current activity, to ensure
that agencies and organisations have clarity about proposed contributions

LEAD
Strategic Service Manager

TIMESCALE
Completed November
2010

Identify any likely shortfalls and risks to Board

LSCB Chair and Executive Group
Chair
Strategic Service Manager

February 2011

Record and report to Board on the effects of budgetary pressures and
organisational restructuring of services to safeguard children and promote their
welfare

All LSCB members

Ongoing

Record and report to Department of Education on the effects of budgetary
pressures and organisational restructuring of services to safeguard children and
promote their welfare

LSCB Chair

Ongoing

Implement contingency plans

LSCB Chair with Strategic
Service Manager, Safeguarding

As required

Produce contingency plan

65

March 2011

LSCB Priorities 2011/2012

6. Improve communication processes between the LSCB, its committees, the wider workforce and the general public

Page 196

ACTION
Ensure implementation of agreed reporting arrangements between Committees,
the Executive Group and the LSCB

LEAD
LSCB Chair with LSCB Business
Manager

TIMESCALE
Ongoing

Identify ‘in-house’ magazines and newsletters currently in use by member
agencies, and explore potential for providing LSCB contributions

All LSCB members with LSCB
Business Manager

October 2011

Develop quarterly Newsletter for distribution electronically to workforce in all
agencies, either via already developed ‘in-house’ magazines or separately
which will also be linked to information about LSCB multi-agency training

LSCB Business Manager with
Chair Training Committee

January 2012

Identify means of developing and maintaining LSCB website

LSCB Business Manager

March 2011

Establish and maintain LSCB website

LSCB Business Manager

June 2011

66

LSCB Priorities 2011/2012

7. Strengthen joint working arrangements between the LSCB and the Safeguarding Adults Board

Page 197

ACTION
LEAD
Working with Chair of Safeguarding Adults Board identify strategies to support Interim Head of Safeguardingthe development of the Safeguarding Adults Board
Children and Adults

TIMESCALE
With immediate effect

Identify activities that are common across both Boards which can be
undertaken jointly

Interim Head of SafeguardingChildren and Adults

With immediate effect

Report on progress to LSCB

Interim Head of SafeguardingChildren and Adults
LSCB Business Manager

Quarterly

Provide copies of LSCB newsletter to SAB

LSCB Business Manager

Quarterly from January
2012

Arrange joint biennial development day for LSCB and SAB

LSCB Business Manager

November 2011

Ensure LSCB annual report and business plan 2011-2012 is provided to SAB
members

67

On publication of report

LSCB Priorities 2011/2012

8. Maintain representation and contribution to Multi Agency Public Protection Panels
ACTION
Continue to provide, where appropriate, LSCB representation at MAPPA
through services of Local Authority Designated Officer
Monitor functioning of MAPPA

Page 198

Provide annual report on functioning of MAPPA to LSCB

68

LEAD
LADO
Strategic Service Manager
working with LSCB member for
Merseyside Probation Trust
LSCB Member for Merseyside
Probation Trust

TIMESCALE
Ongoing
With immediate effect

November 2011 and
November 2012

Agenda Item 9
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 15th JANUARY 2010
BEING HEALTHY STRATEGY GROUP REPORT TO THE BOARD

Introduction
The aim of the ‘Being Healthy’ outcome theme of the Children and Young People’s Plan is to
improve the health of all children and to narrow the gap in health outcomes experienced by
children living in our most disadvantaged neighbourhoods. The ‘Being Healthy’ plan contains four
key elements:
• Inequalities in the health of children and young people are reduced
• Reduction in the harmful consequences of risk taking behaviour
• Encourage and support all children and families to achieve and maintain a healthy weight
and lifestyle
• Implement the Child Health Strategy
The ‘Being Healthy Strategy Group’ is chaired by the Head of Health and Wellbeing for Children
and Young People, Public Health, NHS Wirral. Membership of the Strategy Group is drawn from a
number of partner organisations who are best placed to address each priority area. Meetings are
held every six weeks and the group has oversight of the following sub-committees:
• Teenage Pregnancy Steering Group
• Breast Feeding Steering Group
• Healthy Settings Steering Group
• Obesity Steering Group
• Obesity and Sexual Health Programme Boards
In addition, the Being Healthy group is closely aligned to the Children’s Modernisation Group of
NHS Wirral to ensure complementary activities are agreed to achieve better health outcomes for all
children and young people living in Wirral.
In common with the other outcome areas, the functions of the Strategy Group include:
• Monitor and report on the progress of the Being Healthy element of the Children and Young
People’s Plan
• The coordination, planning, implementation and monitoring of NICE Guidance in relation to
Children and Young People
• Receive information from and respond to requests for information from other groups and
stakeholders.
• Develop opportunities for multi-agency involvement and networking to share best practice
• Provide support and information to other groups within the Trust.
• Maintain effective arrangements to consult with children, young people, families and carers
and to act on the results of the consultation and provide feedback
Relevant Performance Indicators
The following National Indicators (NI) and Vital Signs Indicators (VSB) are monitored through the
Being Healthy outcome group:
• NI 112 and VSB08– Under 18 conception rate
• NI 113 and VSB13 Prevalence of Chlamydia in under 20 year olds
• NI 51 Effectiveness of CAMHS
• NI 70 Reduce emergency hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate
injuries to children and young people (also reported through staying safe)
• NI 55 and VSB09 Obesity among primary school age children in Reception Year
• NI 56 and VSB09 Obesity among primary school age children in Year 6

Page 199

1

•
•
•
•

NI 57 Children and young people’s participation in high quality PE and sport
NI 53 and VSB11 Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6 – 8 weeks
Decayed missing and filled teeth (DMFT – 5 year olds, 12 and 14 year olds)
VSB10 - Individuals who complete immunisation by recommended ages

Overview of progress 2010/11
Key
recent
achievements

Inequalities in the health of children and young people are reduced
• The Safe-sleeping guidance was ratified and shared with relevant
practitioners to reinforce the risk of sudden infant death associated with
bed and sofa sharing
• A Referral pathway has been developed between Wirral Children’s
Centres and Family Support Worker staff who will facilitate access to oral
health service. A Dentist is in regular attendance at Seacombe
Children’s Centre to identify problems and refer for treatment.
• Health visitors have been trained as immunisers to provide
immunisations for hard to reach families through drop in sessions at
Children’s centres.
• The Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) immunisation catch up programmes
for 14-18 year old young women has been successfully implemented in
schools and GP practices.
• As a consequence of proactive engagement with families, we have been
successful in preventing unnecessary attendance at A and E for minor
ailments through the ‘Choose Well’ campaign
Reduction in the harmful consequences of risk taking behaviour
• The project to place Youth Alcohol Workers within the Accident and
Emergency ‘out of hours’ Department has performed beyond
expectations in reducing the number of under 18’s alcohol related
hospital admissions.
• An Alcohol Guidance document for schools was produced and circulated
to every Wirral school.
• Health Services in Schools is now hosted in 28 Secondary Schools
including a bespoke service in the special schools and Youth Offending
Service.
• From 2011, the programme has been extended to include targeted
interventions for smoking cessation, emotional wellbeing, peer education
to reduce teenage conceptions and contraception services
• Above target numbers of the children and young people workforce are
accessing sexual health training, including foster and residential carers
• The intended target for the number of young people engaging with the
Brook Outreach Programme has been exceeded. We are pleased that
the service is being used by young people who may be most vulnerable
to teenage pregnancy
• 73% increase in number of young people registered with Kooth.com
between 2009 – 2010 and the Kooth.com contract has been renewed for
further two years (2011-13)
• The Accident Prevention Scheme for under 5s was reviewed and has
been combined with the Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents
(RoSPA) Scheme within Children’s Centres
Reduction in the prevalence of overweight and obesity in children
• The Homestart breastfeeding peer support programme was launched in
April 2010. For mothers supported by the service, the breastfeeding rate

Page 200

2

•

•

•

•

has exceeded the national average for breastfeeding prevalence at 6 – 8
weeks. The contract has been renewed for further two years 2011-13
and targets increased.
The ‘Breast milk… It’s Amazing’ campaign was launched and promoted
across all relevant settings. The evaluation carried out in December 2010
found an increase in the number of people who recalled seeing the
posters; GP surgeries and hospital venues were found to be the most
popular place that people remember seeing them
Accreditation for Stage 1 of the UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative has
been achieved for all community settings. Additionally, mechanisms
have been developed to enable the Baby Friendly best practice
standards to be implemented and maintained. This includes staff
training, data collection, information for GPs and education for all
pregnant women about the benefits and management of breastfeeding.
During 2010-11, 60% of 5-16 year olds took part in 3 hours of high
quality PE and Sport each week. This has been organised by Wirral
schools
The National Child Measurement Programme 2010/11 has been
enhanced. We now proactively identify children who would benefit from
specialist weight management services to encourage engagement with
appropriate services.

Implementation of the Child Health Strategy/Healthy Child Programme
• The Family Nurse Partnership Programme has recruited 103 first time
mothers under the age of 19 years into the service. Encouraging results
are emerging with regard to breastfeeding, smoking cessation and
engagement from young fathers
• The Healthy Child Programme 0 – 5 years has been implemented and
the review of the specification for the health visitor service has resulted in
a geographic delivery model being adopted
• Baby Life Check was promoted across children’s centres and health
visiting teams and Teen life check was promoted across young people
services through the temporary employment of two dedicated youth
workers
• 60 settings have committed to the Health Promoting Early Years
Programme
• Aiming High programme has been rolled out in Children’s Centres and
short breaks made available to all children with complex/continuing
healthcare needs
Key issues

• Vaccination and Immunisations
The vaccination and immunisation rates across Wirral are improving but still
fall below the target rate for 2010/11. The action plan for childhood
immunisation is currently being implemented and actions include rolling out
the health visitor pilot at Seacombe Children's Centre to vaccinate children
from hard to reach families, training community health nurses as
immunisers, and designing a data quality mapping exercise with wider
stakeholder involvement to identify and address any data inconsistencies.
The results of these Wirral wide actions will be kept under review and activity
at practice level will be reviewed on a regular basis.
• Healthy Child programme - review
A review of children’s health services is to be conducted during 2011 using
the framework of the Healthy Child Programme (HCP) 0-19 years with a
view to informing commissioning intentions for 2012 and beyond. The HCP
is designed to help local children’s services plan and use resources as

Page 201

3

effectively as possible and to ensure they are informed by best available
evidence. This review is intended to cover all services that contribute to the
health outcomes experienced by children.
• Teenage Pregnancy Rates
Between 1998 and 2008, Wirral achieved a 21% reduction in the teenage
conception rate. The rate in 2008 was recorded as 40.1 conceptions for
every 1,000 women aged between 15-17 years. However, the conception
rates published for 2009 has demonstrated an increase in the rate of
conceptions in Wirral to 44.0 per 1,000 women aged 15-17 years.
Consequently, the reduction we have achieved between 1998 and 2009 is
13%. This demonstrates the impact that a small fluctuation in the number of
conceptions can have on the overall rate – 249 conceptions in 2008 and 264
conceptions in 2009
The diagram below shows the direction of travel for Wirral since 1998. We
are very aware that there is still much to be done in this area and
commitment from all partner agencies is critical to achieving this outcome.
The teenage pregnancy strategy (2000-2010) is coming to an end and there
has been no clear national direction for the future focus of teenage
pregnancy work. However, there is a suggestion local areas will be required
to determine their own target reduction. Additionally, we have not yet
received any formal confirmation regarding the funding to support the
teenage pregnancy strategy for 2011/12.
60

Quarterly rate

40

Rolling average

30

20

10

0

March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec
March
June
Sept
Dec

Under 18 conception rate per 1000

50

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

Quarter & Year

• Chlamydia Screening
In addition to our relatively high teenage pregnancy rates, Wirral has a
relatively low rate of uptake for Chlamydia screening. However, Wirral does
have a high rate of positivity. High positivity suggests that we are targeting
the testing programme at the right young people. However, we need to do
more to promote safer sexual activity to reduce the number of young people
contracting Chlamydia
• Childhood Obesity
Wirral has high rates of childhood obesity when compared to regional and
national data. Our most recent data from the National Child Measurement
Programme 2009/10 suggests that the prevalence of obesity in Reception
aged children has increased (to 10.6% from 9.6% in 2008/09). For Year 6
children, data suggest that prevalence has remained relatively stable (20.3%
from 20.6% 2008/09).

Page 202

4

25

Percentage of children in Reception and Year 6 overweight and obese 2010

20.3
19.3
18.7

20

15.2
14.3
15

14.7
13.7

14.6

13.3

%

Wirral
North West
England

10.6
9.9

9.8

10

5

0
Year R OW

Year 6 OW

Year R OB

Year 6 OB

It is critical, therefore, that professionals, parents and children work together
in order to achieve a reduction in the number of overweight and obese
children. We should continue to engage schools in the ‘Enhanced Healthy
Schools Programme’ (now that the ring fenced funding has been removed
and the requirement on schools to engage is optional). We should also
promote the use of the “40+ Sessions” of physical activity for Active Families
and seek funding to sustain the disability holiday sports programme for
disabled young people.
Key challenges
ahead

One of the main challenges to the continued success of this programme
relates to the need to ensure that effective links and connections are
maintained across the relevant partnerships during the period of
organisational and functional reform to the public sector. In addition, we have
been fortunate in the past to have developed strong links with schools and
further education settings and it is critical to the success of programmes such
as the health services in schools, the enhanced healthy schools programme
and the weight measurement programme, that these relationships are
sustained.
We have been fortunate to have secured funding for key programmes to
2013 via the NHS Wirral Strategic Commissioning Plan. This enables us to
continue to commission critical initiatives relating to sexual health, teenage
pregnancy and obesity.
Health Visitors and the Family Nurse Partnership programme are critical to
the delivery of the 0 to 5 years healthy child programme and these services
will be reinforced by initiatives set in place by the Government to support the
development of the Health Visitor and Family Nurse Partnership.

Risks
outcome
delivery
proposed
actions

to
and

One of the main risks to the delivery of the outcome concerns the low up-take
of the parents/carers and child weight management programmes.
Proposed action – The latest round of commissioning of these programmes
has included the requirement for providers to actively promote their services.
We have also encouraged collaborative working across providers to ensure
the right service is provided in the right place at the right time. The Healthy
Settings Team will assist in supporting promotional activity across school and

Page 203

5

early years’ settings.
A further risk to outcome delivery of the Being Healthy plan involves the
teenage pregnancy strategy. The Teenage Pregnancy Coordinator will be on
maternity leave from March 2011 to January 2012 and this may create a risk
to the continuity of the strategy.
Proposed action – plans are in place to enable cover for this critical role
through a partnership approach, including the sharing of tasks amongst key
individuals and monitored through the steering group.
Areas
requiring
further
partnership
involvement

Partners are encouraged to promote physical activity in order to prevent
further increases in obesity rates. We can do this by the promotion of the
“40+ Sessions” for Active Families physical activity programme that has been
developed.
Voluntary sector engagement is critical to the group and we seek further
representation from this sector.

Equalities
impact
assessment
areas
for
development
and progress
made

Areas for development 2010/11
• Access to universal services for children with disabilities.
• Skill mix of staff working in specialist weight management services
• Access to services for people from transient communities
• Low uptake of services from young men/fathers
• Language barriers for some BME groups may lead to low take up of
services
• Breastfeeding promotion – should not just focus on breastfeeding
mothers
Progress made 2010/11
• Tender for specialist weight management provision included requirement
for services for disabled children and skill mix of staff. Health services in
schools programme provided across faith, non faith and special schools.
• Continued commissioning of specific services for young men/fathers
through Sexual Health Programme (NHS Wirral)
• Targeted services based geographically in areas of deprivation and
greatest need – for example services in certain Children’s Centres, the
FNP Programme, et al.
• Breastfeeding campaign ‘breast milk …. It’s amazing’ targeted fathers
and grandparents in promotional material

Areas
for
promotion
/publicity
/
communication
/ engagement

•
•

The new locally established under-18 conception reduction target – once
this has been agreed
Specialist services commissioned to reduce childhood obesity – need to
publicise and promote services across partnership when contracts
awarded

Areas for Reporting Focus
The following examples are reported here as evidence of improved outcomes for Wirral children
and young people and their families.
1.

Health Promoting Early Years Programme

Following the success of the Healthy Schools Programme, Wirral introduced the Health Promoting
Early Years Programme (HPEYP) in 2007, to develop standards to ensure consistency across

Page 204

6

early years’ settings. Wirral has approximately 125 Private, voluntary and independent early years
settings in Wirral and to date around 60 have committed to the HPEYP, 26 settings have achieved
HPEYP Status and around 10 settings are ready to self validate. A further 20 settings have agreed
to commit to the programme at the next training and celebration event on 6th April 2011. The
following is an example of a setting that has embraced the programme.
Manor Childcare and Out of School Club, Wallasey, is registered for 30 children. In 2008, the
setting engaged with the HPEYP and having received a grant to support health promotion they
developed a ‘whole setting approach’ to improve the quality of provision for the children, their
families and the staff. This has involved the development of a healthy eating project, including
growing their own vegetables and herbs and cooking and eating with the children. The results
include:
• Reports that children are eating more healthily leading to increased energy levels, less
colds, improved attention and achievement of early years learning goals
• Parents cook more at home rather than buying ready meals, find meals less expensive,
quicker to prepare and result in whole family approach.
• Development of allotment has led to setting registered with the Royal Horticultural society
and achieved Level 1 status. The children are consulted on what to grow and the setting
aims to be self sufficient within 2 years. Parents are involved in growing food and produce
will be made available to parents
• Water cooler installed leading to children drinking more water whilst at the setting and
change from full fat to semi skimmed milk with 8 families reporting that they have changed
to semi skimmed milk at home.
• Reduction from 75% to 5% of parents who bring sweets for their children at the end of the
sessions
• Dental sessions at the setting have resulted in 5 children that were not registered with a
dentist now regularly visiting the Dentist
• Average time children spend outside increased from 30mins-60mins per session and
increase in number of children walking/cycling to the setting
• 3 parents have set up a running club and now arrange to go for a run together whilst their
children are at the setting and this has led to 2 of the mums joining Slimming World.
• Slipper policy introduced leading to reduction in accidents and injuries at the setting, staff
report children are calmer and not running inside as much. Children bring in Wellingtons
and this has increased the number of children who can independently find and change their
own shoes from 8 out of 24 to 22 out of 24 children
• The local primary school reported how independent and able the children from this setting
are when they start school.
• Mums and toddler group run at the setting has increased from 6 families to 19, offer milk or
water and fruit as snacks and parents have stopped bringing juice with them.
2.

Breast feeding peer support

There is clear evidence that breastfeeding has positive health benefits for both mother and baby in
the short and long term and offers considerable savings to the wider health and social care
economy. Children who are breastfed exclusively for the first six months, as per WHO
recommendations, present with fewer infectious episodes than partially or non-breastfed peers. In
addition, children who are breastfed for more than six months are less likely to have weight and
mental health problems in later life. However, UK breastfeeding rates are among the lowest in
Europe and Wirral falls behind both England and North West averages for breastfeeding initiation
and prevalence at 6 – 8 weeks. However, the rates differ widely across Wirral wards and highlight
the inequalities across areas; for example 56% of women continue to breastfeed at 6-8 weeks in
West Kirby and Thurstaston ward, falling to 6% of women in Bidston and St James ward (based on
2009/10 data)

Page 205

7

Breast feeding
initiation rates
Breast feeding
prevalence at 6-8
weeks
Women
supported by
Homestart still
breastfeeding at
6 – 8 weeks

Wirral
2008/09

Wirral
2009/10

England
2009/10

56.8%

North
West
2009/10
63.2%

53.3%

73.4%

Wirral
2010/11
Q1
55.9%

Wirral
2010/11
Q2
55.02%

Wirral
2010/11
Q3
58%

28.3%

30.5%

32.7%

44.4%

28.79%

28.27%

31.3%

-

-

-

-

61% ( total 38% ( total 50% ( total
155 mums 222 mums 232 mums
supported supported supported
during
during
during
period
period)
period)

In response to Wirral’s poor breastfeeding rates, there has been a concerted effort over the past
two years across the hospital and community workforce to improve activity and data collection.
This was reinforced by further investment through NHS Wirral Strategic Commissioning Plan to
develop a breastfeeding peer support programme and ‘Homestart’ were commissioned from
October 2009, to recruit and train volunteer peer supporters and deliver support to breastfeeding
mothers. Homestart peer supporters engaged with 609 women between April – December 2010.
The average number of women supported who were still breastfeeding at 6 – 8 weeks during this
period is 50%, which is above the England average of 44.4% (2009/10). The programme has been
extremely well received by all key stakeholders, and has created a revived enthusiasm for
breastfeeding amongst health professionals; initial feedback suggests Midwives and Health
Visitors appreciate the involvement of breastfeeding peer supporters on the hospital wards and at
the pre and post birth stage. One of the least expected positive outcomes has been the success of
the partnership work between the peer support programme and the Family Nurse Partnership
(FNP). The FNP works with teenage parents under the age of 20 years. Analysis of the FNP in
October 2010 revealed that of the 30 babies born since the programme started, 53% were
breastfed at birth. This is a considerable improvement on local comparable data for 2009/10 which
suggests that out of a cohort of 264 mothers under the age of 20, only 40 were breastfeeding at
birth (15%).
3.
Aiming High for Disabled Children - Children’s Centres January - December 2010
In 2010 Aiming High built upon the success of a pilot project with local Children’s Centres to offer
sessions at the centres for disabled children and their siblings aged 0-7. The sessions last 1.5 or 2
hours and can be one of four activities:
1)
Indoors and Outdoors- Linking indoor activities to the outdoor environment through
activities like making bird feeders and hanging them outside or making and flying a kite.
2)
Messy Play - using all the senses, especially touch to explore, mould and manipulate
materials like sand, water, play dough, jelly and shredded paper.
3)
Stay and Play – Meeting other parents and children and playing together using toys and
equipment they may not have access to at home.
4)
Stay and Play with a difference – As above, but including some outdoor play.
A total of 8 children’s centres are now delivering regular Aiming High sessions across Wirral,
during term time, holidays and weekends. 78 children attended sessions during 2010, 48 of whom
were children with disabilities and 30 were non disabled siblings. The majority of children attending
Aiming High sessions have Autistic Spectrum Disorder and many of them have more than one
disability. For parents the service has been invaluable, with parents stating:

Page 206

8

“For us this is a godsend…. I know that when we are stuck in the house we go stir crazy. If I
didn’t have all this I would go round the bend.”
“We really enjoy all the sessions. Love that you can bring siblings. It’s more relaxed
because everyone is in a similar situation so you are more chilled out as a parent.”
“I don’t drive so I was really pleased when I heard about this one because I can get the girls
here”
The project has been enhanced by a programme of staff development arranged by Aiming High
resulting in 27 staff from Children’s Centres utilising 83 places on training, covering a range of
topics including, Introduction to Autistic Spectrum Disorder, Deaf awareness, Managing
challenging behaviour, and Introduction to multi-sensory rooms and multi-sensory on a shoestring.
In addition, Aiming High has awarded a number of grants for equipment to Children’s Centres and
Voluntary Sector groups to support the delivery of the programme
Brief SWOT Analysis of the Outcome Area
Strengths
Weaknesses:
1. Active committed members with clear 1. Membership still predominantly made up of
health care professionals
areas of responsibility and accountability
2. Four clear priority areas with majority of 2 Government priorities and drivers shifting
resulting in uncertainty about future of
outcomes achieved or in progress
(2010/11)
programmes
3. Forum for sharing good practice and ideas
4. Improved health outcomes for children and
young people
5. Main driver/monitor for key programmes,
e.g. healthy child programme, health
services in schools etc
Opportunities:
Threats:
1. Multi agency working/pooling of ideas to 1. Availability of skilled and experienced staff to
deliver cross cutting outcomes
deliver initiatives e.g. health visiting
2. Potential
for
alignment
of 2. Ring fenced grant funding streams ended
budgets/resources to achieve outcomes
and local areas advised to set own priorities’
3. Greater
involvement
of
partnership
organisations in delivering the child health
agenda

Summary
Across the Being Healthy outcome area we have made good progress in delivering the Being
Healthy element of the Children and Young People’s Plan and in meeting the relevant national
indicators relating to this outcome area.
Recommendations:
That Wirral Children’s Trust Board endorse the report.
Report Author:
Anne Tattersall
Head of Health and Wellbeing
Children and Young People
Public Health, NHS Wirral

Contact:
Phone: 0151 514 2211
Email: Anne.Tattersall@wirral.nhs.uk

Page 207

9

Page 208

10

Agenda Item 10
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 18th MARCH 2011
THE NEW SCHOOL ‘HELP’ SURVEY
________________________________________________________________________
1.0 BACKGROUND
1.1 As part of the reduction of data burdens in schools and Local Authorities, the
government has discontinued the TELLUS survey. The table below outlines the
national indicators affected by the cessation of this survey.
NI_Num NI_Title
50

Emotional Health of Children

69

Children who have experience bullying

110

Young Peoples Participation in Positive Activities

115

Substance Misuse by Young People

199

Children and young people's satisfaction with parks and play areas

1.2 It was agreed at the Children’s Trust Executive in September 2010 that some of this
data was not available from any other data source and that the Local Authority should
investigate developing its own survey to fill these gaps in available data.
2.0 THE ‘HELP’ SURVEY
2.1 Consultation took place with the Every Child Matters strategy leads which resulted in
the development of the Health, Education and Lifestyle Profile (HELP) survey and
was approved for delivery in schools by the Star Chamber. The survey is designed
for children in years 6, 8 and 10 in all primary, secondary and special schools.
2.2 The survey will be available from an Internet based survey tool and the Secondary
school version will be promoted through the TeenWirral website.
2.3 In addition to the schools, the Youth Service, Connexions and Libraries are also
involved in promoting the survey.
2.4 The survey will take place between February 2011 half term and the Easter 2011
break. The responses will be analysed during the Easter break and a report for each
participating school and a Wirral report will be provided during the summer term.
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1 That Wirral Children’s Trust Board note the report.
REPORT AUTHOR:

Simon Douglas
Information Section
Children’s Services Department
Telephone: (0151 6664535)
Email: simondouglas@wirral.gov.uk

Page 209

1

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 210

Agenda Item 11
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 18th MARCH 2011
THIRD QUARTER PERFORMANCE REPORT 2010/11
________________________________________________________________________

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report provides an overview of progress made against Children’s Services
indicators for 2010/11 Quarter 3.

2.0 PERFORMANCE SUMMARY
2.1

The following charts provide a summary of performance at quarter three in relation
to targets set and the direction of travel compared to prior year quarter three
position.

2.2

There are 25 indicators that can be reported at the third quarter period.
Target Summary

Direction of travel Summary

Amber
8%

Green
36%

Improved
48%
Stayed Same
16%

Red
32%

N/A
8%
Over
Performing
16%

Deteriorated
28%

N/A
8%

2.3

Appendix 1 provides the status of all indicators that can be reported to the Board for
quarter three.

3.0

PERFORMANC ANALYSIS

3.1

Performance headlines for children’s services include:
•

•
•

The percentage of referrals to children's social care going on to initial
assessment continues to perform well indicating appropriate referrals into social
care and effective use of thresholds being applied.
The percentage of children with Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years or more
continues to be very low highlighting sustained good practice and exit strategies.
Final Key Stage 2 data confirms good performance in children achieving L4+ in
English and Maths as well as making good progress from Key Stage 1 to 2.

Page 211

1

•
•
3.2

Reports of antisocial behaviour and levels of vehicle nuisance continue to
perform well against targets and are reducing year on year.
Prevalence of Chlamydia in under 25 year olds has achieved the quarter three
targets and improved on the previous year quarter three result.

Performance Indicator Exceptions
The following indicators have not met the quarterly target by more than 10% and
are therefore assessed as red or have missed the target by between 5% and 10%
and are assessed as amber:
Data Key
Actual
Estimate
Provisional

(A)
(E)
(P)
Direction
2010/2011 2010/2011 On
Q3 Target Q3 Actual target of travel

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI Prevalence of breast-feeding at 6-8 wks
35.1%
53 from birth

31.3%
(A)

Red

Improved

Context: •Breast Feeding Peer Support Programme service achieved annual target (support 500 women)
by month 7 and surpassed the Wirral and England average of women still breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks with
48% in quarter 2 •NHS Wirral has achieved stage one of the UNICEF Breastfeeding Friendly Initiative.
Corrective action: The following will be taking place over the next few months to continue to promote
breastfeeding:
•Renew breastfeeding peer support programme contract for a further two years and extend it to support a
greater number of women
•To run a series of promotions on Juice and Heart FM to promote the breast milk it’s amazing campaign
•To deliver on-going breastfeeding training updates to professionals
2010/2011
Q3 Target

Portfolio

PI no

Title

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
59

Percentage of initial assessments
for children's social care carried out 76%
within 7 working days of referral.

2010/2011 On
Direction
Q3 Actual target of travel
66.6%
(A)

Red

Improved

Context: This indicator continues to perform considerably better when compared to the same period
during 2009/10 and is inline with the 2009/10 national figure. It should also be noted that the definition of
this indicator is changing from 7 working days from referral to 10 working days in 2011/12. The 2010/11
quarter 3 figure for initial assessments carried out within 10 working days of referral is 79.8%.
Corrective action: With the induction of new managers, there has been a refreshed and improved focus
on work plans and development of new reports to support staff to help ensure time scales are met.
2010/2011
Q3 Target

Portfolio

PI no

Title

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
60

Percentage of core assessments for
children's social care that were
80%
carried out within 35 working days of
their commencement

2010/2011 On
Direction
Q3 Actual target of travel
66.6%
(A)

Red

Improved

Context: This indicator has improved following the circulation of good practice guidance notes to the
teams with support from the data officers on electronic recording. However, there has been a large
increase in the volume of work: 833 Core Assessments have taken place to date in 2010/11 compared

Page 212

2

with 672 at quarter 3 in 2009/10. Despite this there has been an 8% improvement when compared with the
same period in 2009/10.
Corrective action: Ongoing support to staff is being provided by the data officers recording information
related to this indicator. Child Protection training took place during October – December 2010 which will
help staff focus in this area.

Portfolio

PI no

Title

2010/2011
Q3 Target

2010/2011 On
Direction
Q3 Actual target of travel

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
61

Timeliness of placements of looked
after children for adoption following
an agency decision that the child
should be placed for adoption

80%

66.7%
(A)

Red

Deteriorated

Context: Small numbers affect this indicator. 10 out of 15 children have been adopted within 12 months of
the decision being made that the child should be placed for adoption. Some children are harder to place;
these include 2 siblings, 2 further siblings with medical complexities and one older child who has
experienced placement disruption.
Corrective action: There is continuous monthly monitoring of this indicator.
2010/2011
Q3 Target

2010/2011 On
Direction
Q3 Actual target of travel

Portfolio

PI no

Title

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
62

Stability of placements of looked
9.0%
9.7%
after children: number of placements Lower=Better (A)

Amber

Unchanged

Context: This indicator is in the Ofsted “Very Good” category. Quarter 3 performance is comparable to
performance in 2009/10 during the same period. It is envisaged that this indicator will improve before year
end.

Portfolio

PI no

Title

2010/2011
Q3 Target

2010/2011 On
Direction
Q3 Actual target of travel

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
63

Stability of placements of looked
after children: length of placement

72%

61.7%
(A)

Red

Deteriorated

Corrective action: There is continuous activity to ensure placement stability of looked after children where
appropriate. Statutory reviews of children in care placements are carried out at prescribed intervals.
Increased rigour in the conducting of disruption meetings and learning lessons from past experiences. This
indicator is monitored on a monthly basis.

Portfolio

PI no

Title

2010/2011
Q3 Target

2010/2011 On
Direction
Q3 Actual target of travel

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
65

Percentage of children becoming
the subject of Child Protection Plan
for a second or subsequent time.

14%
17.5%
Lower=Better (A)

Red

Unchanged

Context: There are over 160 more children who have a child protection plan compared to the same period
in 2009/10 and therefore more children are becoming subject to a plan a second or subsequent time.
However, performance in this indicator is comparable at quarter 3 when compared to the same period in
2009/10.
Corrective action: Repeat registrations are scrutinised and referred to strategic service managers on a
monthly basis.
Portfolio

PI no

Title

2010/2011

Page 213

2010/2011 On

Direction

3

Q3 Target
Children’s
Services & NI
66
Lifelong
Learning

Looked after children cases which
100%
were reviewed within required
timescales.

Q3 Actual target of travel
90.5%
(A)

Amber

Deteriorated

Context: There has been an increase in both children subject to a child protection plan and looked after
children. The Independent Reviewing Officers are responsible for reviewing both sets of children which
has impacted on workload.
Corrective action: There has been continued improvement in administrative functions. The quality
assurance framework has also been reviewed to ensure consistency and stability.

Portfolio

PI no

Children’s
Services & NI
117
Lifelong
Learning

2010/2011
Q3 Target

Title

16 to 18 year olds who are not in
6.9%
education, employment or training
Lower=Better
(NEET)

2010/2011 On
Direction
Q3 Actual target of travel
8.2%
(P)

Red

Improved

Context: Quarter 3 performance is an improvement when compared with quarter 2 and the same period in
2009/10 which highlights the ongoing trend in the reduction of this indicator year on year. However there
are many challenges ahead to achieving the target of 6.9% therefore a revised year end forecast of 8%
has been set.
Corrective action: There are a number of innovative programmes being commissioned via the European
Social Fund which focus specifically on the differing needs of the NEET cohort in order to provide an
enhanced bespoke, targeted offer. The 14-19 Strategic Partnership is ensuring that the 'offer' in Wirral is
flexible in its responses. Analysis of the NEET group informs targeted intervention across the partnership.
There is an ongoing trend in the reduction of this indicator year on year.

Portfolio

PI no

Title

Children’s
Services & LOCAL
Number of looked after children
1400
Lifelong
Learning

2010/2011
Q3 Target

2010/2011 On
Direction
Q3 Actual target of travel

565
Lower=Better

668
(A)

Red

Deteriorated

Context: The increase in children becoming looked after is a national trend, reported in the recent
Association of Director of Children’s Services survey.
Corrective action: A thorough profiling of the Looked After Children population is taking place to enable
more targeted interventions. A number of strategies, underpinned by the new fieldwork structure, are
available to ensure that children’s plans do not drift, and that more children achieve permanence through
Adoption, Special Guardianship or by returning home. Each District Team is tightly overseeing the plans
for children to safely leave care; this is monitored by Senior Managers, and plans to overcome barriers to
achieving this outcome are in place. The refreshed Looked After Children Review project in the strategic
change program will also impact on this indicator.

Page 214

4

4.0 RELEVANT RISKS
4.1 The implementation of Council budget savings, management of the early voluntary
retirement and severance schemes and changes in human resources procedures will
have the potential to impact on the levels of service delivery across the Departments’
responsibilities. This will require careful management to minimise volatile service
delivery, reduced Service Level Agreement take up and income from schools,
reputational issues and to ensure continued focus on critical issues.
4.2 The need to review and re-state the relevant Private Finance Initiative (PFI)
contractual documentation in respect of the Birkenhead University Academy
occupying the current Park High School is a risk in respect of the turnaround
required. This problematic situation also applies to other PFI schools moving to
Academy status.
4.3 Every effort is being taken to ensure negotiations regarding the Merseyside
Connexions contract do not result in disruptions to continuity in service provision.

5.0

RECOMMENDATIONS
That Wirral Children’s Trust Board note the report.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Nancy Clarkson
Head of Planning and Performance,
Children’s Services Department
Telephone: (0151 6664329)
Email: nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Performance Indicator Summary

Page 215

5

Appendix 1: Performance Indicator Summary (Report Date 25/01/2011)

Direction of Travel Summary
% PIs
No. of PIs
Improved by more than 2.5% on previous year's
48.00%
12
performance
Deteriorated by more than 2.5% on previous year's
28.00%
7
performance
16.00%
4 Stayed within +/-2.5% of previous year's performance
8.00%
2 Awaiting Data
100.00%

25

Target Summary
% PIs
No. of PIs
36.00%
9
8.00%
2
32.00%
8
16.00%
4
8.00%
2
100.00%

PI No.

25

(Note: percentages rounded to 2 decimal places)

Green (within +10/-5% of the target)
Amber (missed target by between 5% and 10%)
Red (missed target by more than 10%)
Over-performing (more than 10% of the target)
Awaiting Data
(Note: percentages rounded to 2 decimal places)

Quarter 3
Target

Title

Quarter 3
Actual

On Target

Direction of
Travel

NI
43

Young people within the YJS receiving a
conviction in court who are sentenced to
custody

5%

Data released by the Youth Justice
Board not yet available.

NI
45

Young offender's engagement in suitable
education, training and employment.

90%

Data released by the Youth Justice
Board not yet available.

NI
51

Effectiveness of child and adolescent mental
health (CAMHS) services

16

16

Green

NI
53

Prevalence of breast-feeding at 6-8 wks from
birth

35.1%

31.3%
(A)

Red

NI
59

Percentage of initial assessments for
children's social care carried out within 7
working days of referral.

76%

66.6%
(A)

Red

NI
60

Percentage of core assessments for children's
social care that were carried out within 35
80%
working days of their commencement

66.6%
(A)

Red

NI
61

Timeliness of placements of looked after
children for adoption following an agency
decision that the child should be placed for
adoption

66.7%
(A)

Red

NI
62

9.0%
Stability of placements of looked after children:
(Lower is
number of placements
Better)

9.7%
(A)

Amber

80%

Page 216

6

PI No.

Quarter 3
Target

Title

Quarter 3
Actual

On Target

NI
63

Stability of placements of looked after children:
72%
length of placement

61.7%
(A)

Red

NI
64

4.0%
Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years or more (Lower is
Better)

2.3%
(A)

Over
Performing

NI
65

Percentage of children becoming the subject
of Child Protection Plan for a second or
subsequent time.

14%
(Lower is
Better)

17.5%
(A)

Red

NI
66

Looked after children cases which were
reviewed within required timescales.

100%

90.5%
(A)

Amber

NI
67

Percentage of child protection cases which
were reviewed within required timescales

100%

98.8%
(A)

Green

NI
68

Percentage of referrals to children's social
care going on to initial assessment

75%

94.1%
(P)

Over
Performing

NI
71

Children who have run away from home or
care

15

15
(A)

Green

NI
73

Achievement at level 4 or above in both
English and Maths at Key Stage 2

78%

75%
(A)

Green

NI
93

Progression by 2 levels in English between
Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2

87%

86%
(A)

Green

NI
94

Progression by 2 levels in Maths between Key
82%
Stage 1 and Key Stage 2

85%
(A)

Green

NI
103a

Percentage of final SEN statements issued
within 26 weeks (Excluding exceptions).

95%

97.3%
(A)

Green

NI
103b

Percentage of final SEN statements issued
within 26 weeks (Including exceptions)

94%

95.8%
(A)

Green

NI
113

24.7%
Prevalence of Chlamydia in under 25 year olds (Lower is
Better)

18.0%
(E)

Over
Performing

NI
117

16 to 18 year olds who are not in education,
employment or training (NEET)

6.9%
(Lower is
Better)

8.2%
(P)

Red

LOCAL
Number of looked after children
1400

565
(Lower is
Better)

668
(A)

Red

LOCAL Number of reported incidents of anti-social
1701
behaviour

10461.75
(Lower is
Better)

10063
(A)

Green

LOCAL
Reduce the level of vehicle nuisance
1702

964
(Lower is
Better)

830.00
(A)

Over
Performing

Page 217

Direction of
Travel

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 218

Agenda Item 12
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – MARCH 2011
LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT 2010/11 - QUARTER 3

1.0 Background
Wirral’s Local Area Agreement (LAA) is monitored by the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP).
Wirral Children’s Trust represents the Children’s Block of the LSP and is responsible for the
delivery of LAA targets related to children and young people. Quarterly reports related to the
LAA targets are presented to the Board for scrutiny. This report provides an update on
progress towards targets, in addition information is provided to supply context to the
indicators and to highlight any issues with reporting.

2.0 Reporting at Quarter 3
The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government wrote to Councils on 13
October 2010 to inform them that under section 109 of the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health act 2007, all designations of local improvement targets in the Local
Area Agreement have been revoked with immediate effect. In addition, as part of the budget
deficit reduction there will be no payments made for Performance Reward Grants against the
2008-11 LAA targets. As a result of these national changes the Council is now reviewing the
indicators in the LAA and the targets set.
At quarter 3 there is limited data available and all of the Key Stage data is still provisional.
For reporting purposes the LAA indicators can be separated into three groups:
1. Former reward indicators
2. Attainment indicators
3. Local indicators

3.0 Reporting
Former Reward Indicators
PI
No.
NI
68

Title
Percentage of referrals to children's social
care going on to initial assessment

Yr End Yr End Quarter Quarter
Direction
On Target
Target Forecast 3 Target 3 Actual
of Travel
75%

6.9%
NI 16 to 18 year olds who are not in (Lower
is
117 education, employment or training (NEET)
Better)

90%

75%

94.1%
Over
(P)
Performing

8.0%

6.9%

8.2%
(P)

Red

For NI 68 significant improved performance in 2009/10 has been maintained in quarter 3.
Current trajectory analysis indicates that the year end target will be exceeded. For NI 117
although there has been sustained improvement the current economic climate impacts
heavily on this indicator. Continuing intervention work is underway and the direction of travel
is improving however economic uncertainty makes achieving the 2010/11 target unlikely. A
revised forecast of 8% has been set.
1 219
Page

Former reward indicators with no data at quarter 3
PI
No.

Title

08/2009
Actual

09/2010
Actual

2010/2011
Actual

2010/2011
Target

NI
55

Obesity in primary school age children in
Reception (lower is better)

9.57%

9.30%

9.50%

NI
111

First time entrants into the YJS aged 10 –
17 (lower is better)

1578

N/A

1500

NI
112

Percentage reduction in the under 18
conception rate

-6.3%

-21%

-39%

NI 55 is determined by an annual measurement programme. Wirral did achieve the 2010/11
target in 2009/10 however the expectation is for obesity to increase and the target set is to
reduce this increase.
Data from the Youth Justice Board for NI 111 is not yet available. The impact of partnership
intervention programmes particularly police involvement in restorative justice indicates that
improvement on the 2008/09 figure will be possible.
For NI 112 although significant improvement was achieved in 2009/10 and intervention
programmes are in place the 2010/11 year end target remains extremely challenging.
Provisional attainment indicators for 2009/10 academic year (2010/11 Financial Year)
Yr End Yr End
Target Forecast

Quarter Quarter
Direction
On Target
3
3
of Travel
Target Actual

PI
No.

Title

NI
72

Achievement of at least 78 points across the
Early Years Foundation Stage with at least 6
in each of the scales in Personal Social and
Emotional Development and Communication,
Language and Literacy

57%

58%

57%

58%
(A)

Green

NI
73

Achievement at level 4 or above in both
English and Maths at Key Stage 2

78%

75%

78%

75%
(A)

Green

NI
75

Achievement of 5 or more A*- C grades at
GCSE or equivalent including English and 57.0%
Maths

57.4%

57.0%

58.7%
(A)

Green

NI
92

28.6%
Narrowing the gap between the lowest
(Lower
achieving 20% in the Early Years Foundation
is
Stage Profile and the rest
Better)

27.9%

28.6%

27.6%
(A)

Green

NI
93

Progression by 2 levels in English between
Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2

87%

85%

87%

86%
(A)

Green

NI
94

Progression by 2 levels in Maths between
Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2

82%

84%

82%

85%
(A)

Green

NI
99

Looked after children reaching level 4 in
53.1%
English at Key Stage 2

51.9%

53.1%

51.9%
(P)

Green

NI Looked after children reaching level 4 in
56.3%
100 maths at Key Stage 2

55.6%

56.3%

55.6%
(P)

Green

Looked after children achieving 5 A*-C
NI
GCSEs (or equivalent) at Key Stage 4 6.3%
101
(including English and maths)

7.4%

6.3%

7.4%
(P)

Over
Performing

Page 2220

n/a

Attainment data for 2009/10 academic year is reported in the 2010/11 financial year.
Provisional data for attainment indicators shows that although challenging DFE set targets
have not been achieved for every indicator, the direction of travel is positive. Small numbers
and cohort mobility of looked after children affect the indicators NI 99, 100 and 101.

Attainment indicators with no data at quarter 3
PI
No.
NI
87

09/2010
Actual

Title
Secondary school persistent absence rate

2010/2011
Actual

2010/2011
Target

4.5%

5.5%

Local Indicators
PI No.

Yr End Yr End Quarter 3 Quarter On Direction
Target Forecast Target 3 Actual Target of Travel

Title

565
(Lower
is
Better)

LOCAL
Number of looked after children
1400

655

565

13949
LOCAL Number of reported incidents of anti-social (Lower
13417.33 10461.75
1701
behaviour
is
Better)

668
(P)

Red

10063
(A)

Green

Nationally the numbers of looked after children are increasing. Current trajectory indicates
that the 2010/11 target for local indicator 1400 will not be met.
For local indicator 1701 the quarter 3 target was met. Although budget cuts and proposed
government policy changes will impact on this indicator the current trajectory suggests that
the year end target should be met.

Local Indicators with no data at quarter 3
PI No.
LOCAL Participation
1700a Participation

09/2010
Actual

Title
in

and

outcomes

from

youth

work:

18%

2010/2011
Actual

2010/2011
Target
22%

In 2009/10 significant changes in the Youth Service including a restructure impacted on
participation and the year end figure did not achieve the target set. Although the new youth
hub structure is now in place, reduced budget proposals including 2010/11 in-year cuts to
youth grants will impact significantly on this indicator.
Data source: PIMS Report, 2 February 2011

3 221
Page

4.0 Additional Detail of Reward Indicators
Further detail regarding reward indicators that have data at quarter 3 and indicators that are
red or amber are included in appendix 1.

5.0 Recommendations:
That Wirral Children’s Trust Board note the report.

Report Author:
Simon Douglas
PO Performance and Assessment

Contact:
Phone: 666 4412
Email: simondouglas@wirral.gov.uk

Appendices:
Appendix 1 Local Area Agreement 2010/11 Quarter 3 Position

Page 4222

Quarter 3: October - December

2010/11

Appendix 1

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report

Page 223

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

90.7

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

2005/06

75

94.1

75

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10
72.0
74.7
67.4
64.3

2009/10

2010/11
75.0

2010/11

England

2008/09
71.0
64.3
60.9
64.0
Wirral Actual

2007/08
66.0
63.1
59.4

-

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2006/07
40.5
64.1
56.0

Target

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2005/06
42.4
62.4
52.7

Target

Quarter 2

Actual

-

Improvement Direction:
Up
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2010/11 - NI 68: Referrals to Initial Assessment

90.4

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

10

20

30

75

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2010/11 - NI 68: Referrals to Initial Assessment

Howard Cooper
Children's Social Care
Children and Young People's Department

NI 68: Referrals to Initial Assessment

Safely Reducing the Number of Children Looked After

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 224

Context

0

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

0

02/02/11

Green

Green

Green

RAG
Green

Position Statement
Quarter One

There has been an improved understanding of the threshold for referrals going on to assessment across the multi-agency partnership.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

8.2

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

2005/06

6.9

8.2

6.9

2006/07

Target

Target

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
6.9

2010/11

England

2009/10
7.1
8.9
8.1
6.4
Wirral Actual

2008/09
7.4
9.1
8.7
6.7

-

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
9.5
8.6
6.7

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2006/07
10.0
8.9
7.7

Quarter 2

Actual

-

Improvement Direction:
Up
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2010/11 - NI 117: Percentage NEET

8.9

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

2005/06
9.7
9.5
10.9

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

1

6.9

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2010/11 - NI 117: Percentage NEET

Sheila Lynch
Connexions
Children and Young People's Department

NI 117: Percentage NEET

Reduction in the numbers of NEETs

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 225

Context

Red

RAG

Red

Red

0

Quarter Four

02/02/11

Red

There are a number of innovative programmes being commissioned via European Social Funds which focus specifically on the differing needs of the NEET cohort in order to
provide an enhanced bespoke, targeted offer. The 14-19 Strategic Partnership with providers is ensuring that 'offer' in Wirral is flexible in its responses. Analysis of the NEET group
has also taken place to inform targeted intervention across the partnership. There is an ongoing trend in the reduction of this indicator year on year, but there are many challenges
ahead to achieving the target of 6.9% therefore a revised year end forecast of 8% has been set.

Quarter Three

There is targeting of intervention and support via the NEET TIGER Team and Connexions tracking. Discussions are taking place within the 14-19 Strategic Partnership and with
providers to ensure that 'offer' in Wirral is flexible in its responses. Forensic analysis of the NEET group is taking place to inform targeted intervention across the partnership.

Quarter Two

A range of initiatives through the Tiger Group are on going. Connexions and Jobcentre Plus advisers are working together to support 18 year olds into an opportunity that best
meets their needs.

Quarter One

Position Statement

There are a number of innovative programmes being commissioned via European Social Funds which focus specifically on the differing needs of the NEET cohort in order to
provide an enhanced bespoke, targeted offer. The 14-19 Strategic Partnership with providers is ensuring that 'offer' in Wirral is flexible in its responses. Analysis of the NEET group
has also taken place to inform targeted intervention across the partnership. There is an ongoing trend in the reduction of this indicator year on year, but there are many challenges
ahead to achieving the target of 6.9% therefore a revised year end forecast of 8% has been set.

300

400

500

600

700

800

644

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

2005/06

565

668

565

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10
590.0
629.0
-

2009/10

2010/11
565.0

2010/11

England

2008/09
590.0
626.0
Wirral Actual

2007/08
607.0
-

-

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2006/07
681.0
-

Target

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2005/06
685.0
-

Target

Quarter 2

Actual

-

Improvement Direction: Down
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2010/11 - Local 1400: Number of LAC

647

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

100

200

565

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2010/11 - Local 1400: Number of LAC

Julia Hassall
Children's Social Care
Children and Young People's Department

Local 1400: Number of LAC

Safely Reducing the Number of Children Looked After

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 226

Context

Red

RAG

Red

Red

0

Quarter Four

02/02/11

Red

A thorough profiling of the Looked After Children population is taking place to enable more targeted interventions. A number of strategies, underpinned by the new Fieldwork
structure, are available to ensure that children’s plans do not drift, and that more children achieve permanence through Adoption, Special Guardianship or by returning home.
Each District Team is tightly overseeing the plans for children to safely leave care; this is monitored by Senior Managers, and plans to overcome barriers to achieving this outcome
are in place. The refreshed Looked After Children Review project submitted to the strategic change program will also impact on this indicator.

Quarter Three

A thorough profiling of the Looked After Children population is to take place to enable more targeted interventions. The refreshed Looked After Children Review project submitted
to the strategic change program will also impact on this indicator.

Quarter Two

Specific action to reduce the trajectory includes focused preventative activity; specifically multi-systemic therapy, increased family group conferencing capacity and refocusing the
work of the Adolescent Crisis Team. The focus on improving permanence planning for children who cannot return home is strengthened by the recruitment to new management
posts in the revised Social Care Branch structure.

Quarter One

Position Statement

A thorough profiling of the Looked After Children population is taking place to enable more targeted interventions. A number of strategies, underpinned by the new Fieldwork
structure, are available to ensure that children’s plans do not drift, and that more children achieve permanence through Adoption, Special Guardianship or by returning home.
Each District Team is tightly overseeing the plans for children to safely leave care; this is monitored by Senior Managers, and plans to overcome barriers to achieving this outcome
are in place. The refreshed Looked After Children Review project submitted to the strategic change program will also impact on this indicator.

0.0

5000.0

10000.0

15000.0

20000.0

25000.0

2005/06

Target

10461.75

-

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
13949.0

2010/11

England

2009/10
17558.0
14125.0
Wirral Actual

2008/09
17917.0
15524.0
-

-

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
21152.0
18414.0
-

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2006/07
21994.0
-

Quarter 2

Actual

2005/06
-

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

10063

Improvement Direction:
Up
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2010/11 - Local 1701: Number of reported incidents of anti-social
behaviour

6974.5

7259

4122

3487.25

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2010/11 - Local 1701: Number of reported incid

Steve McGilvray
Safer Communities
Children and Young People's Department

Local 1701: Number of reported incidents of anti-social behaviour

Number of reported incidents of anti-social behaviour

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 227

Context

0

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

02/02/11

Green

Green

Green

In addition to normal governance and monitoring processes (as set out in the Community Safety Partnership’s ASB Strategy 2009-2012), a weekly Police Governance Meeting is
taking place, attended by the Council's ASB Manager, to review hot-spots of ASB and deploy resources accordingly. Officers within the ASB Team have also commenced ad hoc
evening enforcement patrols in hot-spot locations (which is being done on a purely voluntary basis as the team has no spare capacity to off set this time from normal working
hours.)

RAG
Green

Position Statement
Quarter One

Performance against this indicator is better than for the same period in 2009/10 (4129.00 cumulative incidents) however the target is challenging when set against already
significant reductions in incidents of anti-social behaviour (ASB). This is further complicated by a sustained period of warm dry weather.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 228

Agenda Item 13
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 18th MARCH 2011
Suggested response to Health White Paper

1.

Background

1.1

The launch of the NHS White Paper Equity and Excellence: Liberating
the NHS issued in July 2010 signalled major changes for public health.
These changes are set out in more detail in the Public Health White
Paper, “Healthy Lives, Healthy People” published on the 30th of
November 2010. The consultation period for the Public Health White
Paper has been extended to the 31st of March 2011. This date
coincides with the end of the consultation period for related documents,
i.e. “Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Transparency in outcomes”
(outlining the proposals for a public health outcomes framework); and
“Healthy Lives, Healthy People: consultation on the funding and
commissioning route for public health”.

1.2

The Public Health White Paper contains a number of consultation
questions and response to these is given below.

2.

Recommendations
1) That the Board endorse the response.

Report Author:
Fiona Johnstone
Joint Director of Public Health
Fiona.Johnstone@wirral.nhs.uk

Page 229

Appendix B: Suggested response to the White Paper
1. Introduction and context
The launch of the NHS White Paper Equity and Excellence: Liberating the
NHS issued in July 2010 signalled major changes for public health. These
changes are set out in more detail in the Public Health White Paper, “Healthy
Lives, Healthy People” published on the 30th of November 2010. The
consultation period for the Public Health White Paper has been extended to
the 31st of March 2011. This date coincides with the end of the consultation
period for related documents, i.e. “Healthy Lives, Healthy People:
Transparency in outcomes” (outlining the proposals for a public health
outcomes framework); and “Healthy Lives, Healthy People: consultation on
the funding and commissioning route for public health”.
2. Summary of the White Paper
The Government has expressed a commitment to achieve a high standard in
public health. At the centre of this commitment is the Health and Social Care
Bill which was presented to Parliament on the 19th of January 2011. The Bill
describes a reformed public health service, embedded within a system of local
democratic accountability, working alongside a newly formed body called
“Public Health England”.
There are many welcome assertions contained within the White Paper,
particularly:
•
•

•
•
•

•

the recognition that health is determined by wider social influences
which have an impact throughout the ‘life course’
the commitment of the Government to improving the health and
wellbeing of the population, to protect the population from serious
threats to their health and the emphasise on improving the health of
the poorest at the fastest rate
local government becoming the responsible body for the health and
wellbeing of their local population
the creation of Health and Wellbeing Boards to ensure all partners are
delivering their organisation’s contribution to health and wellbeing
the creation of Public Health England (PHE) to bring together the
health protection functions of the Health Protection Agency, the
National Treatment Agency and other arms length bodies
that there is to be a Director of Public Health for each top tier local
authority – accountable to their local authority and to Public Health
England

3. Response to the Consultation
The Public Health White Paper contains a number of consultation questions
and our response to these is given below.

Page 230

Question 1: Are there additional ways in which we can ensure that GPs
and GP practices will continue to play a key role in areas for which
Public Health England will take responsibility?
GPs have a particular responsibility for the needs of their registered
population. Strong working relationships between the local public health
system and GP Consortia will be crucial to addressing these population needs
and may be achieved by:
•
•
•

•

•

Providing incentives for GP practices who promote primary prevention
and who actively seek patients who are most at risk of poor health
Investing resource to achieve wellbeing outcomes that are equally
shared and delivered by the NHS and the local public health system
Supporting GP commissioners with public health data and intelligence
accessible at practice, neighbourhood and super-output area level –
for both health needs and healthcare.
Directors of Public Health collaborating with GP Consortia to ensure
that local commissioning plans, primary care strategies, specific needs
assessments, care pathway redesign, etc are consistent with local
health and wellbeing priorities as identified in the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA)
Directors of Public Health working in partnership with GP Consortia to
develop forms of community-oriented primary care appropriate to
under-served communities with poor health outcomes

Question 2: What are the best opportunities to develop and enhance the
availability, accessibility and utility of public health information and
intelligence?
We need to measure and so address what is important to the population we
serve, taking account of existing resources, capacity and assets within the
population. At the core of the new local public service will be the need for
more efficient and effective use of evidence and evaluation.
•

•

•

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) needs to be driven by
the various functions of local government in order to give a more
comprehensive picture of the local community. The JSNA must
augment the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the annual report of
the Director of Public Health
Evidence needs to focus upon what is effective and what is cost
effective, drawing on nationally disseminated best practice as well as
local insight. The current (often disparate) body of evidence around
the impact of early intervention (e.g. from specific pilots, models and
evaluations) should be reviewed, extended and applied to the new
system – we need to avoid starting from square one
Wherever possible, evidence should include principles of coproduction, that is, the population as partners in evidence generation
and application. This requires clear public accessibility and
understanding of information collected

Page 231

•
•

•

A relevant level of transparent evaluation for programmes and services
should be built in at the outset
Surveillance and monitoring of environmental hazards, risk factors and
communicable and non-communicable diseases needs to be included
in the assessment of need
Health impact assessments and health equity audits are essential
components of any health and wellbeing strategy.

The establishment of the local Public Health Service provides the opportunity
to effectively collate, appraise, present and disseminate local intelligence,
evidence and data to support the development of local networks to improve
the efficient use of skills and resources. It also allows the interpretation and
application of evidence from elsewhere to the local context.
Question 3: How can Public Health England address current gaps such
as using the insights of behavioural science, tackling wider
determinants of health, achieving cost effectiveness, and tackling
inequalities?
We support the creation of a new National Institute for Health Research
(NIHR) and the School for Public Health Research and a Policy Research Unit
of Behaviour and Health recently announced by the Minister for Public Health.
In the recent past, Wirral has benefited from the evidence based support tools
and effective approaches used by the National Support Team on health
inequalities and the lessons learnt from the assistance offered by the NST
should be maintained
It would be beneficial to understand how Public Health England and Local
Government will share responsibility for defining and monitoring public health
outcomes and over what timescale will the successes of the local public
health service be measured?
Question 4: What can wider partners nationally and locally contribute to
improving the use of evidence in public health?
We would wish to see effective networks and dissemination of the evidence
base for public health from all partners. We would support the need for
consistent and continued investment to build a strong evidence-base for
public health. This requires building in of evaluative research for all new
innovative interventions. The evidence-base should be able to capture local
innovation, research and evaluation.

Question 5: We would welcome views on Dr Gabriel Scally’s report. If
we were to pursue voluntary registration, which organisation would be
best suited to provide a system of voluntary regulation for public health
specialists?

Page 232

We welcome the intention of the Government to build on the achievements
and skills of the current public health workforce. Maintaining a well trained
public health workforce will be critical to the success of the public health
system. We understand that there are divergent views in the public health
community as how best this should be delivered. In principle, we believe that
standards and processes for regulation must be made consistent across all
registering bodies.
Cross cutting issues
Additionally we would wish to comment on a number of issues not directly
addressed in the consultation questions.
We believe the success of the proposed reforms for public health will be
dependent to a large extent on the clarity of guidance provided on the division
of functions between Local Government, Public Health England, the NHS
Commissioning Board and the GP Commissioning Consortia.
We are concerned that the commissioning of the health visitor services are
not being devolved to local public health services sooner. The Health Visitor
service is a local service and is pivotal for the management of services for
children and families in accordance with the life-course approach described
by the White Paper.
A key concern with the fragmentation of public health funding and about what
level of funding will ultimately be with local authorities especially if local
authorities are held to account for some of the public health indicators
proposed in the public health outcomes paper.
It will be beneficial to understand how the inequality premium will be allocated
and whether there is any intention to ring-fence any aspect of it.
The division of commissioning responsibility may inadvertently allow public
health and general practice commissioning consortiums to commission the
appropriate services but in an inconsistent manner. For example splitting the
commissioning of the Healthy Child Programme between the NHS
Commissioning Board (0 to 5 years) and the local authority (5-19 years) may
generate some risks concerning the provision of the correct service in the
correct place at the correct time. This may also have implications for children
who are looked after and our safeguarding procedures.
Council would welcome further clarity regarding the development of
‘Healthwatch’ and its relationship with the overview and scrutiny functions of
the within the Council.

Page 233

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 234

